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Our Company

One of the UK's leading support
services, Public Private Partnership
project and construction companies

Our mission
Making tomorrow a better place

Qur vision

To be the leader in delivering
Integrated solutions for infrastructure,
builldings and services

Qur values

> Qpenness

> Collaboration

> Mutual dependency

> Professional delvery

> Sustainable, profitable growth
> Innovation

OQur strategy I1s to deliver sustainable,
profitable growth through

> growing support services and
Public Private Partnership projects
organically and by acquisition

> developing and marketing integrated
solutions tailored to the needs of
customers, including project finance,
design and construction, maintenance
and lifetime asset management

> maintaining a strong and selective
construction capability focused on
higher added-value contracts for
long-term customers




Financial and strategic highlights

+12% increase in Directors’ valuation of equity in
finanaally closed Public Pnivate Partnership projects

{1) Continuing operatkny

{2) Continuing operations before intangible amortsation imparment
testructunng costs and non-operating rtems

(3) Before Group eliminatians, unallocated items and Joint Venture
net financial expense and taxaticn

Support services Public Private Partnershtp projects

% 4%
+26% -4%
increase tn underlying operating profit® decrease in underlying operating profit®
In this segment we report the results of our faciliies In this segment we report the equity returns on our
management, facilities services, rail, road matntenance investments in Public Private Partnership projects in our
and consuftancy businesses chosen sectors of Defence, Health, Education, Transport,

Secure and other Government accommodation

Revenue!” Revenue!"
2007 2006 2007 2006
Em £m im £m
Group 1,569 4 13148 Group 09 13
Share of Share of
Joint Ventures 224 2 1439 Joint Ventures 153 2 146 7
Total 1,793 6 +23% 14587 Total 1541 +4% 1480
Underying operating profit® Underlying operating profit®
2007 2006 2007 2006
fm im im £m
Group 624 515 Group 07 71
Share of Share of
Joint Ventures 115 73 Jount Ventures 247 194
Total 739426% 588 Total 254 4% 265
Reported operating profit"” Reported operating profit™
2007 2006 1007 2006
£m fm £m £m
Group 480 336 Group {12) 65
Share of Share of
Jont Ventures 115 73 Joint Ventures 247 194

Total 595+45% 409 Total 235-9% 259




+24% increase in underlying profit
from operations Ravenue™

Undertymng profit'™® Reported profit”
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m fm Em £m £m £m
Group 33307 2,983 9 850 700 645 46 4
Share of Joint Ventures 6210 5285 55 7 47 7 55 7 477
Total revenue and operating profit 39517 +13% 35124 1407 177 1202 941
Group elminations and unallocated items {20 6) (20 3) {35 B) (36 5}
Profit from operations before Joint Ventures
net financial expense and taxation 1201 97 4 844 576
Share of Joint Ventures net financial expense 99) (80 {99) B0
Share of Joint Ventures taxation {90) 8 n {9 0} 8 1)
Profit from operations 101 2 +24% 813 655 +58% 415

Middle East construction services

increase in underlying operating profit®

In this segment, we report the results of our bullding
and cwvil engineering activities in the Middle East

Construction services (excluding the Middle East)
x 14%

+83% -14%

decrease in underlying operating profit®

In this segment, we report the results of our UK building,
cwil engineening and developments businesses and of

our construction activities in Canada and the Canbbean

Revenue'”
2007 2006
£m £m
Group 1000 42 3
Share of
Joint Ventures 237 0 2264
Total 3370 +25% 2687

Underlying operating profit®

2007 2006
£m £m

Group 96 13

Share of

Joint Ventures 158 126

Total 254 +83% 139

Reported operating profit™

2007 2006
£m £m

Group 96 13

Share of

Joint Ventures 158 126

Total 254 4+83% 139

Revenue™
2007 2006
£m £m
Group 1.6604 16255
Share of
Joint Ventures 66 115
Total 1,667042% 16370

Underlying operating profit®

2007 2006

£m £m

Group 123 101
Share of

Joint Ventures 37 84

Total 16 0-14% 185

Reported operating profit™

2007 2006
£m £m

Group g1 50

Share of

Joint Ventures 37 84

Total 118-12% 134
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2007 highlights

Financial and strategic highlights

Total revenue®™
2006 £35bn

£4.0bn

+13%

Undenrlying profit
before tax®
2006 £82 6m

£101.8m

+23%

Underlying earnings
per share®
2006 237p

28.9p

+22%

Reported profit
before tax™
2006 £68 1m

£94.4m

+39%

Reported earnings
per share®
2006 21 6p

271p

+25%

Total dividend
2006 9 Op

11.0p

+22%

Order book
2006 £160bn

£16.0bn

™ Continuing operations
@ Contunuing operabons before
intangible amortsation

Impairment. restructusing ¢osts

and non-operating nems
 Contnuing and discontnued
operanons.

> Successful integration
of Mowlem earlier
than expected -
integration savings of
at least £26m per year
achteved, 73% above
original expectation

> Strong growth in
support services —
revenue up 23%

> Construction margins
Improving - total
underlying construction
margin upto 2 1%
(2006 1 7%)2

> £16 0bn order book
{2006 £16 Obn) —
pipeline of probable
orders increased to
£3 6bn {2006 £1 6bn)

> Opportunities to
substantially increase
Middle East revenue,
from the 2007 level
of £337m to more
than £600m, over
the next two years

> Alfred McAlpine
acquisition completed
In February 2008 -
integration underway

> Overall outlook n
main markets remains
positive - support
services, Public Private
Partnership projects
and Middle East
activities now
represent 89% of the
Group's underlying
operating profit
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Section 02

What we do

o4 Revenue by market sector and
financial reporting segment

o6 Market sectors

Toedholm School Renfrewshire one

of 10 hursery primary and secondary
schools being provided for Renfrewshire
Council through a Canllion Pubhc
Private Partnership project
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37

growth n total revenue during
the year to £4 0 billion
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What we do
Revenue by market sector and
financial reporting segment

Carllion employs some 50,000 people
and operates in nine principal market
sectors In the UK and also in the Middle
East and In Canada and the Canbbean

We report the financial results of

our activities In these sectors in four
segments, In which activities of a
simiar type and nisk profile are reported
together to make It easier to value the
Group’s earnings on a consistent basis

> Support services — faciities
management and services, rail
services and road maintenance

> Public Private Partnership projects -
equity returns on our Investments
in Public Private Partnership projects

> Middle East construction services —
bullding and civil engineering
activities in this region

> Construction services {excluding
the Middle East) — buillding and
civil engineering activities in the UK
and in Canada and the Caribbean

£ 4.0billion

13% Increase In total revenue
during the year




What we do
Market sectors

Canlhon’s principal market sectors together
with their 2007 revenues in the UK,
Middle East and Canada and the
Carbbean are described in more detail

on the following pages

The overall gutlook across these market sectors Is positive

In our UK and internaticnal support services sectors we continue
to target revenue growth at stable margins of between four and
five per cent

In Private Finance, we continue to use the strong positions we
have established in our chosen sectors in both the UK and Canada
to win and deliver Public Private Partnership projects in which

our equity Investments create significant value for the Group

In the Middle East, we are focused on revenue growth and expect
10 Increase the revenue we generate In this region from the 2607
level of £337 million to over £600 million over the next two years,
at margins of some six per cent

In our UK construction sectors we are focused on improving
margins by maintaining a selective approach to the projects
we undertake

In Canada and the Caribbean, we expect to deliver heatthy growth
IN our construction services sectors at stablte margins

Overall, we expect to improve the combined margins of our
construction activities in the UK, Canada and the Canbbean and
the Middle East towards three per cent over the next three years
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2007 revenue

£458m

Defence

In this sector we provide project finance, design,
construction, maintenance, facilites management and
consultancy services, together with integrated service
solutions, which combine cur wide range of skills and
resources, to meet the specfic needs of cur Ministry
of Defence customers

In 2007, the revenue we generated from the Defence sector
increased by 97 per cent 1o £458 mullion (2006 £232 million),
as we benefited from full-year contributions from a number
of Joint Venture contracts that were mobilised in 2006 These
include two Public Private Partnership projects — the £12 billion
Allenby Connaught project and the £0 9 billlon Permanent
Joint Headquarters project - that are expected to generate in
the region of £10 billion of revenue for Canllion over the next
35 years, and two support services contracts — the Housing
Pnime and Regional Prime Central contracts, together worth
In excess of £600 million to Canllion over seven years

The outlook in this sector s for further growth In 2007,
Canllion was awarded £100 million of construction work

N association with our Regional Prme Central contract

The £280 millon Royal School of Military Engineening project,
for which Canllion 15 the preferred bidder, 1s expected to
reach financial close n 2008 In addrtion, potential extensions
to our Housing Prime and Regional Prime Central contracts,
together with further major expenditure by the Mirustry of
Defence on upgrading military accommodation across our
other projects, could increase contract revenues by up to a
further £650 million




2007 revenue

£93m

Education

In this sector we provide project finance, design,
construction, maintenance, faclries management and
consultancy services, together with integrated service
solutions, which combine our wide range of skills and
resources, to meet the speafic needs of our Local
Authority, University and private sector customers

In 2007, we generated £93 million of revenue from the
Education sector (2006 £162 millran), with the reduction
due to the timing of construction contract starts and
completions However, we reached financial close on

two new contracts in 2007 - the £76 millon South
Ayrshire Schools Public Private Partnership project and

the £175 million South Tyneside and Gateshead project,
which 1s part of the UK Government’s Bullding Schools for
the Future (BSF) programme We also won other new
contracts during 2007 for schools, colleges and unwersities
worth around £60 mtllion

Going forward, we expect the BSF programme, in which
some £45 billien has still to be invested, to be a major driver
of growth Duning 2007, Canlion was shorthsted for three
further BSF projects — Nottingham, Tameside and Durham —
together worth in the region of £850 million Since the year
end, Carlllon has been appointed as the preferred bidder
for the £208 million Nottingham BSF project Following our
appointment as a framework contractor for the £1 6 billion
Academy Schools programme, Canllion has been shortiisted
to provide Academy Schools in Nallsea, Somerset, and East
Basildon, Essex, which we estimate would generate up to
£100 miflion of revenue With the UK Government also
planning to commence a £10 billion investment programme
n primary schools in 2008, the outlook i this sector
continues to be posrive
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2007 revenue

£200m

Health

In this sector we provide project finance, design,
construction, maintenance, facilittes management and
consuttancy services, together with integrated service
solutions, which combine our wide range of skills and
resources, to meet the speafic needs of our NHS and
private sector customers

In 2007, we generated £200 millon of revenue from the
Health sector (2006 £229 millon) Overall, revenue from this
sector reduced, due to the timing of construction contract
starts and completions However, support services revenue
from this sector increased substantially as a resukt of full-year
contributions from non-clinical facilities management in three
of our Public Private Partnership hospitals — the John Radcliffe
Hosprtal, Oxford, Queen Alexandra Hospital, Portsmouth

and Lewisham Hospttal — and from our £330 million contract
to provide non-clnical facilties management for the Barts
and the London Hosprtal During 2007 we were awarded
our third Local Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) project for
Dudley Infracare worth approximately £27 milion

The outlook in this sector remans postive Carnllion 1s the
preferred bidder for two Independent Sector Treatment Centre
projects — Hertfordshire and North London - that are expected
to reach financial close in 2008 and generate some £300
million of revenue over the next five years We are also the
preferred bidder for a further five UFT projects worth around
£75 millon We continue to target selected projects in the
Government’s £7 bilhon mvestment programme for Public
Private Partnership hosprtals and Carillion 15 currently
shortlisted for one project, North Bristol, worth around

£300 million As a framework contractor appomted by

the Office of Government Commerce for public sector
outsourcing, we also expect further opportunities to provide
facilties management services for Pnmary Care Trusts




What we do
Market sectors
continued

2007 revenue

£83/m

Facilities management and services

We provide public and pnivate sector customers with a
wide range of facillities management and other support
services for buildings and infrastructure, from single
services such as mechanical and electncal engineening
mamtenance to fully integrated property lifecycle
solutions for major estates

We generated £837 million of revenue from this sector In
2007 (2006 £656 milion) This substantial organic growth
was due primarily to full-year contributions from major
new contracts won In the second half of 2006, including
a £110 mllion, five-year contract for Virgin Media and a
£360 million, three-year contract for Norwich Union to
manage nsurance clams

New order intake in 2007 remained healthy and we won

a number of new contracts for both private and public
sector customers Our appointment as an Office of
Government Commerce framework contractor for Local

and Central Government 1s a major market cpportunity

For example, in 2007 Carllion was awarded contracts by
Northamptonshire County Council and the Forensic Science
Service that are nially worth in excess of £60 million over
four years, with the potential for this to increase as the scope
of work develops under the terms of the framework contract

We ended the year with an unprecedented level of
opportunities for new orders that have since been
converted INto contracts worth around £0 9 billon in
the first two months of 2008 We expect to continue to
benefit from these positive market conditions and deliver
significant growth in this sector in 2008 and beyond
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2007 revenue

£280m

Rail

In this sector, we provide services for network
enhancements to Network Rail, the Channel Tunnel
Rail Link (CTRL), Passenger Transport Executives and
Transport for London, and also maintenance services
for the CTRL

We generated £280 milion of revenue from this sector in
2007 (2006 £368 million) As expected, the outlook In the
sector remained uncertain m 2007 and the overall decline in
rail nfrastructure investment experienced in 2006 continued
during the year

However, in view of the investment proposed by Network
Rail in its 2007 Business Plan and the benefits of having
restructured our rail business to reduce overheads and
focus on sustainable areas of the raill infrastructure sector,
we expect 10 achieve modest growth n this sector in 2008
The proposed nvestment over the next two years, the last
of the Office of Raill Regulation’s current five-year control
period, 1s expected to offer sufficient opportunities to more
than offset the effect of losing around £80 mullion of annual
revenue as a result of Canllion ceasing to provide track
renewal services to Network Rail from January 2008




2007 revenue

£276m

Roads

In this sector we provide road management and
maintenance services to the Highways Agency and
Local Highway Authorities, together with construction
services for new roads and improvement schemes,
primanly under the Government’s Early Contractor
Involvement (ECI} programme.

Revenue from this sector increased to £276 million n 2007
(2006 £224 million), largely due to increased actvity on ECI
construction contracts and increased expenditure on road
maintenance In 2007, Carilhion secured a 20-year extension
to 1ts contract for maintenance of the 123 kilometres of
the M40 between Junction 1, Denham, and Junction 15,
Warwack, worth in the region of £100 million and a
framework contract for the Midlands Highway Alliance,
which comprises ten Local Highway Authorities and the
Highways Agency, worth up to an estimated £16 million

a year to Carifion

Going forward we have a healthy pipeline of new prospects,
but we expect revenue from this sector to reduce slightly as
we continue to apply a selective approach to the projects for
which we bid, particularly in respect of new construction
where we will remain focused on ECI road contracts Carillion
continues to be an eguity partner in a consortium that has
been shorthsted for the £5 billon Design, Build, Finance and
Operate project for widening and maintaining the M25

Qur interests n this project lie in being an equity investor

and In providing road maintenance services over the Irfe

of the concession contract The Highways Agency Is expected
10 select a preferred bidder for this project during 2008
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2007 revenue

£837/m

Building

Our building activities in the UK are focused on
long-term key customers in selected sectors of the
non-housing new-build market, including arrport
developments, retail, offices, mixed used developments,
nuclear, prisons, industnal and urban regeneration

Revenue from UK buidlding in 2007 was £887 million

(2006 £848 milion) Trading conditions across our key sectors
of the UK non-housing new-build market remained positive
and we continued to focus on growing margins ahead of
revenue through a selective approach to the projects we
undertake New order intake 1n 2007 reflected this selectve
approach, with significant new contracts secured for key
customers across our target sectors These included a pre-
construction contract for BAA for the £300 mullion, second
satellite at Heathrow Terminal 5, a £90 milhon contract for the
first phase of the £2 billion King's Cross Central Regeneration
project, a £70 million contract for the new Rolls Building in
London, a £47 million contract for the Scottish Prison Service
and a £20 millon contract to provide new offices for the
Welsh Assembly In 2007, we were also appointed preferred
brdder for the £155 mifhon Lumiere Development in Leeds,
for which we were awarded the contract n March 2008

The outlook for the UK non-housing, new-build market
remains posttive, with real terms growth forecast over the
next three years We shall continue to adopt a selective
approach to the contracts we undertake in order to maintain
our focus on improving margins ahead of revenue




What we do
Market sectors
continued

2007 revenue

£239m

Civil engineering

We provide civil engineering services, including
integrated solutions, for customers in a wide range of
sectors, notably transport infrastructure, marine works,
coastal and nver defences, industnal developments,
water, wind energy, micro-tunnelling and piling

In 2007, we generated £239 miliion of revenue from our
ovil engineenng activities (2006 £241 millon) Revenue
remained broadly unchanged as we contmued to consolidate
our activities i this sector through applying strict selectivity
criteria to the projects undertaken by our cml engineering
business, which we acquired with Mowlem 1in 2006 The
process of consolidation 1s now complete and the business
15 moving forward following a number of notable successes
in 2007 These included new contracts for transport
nfrastructure projects including the Rugby Western Bypass
and Bedford Western Bypass, together worth around

£55 million, a £19 millon contract for London City Arrport
and an £11 million contract for Northumberland Water

We believe the outlook for our cvil engineenng business is
positive and we expect continuing opportunities for growth
mn 2008 in our chosen areas of this market, particularly
highways, the water sector, wind farms and rail cvil
engineenng
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2007 revenue

£154m

Public Private Partnership projects

Canllion has played a leading role in the development
of the UK Private Finance Initiative since its inception
in the early 1990s Today, we have strong positions in
our chosen sectors of the Private Finance and Public
Private Partnership projects market, namely Defence,
Heatth, Education, Transport, Prnisons and other
Government accommodation in the UK and the
Health sector in Canada

Our ability to win and deliver projects successfully, by
Integrating our skills and resources in project finance, design,
construction, maintenance and facilities management,
continues to create substantial value for the Group, through
the equity we invest m these projects and also from providing
construction, maintenance and facilities management services
over the Iife of concession contracts, typically 25 to 35 years

At 31 December 2007, we had a portfolio of 23 financially
closed projects, in which we had invested, or had
commitments 1o invest, £175 million of equity The Directors’
valuation of these investments at 31 December 2007 was
£266 nllion, based on discounting the cash flows from
these investments at an average of eight per cent, which
reflects the different discount rates applied 1o equity invested
In projects that are in operation and projects ihat are sult
under construction Carillion has also played a leading role

In establishing the value of equity investments in Public Private
Partnership projects through a number of equity sales, which
have helped to create a strong secondary market for these
Investments and demonstrate the significant value being
created for shareholders

The overall gutlook m our ¢chosen sectors of the Public Private
Partnership projects market 1s for continuing growth, both

n the UK and Canada, and we expect to continue to build

a portfolio of good quality investments
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2007 revenue

£34/7m

2007 revenue

£18bm

Middle East

Our well-established Joint Venture businesses in

the Middle East provide construction and facilities
management services for igh quality developments
in Dubai and Oman and in 2008 we will extend our
operations to Abu Dhabi and Egypt

In 2007, Carilion’s share of the revenues of these Joint
Venture businesses was £342 million (2006 £274 million},
which has more than doubled over the last three years (2005
£165 million) Over the next two years we expect a further
substantial ncrease in revenue to over £600 million, at
margins of around six per cent This strong growth reflects
both the high level of demand in our principal market sectors
and our robust business model in the region, in particular
the strong relationship we have with the Al Futtaim Group,

a key Joint Venture partner and customer

In 2007, Al Futtaim Canllion was appointed preferred bidder
for two major contracts — a £220 milion contract for the
first phase of the £2 bilklon Cairo Festival City project and a
£250 million contract for the nitial phase of the £10 bifhon
Al Raha Beach development in Abu Dhabs for Aldar, one of
the Emurates premier developers Al Futtaim Carillion also
signed a new framework agreement for the next phase of
Duban Festval City, worth around £3 5 billion over the

next six years

We are well positioned to build on our success in 2007 with
potential framework agreements for the remainder of Carro
Festval City, worth around £1 8 biflion, and for a second
major project for Aldar in Aby Dubai - the £250 million
Racetrack Hotel on Yas island — which 15 expected to start in
early 2008 We also expect opportunities to secure further
phases of the Al Raha Beach development n Abu Dhabr and
a number of major projects for established customners in
Dubai, mcluding Urion Properties, Emaar and Dubal

Canada and the Caribbean

In Canada we have market leading posittons in Pubhic
Private Partnership hospital projects and in road
maintenance. In the Canbbean we have well established
positions in building and cvil engineering

We generated revenue of £186 million from this region in
2007 (2006 £163 milion), with growth drven primanly by
Public Private Partnership projects and road maintenance in
Canada and general construction in the Caribbean In 2007,

a Carillion Joint Venture completed the new William Osler
Hosptal in Toronto, our second Pubhc Private Partnership
hosprtal in Canada, which moved successfully into the
operationa! phase, with Carlhon providing non-chnical facilities
management A Canllion Joint Venture also achieved financial
close on a third Public Private Partnership hospital in Canada,
the £200 million Sault Area Hosprtal, which is now under
construction In the Caribbean, we continued to make progress
in our construction and faciliies management markets

The outlook in our principal markets in this region is positive
In Canada, we are shorthsted for two more Public Private
Partnership hospitals, the Niagara and Woodstock hospitals in
Ontano, estimated to be worth up to £450 million of revenue,
and n which we would nvest up to £14 milhon of equity
With opportunities to bid for further Public Private Partnership
hosprtals and road maintenance contracts in Canada and to
build on the progress we have made in the Caribbean,

we expect continuing growth in 2008
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A Canllion Joint Venture s providing
new accommodation and other facilies
for the Brutish Army across the South of
England through a Public Private
Partnership project
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2%

growth 1n underlying earnings per share
during the year to 28 9 pence
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Our performance
Five years of growth




Qur performance
Chairman’s statement

2007 was another strong year for
Canllion The Group delivered record
profits and continued Its strategic
development to support sustainable,
profitable growth (n particular, the
successful integration of the Canllion
and Mowlem businesses has created
a stronger, more resilient business,
with enhanced positions in selected
growth markets

15 Canilion pk.
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Total revenue, including Jont Ventures, increased by 13 per cent
to nearly £4 bilhon (2006 £35 billion), primarily due to organic
growth in support services and Middle East construction services
together with a full twelve months revenue contrnbution from the
businesses acquired with Mowlem in February 2006

Underlying profit before tax from contimuing operations increased
by 23 per cent to £101 8 millen (2006 £82 6 million) and
underlying earnings per share from continuing operations on

the same basis rose by 22 per cent to 28 9 pence per share
(2006 23 7 pence)

Underlying cash flow from operations of £135 7 million

(2006 £99 1 million) comfortably exceeded underlying operating
profit Net borrowing at 31 December 2007 was £44 ¢ million
{2006 £108 0 millon) and average net borrowing in 2007

was £130 3 million (2006 £148 0 million post the acquisition

of Mowlem)

The Group has continued to develop the strong positions it holds
In a wide range of growth markets, winning new orders during
the year worth some £4 ¢ bilion At 31 December 2007 the Group’s
forward order book stood at £16 0 bilhion {2006 £16 0 billion)
and its pipeline of probable new orders had increased significantly
to £3 6 billion {2006 £1 & billion)

Given the strength of the Group's performance in 2007

and prospects for 2008 and the medium term, the Board i1s
recommending a final ordinary dvidend for 2007 of 7 5 pence
per share, making the total full-year dvidend for 2007 11 0 pence
per share, an increase of 22 per cent on the total paid in respect
of 2006 (9 0 pence) The final dvidend will be paid on

20 lune 2008 to shareholders on the register at close of business
on 25 Aprif 2008

As | announced in my 2006 report to shareholders, Chris Girling
retired from the Board in April 2007 and was succeeded as Group
Finance Director by Richard Adam who joined the Board from
Associated British Ports Holdings plc where he had been Group
Finance Director since 1999 In January 2008, we were defighted
to welcome David Hurcomb to the Board as an Executve Director
Dawvid joined Carillion in 2005 having held a number of senior
positions m our ndustry With extensive expenence of our key
market sectors, David will make a valuable contribution to
Carnillion’s development

The credrt for what Canllion has achieved 1s due to the
leadership of our management team and the commitment and
professionalism of our people On behalf of the Board | should
Iike to thank afl our employees for the contribution they have
made to Carnillion’s success in 2007

The acquisition of Alfred McAlpine in February 2008 has
further strengthened Carillion’s position as a leading support
services and integrated solutions business and the Board
expects the Group to make further strong progress in 2008
and deliver materially enhanced earnings in 2009

Phip @fﬁw

Philip Rogerson
Chairman
5 March 2008




Our performance
Group Chief Executive’s review

Carillion’s success continues to be based
on implementing our consistent and
successful strategy for sustainable,
profitable growth of

> growing support services and Public
Private Partnership (PPP) projects
organically and by acquisition

> developing and marketing integrated
solutions tailored to the needs of
customers, including project finance,
design and construction, maintenance
and lifetime asset management, and

> matntaining a strong and selective
construction capability focused on
higher added-value contracts for long
term customers
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More specifically, in 2007 we said that going forward we will
focus on

* growing revenue In support services at stable margins of
between four and five per cent

* using the strong postiions we have established in our chosen
sectors of the Private Finance market in the UK and Canada
to win projects In which equity investments will create
significant value for the Group

* more than doubling Canllion's share of revenues from our
Jomnt Venture businesses in the Middle East from £274 million
n 2006 to over £600 milkon within the next three years, at
margins of some 6 per cent

* improving the combined margins of our construction actvities
i the UK, Canada and the Caribbean and the Middle East
towards 3 per cent over the next three years

We also set seven key performance indicators for 2007 in respect
of which Carillon has performed strongly, as we continued to
build on the step change i Canllion’s development that we
achreved in 2006 through the acquesition and successful
mtegration of Mowlem

Key performance indicators in 2007

1 Attract, develop and retamn excellent people by
becoming an employer of choice

Delighting our customers by meeting or exceeding therr
expectations depends pnmarily on the quality of our people
Therefore, our ability to attract, develop and retain excellent
people by becoming an employer of choice continues 1o be our
top priority

In 2007, we made further good progress towards this objective
through the leadership, personal development and employee
engagement programmes we have introduced across the
Group to help all our people fuffil therr potential and contribute
to Canllion’s success

Creating a culture of trust and open communication (s essential
to the success of cur people policies and programmes Qur
managers and supervisors seek to engage with all our people
through regular one-to-one meetings, Indwidual performance
and development reviews and monthly team talks, supported

by newsletters and our Company newspaper, Spectrum that
once again received the top national award in 2007 from
‘Communicators in Business” as the best UK company newspaper

Listening to what our people tell us and acting upon 1t 1s vital to
good communication To that end and to help us monrtor and
measure our progress, we conduct employee surveys For example,
every year we hold ‘The Great Debate’, an interactive survey in
which our people, selected randomty from across the Group,
share therr views on a wide range of 1ssues, which are important
to ther development and satisfaction and to the success of
Carnllion In 2007, around 2,500 people took part in ‘The Great
Debate’, the results of which showed that we are making good
overall progress on these 1ssues and that our average scores
compared favourably with those of other top UK companies




Key performance indicators in 2007

> Attract, develop and
retain excellent people
by becoming an employer
of choice
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What we have achieved

> Leadership, personal
development and
employee engagement
programmes

> Be a recognised leader
In the delivery of safety
and sustainability

> Accdent Frequency
Rate in 2007 of 0 14
(2006 018) ranks with
the best in our sector
'Gold’ ranking in Business
In the Community’s 2006
Corporate Responsibility
Index topped our sector

> Deliver revenue growth
of a minimum of
five per cent through
exceeding our customers’
expectations

> Revenue in 2007
Increased by 13 per cent

> Deliver Mowlem
ntegration cost savings
at a running rate of
£26 million per annum
by the end of 2007

> Achieved

> Deliver maternially
enhanced earnings
n 2007

> Underlying earnings
per share® in 2007
increased by 22 per cent

> Generate cash-backed
operating profit

> Underlying cash flow
In 2007 represented
134 per cent of underlying
operating profit

> Achieve average net
borrowing in the full year
of around £150 million

(1} Continuing operations before ;ntangible amortisation impaiment,

restructunng costs and non-operatng tems.

> Average net borrowing
in 2007 was £130 million
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Group Chief Executive’s review
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2 Be the recognised leader in the delivery of safety

and sustainabilrty

The Health and Safety of our people and everyone who works
with us or 1s affected by our operations 15 paramount In 2005,
we set the demanding objective of eliminating reportable
accidents by 2010

Known as 'Target Zero’, this objective is led by our Board and
requires the constant vigilance and commitment of everyone in
Carillion to ensure that safe working practices are consistently
adopted and supported by nigorous reviews, audits and training

We are pleased 1o report that In 2007 we made further progress
towards ‘Target Zero’ The Group's Accident Frequency Rate (AFR}
reduced by 22 per cent to O 14 reportable accidents per 100,000
man hours worked (2006 AFR 0 18), which ranks with the best
n our sector This follows year on year reductions in our AFR of
25 per cent in 2006 and 35 per cent in 2005

Despite a nine per cent increase 1n the total number of hours
worked in 2007 to over 210 million, the total number of
reportable accidents under RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries,
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995) reduced
by 15 per cent to 295 (2006 347) and also follows year on year
reductions of 24 per cent in 2006 and 27 per cent in 2005

We deeply regret that one fatal traffic acadent, involving a
Joint Venture employee, occurred on one of our international
project sites in 2007 One prosecution of Carillion and one of
its sub-contractors by the Health and Safety Executwve, relating
to incidents that occurred in 2004, was concluded in 2007
No other enforcement notices were received by Canllion or
any of its sub—ontractors in 2007 in respect of work being
carried out by Canllion or on the Company’s behalf

In 2007, Carilllion once again submitted information on the
Health and Safety performance of all its UK business units to

the Corporate Health and Safety Performance Index, having

been the first and only major construction company to do o in
2006 This Index, which 15 sponsored by the Health and Safety
Commission, covers all aspects of Health and Safety management
and performance A wide range of industries particpate in the
Index, which enables us to benchmark our performance beyond
our own industry sector In 2007, we improved our Index score
to 7 4 (2006 6 4), which was well above the mean score of 6 7

Our commitment to sustamnability has made Carillion the
recognised leader in the development and adoption of responsible
business practices, as we demonstrated by topping our sector
with & Gold perfarmance ranking in Business in the Community’s
2006 Corporate Responsibility index We say more about our
programme for sustainable development on pages 33 to 35 of
this report

More detailed information on Health and Safety and sustainability
will be published in our 2007 Sustainabiity Report on our website
at www carilionplc com/sustainability in April 2008
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3 Deliver revenue growth of a minimum of five per cent
through exceeding our customers’ expectations

In 2007, revenue Increased by 13 per cent, which after allowing
for a full year contnbution from the businesses acquired with
Mowlem in February 2006, means we achieved organic growth
of eight per cent and ahead of our objective of five per cent
Organic growth was driven mamly by a 20 per cent increase

n UK support services revenue, particularly in the defence and
private sector faciities management sectors, and a 25 per cent
increase in Middle East construction services revenue, reflecting
our strong markets in both Dubar and Oman

4 Deliver Mowlem integration cost savings at a run

rate of £26 milion per annum by the end of 2007

We delivered integration cost savings at a run rate of £26 mullion a
year, In ine with our objective and significantly above the enginal
target run rate of £15 million a year, which we announced at

the time of acquisition These hard, measurable savings were
achieved n a number of areas, ncluding elminating management
duplication, the adoption of Carillion’s shared services model for
central and back office functions, property rationalisation and
more efficient and effectve supply chain management

5 Deliver matenally enhanced earnings in 2007

Revenue and margin growth resulfted n 23 and 22 per cent
increases In underlying profit before tax and underlying earmngs
per share, respectively Increasing margins, particularly in the
businesses acquired with Mowlem, through applying Carilion’s
strict project selectivity criteria and nisk management processes was
dentified at the ime of acquisition as an Important opportunity
for earnings growth Overall operating margins increased to

2 6 per cent (2006 2 3 per cent), with increases in group
construction services (excluding the Middle East) to 0 7 per cent
(2006 0O 6 per cent} and in Middle East construction services to
7 5 per cent {2006 S 2 per cent)

6 Generate cash-backed operating profit

Underlying cash flow from operations of £135 7 million
comfortably exceeded underlying profit from operations of
£101 2 million Strong cash management s fundamental to
delivering sustainable profitable growth and the consistent
defivery of cash-backed profit remams a key performance
indicator for the Group

7 Achieve average net borrowing in the full-year of

around £150 million

Average nei borrowing was £130 3 mulicn and well below

our full-year target Achieving this objective and reducing net
borrowing at 31 December to £44 9 million (2006 £108 0 million)
follows our success in delivering a strong cash flow from
operations, in ine with our continuing focus on cash
management




Key performance indicators in 2008
In order to maintam the Group's strong momentum we have
set the following key performance indicators for 2008

contmue to attract, develop and retain excellent people
by being an employer of choice

be the recognised leader in the delivery of safety

and sustainability

» deliver revenue growth of a mimimum of five per cent

successfully integrate Alfred McAlpine and delver
integration cost savings that put us on track to achieve
savings at a run rate of £30 milion by the end of 2009
achieve earmings per share growth that puts us on track
to delwver matenally enhanced earnings per share in
2009 following the Alfred McAlpine acquisition

» generate cash-backed operating profit

achieve year-end net borrowing in the region of £300 million

Acquisttion of Alfred McAlpine

In December 2007, we announced the terms of a recommended
shares and cash offer for the acquisition of Alfred McAlpine plc
The acquisition, which receved the overwhelming support

of Canllion and Alfred McAlpine shareholders, was completed
on 12 February 2008 and valued Alfred McAlpine’s share captal
at £554 5 millien The acquisition was funded by the 1ssue of
112 9 million new Canllion shares, £171 7 millon i cash and

£1 3 million of loan notes

Alfred McAlpine is an excellent strategic fit and the acguisition 1s
expected to deliver significant value for shareholders by generating
substantial synergy cost savings and enhanced operational
perforrmance Combining the complementary skills and market
strengths of Canllion and Alfred McAlpine will create

a leading UK support services business with annual support
services revenues of approximately £2 6 billien (based on

2007 revenues)

an enhanced capability to provide integrated solutions, including
design, construction, mantenance, facilities management and
private finance

a strong and selectve construction business that will continue
to target margin improvement through the applhcation of
Carnllion’s project selectvity and nsk management processes
synergy cost savings at a run rate of £30 million per annum
by the end of 2009 for a one-off cost of £30 million

financial returns well ahead of Carilion's weighted average
cost of capital

materially enhanced earnings in 2009

The integration of the Canllion and Alfred McAlpine businesses
has already commenced and is progressing very well We look
forward to working with our 8,500 new colleagues during 2008
and beyond in order to create an even stronger business from
which all stakeholders can benefit
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Outlook and prospects

Through the acquisition of Mowlem we have created a stronger,
more resilient business, with enhanced positions In a wide range
of growth markets

At 31 December 2007 we had a £16 billion order book, of which
£13 5 billion s for support services and Public Private Partnerships
projects, and a pipeline of probable new orders worth £3 6 billion

The overall outlook in our principal market sectors in the UK

and international regiens, which are described in more detall
on pages 4 to 11 of this report, 15 expected 1o remain positive
In summary

*+ the UK support services market 1s forecast to grow in real terms
by between two and three per cent per annum over the next
five years from £115 billion n 2007 to £130 billion by 2012

* we expect continuing opportunrties for Public Private Partnership
projects in 2008 and over the medium term in both the
UK and Canada and to continue to build a portfolio of good
qualtty investments

¢ 1n the Middle East we expect our markets to remain very
strong and we are confident of growing revenues from
this region to over £600 million, from the 2007 level of
£337 milhon, within the next two years, at margins of
some six per cent

+ the UK non-housing new-buld construction market is
forecast to grow in real terms by over twe per cent per annum
over the next three years

« In Canada and the Canbbean we expect continuing healthy
growth drven by Public Prvate Partnership projects and roads
mantenance services

In view of the Group's strengths and posrtive outlook, | believe
we are well positioned 10 make further strong progress in 2008
and delver materally enhanced earnings in 2009

JW\M

John McDonough
Group Chief Executive
5 March 2008
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I am pleased to report that Carilhon
made good progress in 2007 and that
we erther achieved or exceeded all of our
key financial and strategic objectives
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In 2007, Carillion has agatn delivered strong earnings growth from
its UK and International businesses and we remain well placed to
make further strong progress in 2008 and cver the medium term

Carilion provides support services and integrated sofutions,
including design, construction, maintenance and private
finance, to delver life-time asset management for buildings and
infrastructure The Group has operations m the UK, Middle East
and Canada and the Caribbean and cur principal market sectors
and acivities are described on pages 4 to 11 of this report

Accounting policies

The Group's annual consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financra! Reporting
Standards and there have been no changes in accounting policies
during 2007, except for disclosures in respect of financial
instruments n accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standard, IFRS 7, which are set out in Note 28 on pages 93 to 95
The Group’s significant accounting policies are described on pages
€4 to 67

Group overview

Total revenue from continuing operations in 2007 increased
by 13 per centto £3,951 7 million (2006 £3,512 4 milion),
including revenue from Joint Ventures of £621 0 million
{2006 £528 5 million)

Total underlying profit from continuing operations increased by
24 per cent to £101 2 miflion (2006 £81 3 mullion), including
profit from Jont Ventures of £36 8 million (2006 £31 6 million})

The underlying profit from operations margin ncreased to

2 6 per cent (2006 2 3 per cent) and reflected our continuing
drive to improve margins through contract selectivity, cost
reduction and greater efficency In particular, mproving margins
over time 1n the businesses acquired with Mowlem and increasing
the contribution from our businesses in the Middle East continue
to represent cpportunities for enhancing earnings growth

After a net financial income of £0 6 million, underlying profit
before tax was £101 8 million, an increase of 23 per cent
{2006 £82 6 million} Underlying earnings per share on

the same measure increased by 22 per cent to 28 9 pence
(2006 23 7 pence)

Intangible amortisation and impairment of other nvestments
amounted to £21 5 million {2006 £17 2 milhon including
goodwill impairment), restructunng costs £14 2 milhon

(2006 £22 6 million) and non-operating income £28 3 million
(2006 £25 3 million), leaving reported profit before tax of
£94 4 million (2006 £68 1 milhon)




Group taxation of £8 3 millon (2006 £7 2 million) when
combined with Joint Ventures taxation of £9 0 mithon

(2006 £8 1 mulion) represented an underlying effective tax rate
of 25 per cent and profit after tax was £86 1 million After a loss
from discontinued operations of £7 6 million (2006 £0 5 millon}
and minority interests of £2 5 million (2006 £2 2 million),

profit atiributable to Carllion shareholders was £76 0 million
(2006 £58 2 million} Basic earnings per share from continuing
and discontinued operations were 27 1 pence (2006 21 6 pence)

Underlying cash flow from operations of £135 7 mullion
comfortably exceeded underlying profi from operations of
£101 2 millon After payments of £46 3 mullion to pension
funds i line with our pension defiat recovery plan, a net nflow
from assets of £4 4 million, restructuring and other costs of

£9 9 million, interest tax and dwvidend payments of £30 4 million
and a net cash inflow from acquisitions and disposals of

£9 6 million, net borrowing at 31 December reduced by

£63 1 million to £44 9 million (31 December 2006

£108 O milkon} Average net borrowing was £130 3 mullion
(2006 post the acquisition of Mowlem £148 0 million) and
significantly better than our objective of £150 milion

Segmental reporting and analysis

Operating profit by financial reporting segment is summarised
in the table on this page and a detailled segmental analysis of
the Group’s businesses is provided i Note 2 to the financial
statements on page 68 Operating performance in each of
ouwr financial reporting segments 15 discussed In more detall on
pages 22 to 29

Woe have made two changes to the way we report our financial
resufts and how we group together activities of a similar type
and nsk profile in order to make it easier to value our earnings
on a consistent basis Previously, we reported cur results in
three segments — support services, investments and construction
services We now report our activities in four segments —
support services, Public Private Partnership projects, Middle East
construction services and construction services (excluding the
Middle East) Our Middle East construction actiities, which
were previously included within construction services, are now
being reported separately, because of their higher margins and
lower risk profile compared with construction services In the UK
In addrtion, to provide greater clanty, the investments segment
has been re-named Public Private Partnership projects, but there
has been no change to the results we report in this segment,
namely the equity returns on our investments in Public Private
Partnership projects
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Operating profit by financaal reporting segment

Change

from
007 2006 2006
£m £m %
Support services 739 588 26
Public Private Partnership projects 254 265 @
Middle East construction services 254 139 83
Construction services
{excluding the Middle East) 160 185 {14)
1407 1177 20
Group eliminations and unallocated items (20 6) (20 3} (1)
Profrt from operations before Joint Ventures
net financial expense and taxation 1201 974 23
Share of Joint Ventures net
financial expense (99) €0 (29
Share of Joint Ventures taxation (90 81y 1)
Underlying profit from operations™ 1012 813 24
Intangible amortisation and impairment
of goodwsll and other iInvestments (215) (172) (25
Restructuring costs (142) (226) 37
Reported profit from cperations®? 655 415 58

{1} Cortinuing operatons before intangible amortisation
impairment, restruciuning costs and non-operating rtems
{2) CONLNUING OPSratons.
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Support services

In this segment we report the results of our facilities
management, facilities services, rail, road maintenance
and consultancy businesses

Revenue in support services increased by 23 per cent to
£1,793 6 million of which some 20 per cent was due to
organic growth, with the remainder attributable to having a
full 12 months’ contribution from the busmesses acquired with
Mowlem in February 2006 Qrganic growth was due primarily
to increased revenues from faclities management and services,
both for public and private sector customers, notably the
Mirustry of Defence, BT, Virgm Media and Norwich Union,

and from highways mamntenance in the UK and Canada,
partally offset by lower volumes in rall infrastructure

Underlying operating profit increased by 26 per cent to
£73 9 million, reflecting revenue growth, particularly n the
Defence sector, ncluding Jomt Venture contracts, and in
the facilities management and road mantenance sectors

Overall, new order intake N support services has remamned
healthy and the value of our order bock for this segment at
31 December 2007 was £8 4 billon (December 2006 £8 4 billion)

The outlook n this segment continues to be very positive with
forecast real growth in the UK support services market of between
two and three per cent per annum over the next five years
Outscourcing by public and private sector customers is expected
1o continue to provide significant opportunities for growth in
facilties management and services and roads maintenance

This 15 already evident in the number of major new orders

won by Canllion and its Joint Venture partners in the first two
months of 2008 for established 'blue chip’ customers, including
BT, AXA and Philips, worth around £0 9 billion

We also expect modest growth in our UK rail infrastructure
activities as a result of planned increases in expendrture on
network and station enhancement projects We expect to achieve
growth desprte the effects of ceasing to provide track renewal
services to Network Rall from the beginming of 2008 and the sale
of our rall operations in Scandinavia, which together generated
arcund £100 milion of revenue in 2007

In addition, growth in the outsourcing of roads mantenance n
Canada and in our factlities management markets in the Middle
East and in Canada continue to offer opportunities for our
businesses in these regions to increase the contributions they
make to this segment
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Revenue'”
2007 2006
£m fm
Group 1,569 4 13148
Share of
Joint Ventures 224 2 143 9
Total 1,793 6 +23% 1,458 7

Underlying operating profit®

2007 2006

£m £m

Group 624 515
Share of

Joint Ventures 115 73

Total 739+26% 588

Reported operating profit™”

2007 2006
£m fm

Group 480 336

Share of

Joint Ventures 15 73

Total 595 +45% 409

{1) Continuing operabons
{2) Continuing operations before ntangble amertsation
Imparrment restructuring costs and non-operating items
{3) Befare Group eliminations unalocated ems and
Joint Venture net financial expense and taxation
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+26%

Increase In underlying operating profit
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Public Private Partnership projects

In this segment we report the equity returns on our
investments in Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects

in our chosen sectors of Defence, Health, Education,
Transport, Secure and other Government accommodation

At 31 December 2007, we had a portfolio of 23 equrty investments
(31 December 2006 24) in financially closed PPP projects in

which we had already invested some £78 million of egurty and
commitments to mvest a further £97 midlion, which will bring

our total equity investment in these projects to £175 million

The Directors’ valuation of our portfolio at 31 December 2007
increased by 12 per cent to £266 million (31 December 2006

£238 million), based on discounting the cash flows from these
investments and commitments at 8 per cent

As expected, underlying operating profit in this segment reduced
shightly to £25 4 mitlion, with growing returns from our maturning
portfolio of investments offset by two principal factors First,

the sale of eight equity investments in September 2006, at an
exceptional profit of £25 6 millon, reduced operating proft in
2007 by some £7 millon Second, Group operating profit n

2006 benrefited from a one-off fee as a result of achieving financial
close on the £12 billon Allenby Connaught project

for the Ministry of Defence in Apnl 2006

We also sold investments in a further three mature PPP projects,
namely the Great Western Hospital, Swindon, Harplands Hospital,
North Staffordshire and Glasgow Southern General Hospital, in
December 2007 The sale generated proceeds of £21 5 million
and an exceptional profit of £23 6 million The proceeds reflected
a net present value for the cash flows from these investments
hased on a discount rate of under 5 5 per cent Once again the
sale of equity In mature projecis has demonstrated the substantial
value being generated for the Group through our ability to

win and deliver PPP projects successfully by integrating our

skiils in project finance, design, construction, maintenance and
faciltties management

During the year, Carillon Joint Ventures achieved financial close on
the £200 million Sault Area Hospital in Ontano, Canada, in which
we will invest £3 S million of equity, and on the £175 mithon
South Tyneside and Gateshead Building Schoots for the Future
(BSF) project, in which we will invest £0 9 million of equity

Since the year end, a Carillion Joint Venture has been appointed
preferred bidder for the £208 million Nottingham BSF project in
which we expect to mvest approximately £2 0 million of equity
We are also the preferred bidder for two NHS Independent Sector
Treatment Centre projects — London North and Hertfordshire —in
which we expect to invest up to £6 million of equity In addrtion,
we are shortlisted for a further 10 projects with a petential

equity requirement of up to £96 millon Beyond that we expect
continuing opporturities to bid for further PPP projects in the

UK and in Canada

Overall, the outlook in our chosen sectors of the PPP market, both
in the UK and Canada, remains positive and we expect further
opportunities in 2008 and over the medium term to continue to
build a portfolio of good quality mvestments that will generate
significant value for the Group
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{1} Continuing operations

Revenue!
2007 2006
£fm £m
Group 09 13
Share of
Joint Ventures 153 2 146 7
Total 154 1 +4% 148 Q

Underlying operating profit®

007 2006
fm fm

Group 07 71

Share of

Jotnt Ventures 247 194

Total 254 4% 265

Reported operating profit®

2007 2006
£m £m

Group {12) 65

Share of

Joint Ventures 247 19 4

Total 235-9% 259

{2} Contnuing operations hefore ntangible amortisation
Imgairment, restructuring costs and non-operating nems
{3} Before Group ehminations unallocated items and
Jotm Venture net financial expense and taxation

+12% ncrease in Directors valuation of equity in
finanoally dosed Public Private Partnership projects
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Middle East construction services

In this segment, we report the results of our building
and avil engineenng activities in the Middle East

Revenue from our businesses (n the Middle East increased by
25 per cent and underlying operating profit by 83 per cent

as a result of continuing strong organic growth in our existing
markets (n Dubal and Oman, with operating margins improving
from 5 2 per cent to 7 5 per cent

Canllion and s Jaint Venture partners have continued 1o use
their strong market positions and reputation for high qualty
services to negotiate substantial new work in our existing markets
in Dubal and Oman and also in Abu Dhabi and Egypt, where

we will begin construction wark on major new projects in 2008
At 31 December 2007, our Middle East order book stood

at £0 7 bilion (2006 £0 3 billion) and we had a pipeline of
probable new orders worth over £1 0 billion (2006 £0 1 billion)

There were a number of notable successes n 2007 These
included a £120 million contract for Canllion Alawi to build the
House of Musical Arts for the Oman Royal Court Affarrs and the
appointment of Al Futtam Carillion as the preferred bidder for
two major contracts — a £250 mullion, 24-month contract for

the first phase of the £10 tilhon Al Raha Beach development in
Ahu Dhabi and a £220 million, 30-month contract for the first
phase of the £2 billion Carro Festval City development Al Futtaim
Canllion also signed a six-year framework agreement for a further
£3 5 bifion of work on the Duba) Festival City development

The outlook in our markets in the Middle East 1s for continuing
strong growth Current opportunities include the remainder

of the Carro Festival City development, worth around

£1 8 bilion, further contracts n Dubal worth up to £700 million,
a £250 million contract for the Racetrack Hotel on Yas Island

in Abu Dhabi and contracts in Qatar worth in the region of
£300 million

Given the major contracts, preferred bidder positions and
framework agreements already secured, together with numerous
opportunities for further work i this region, we remain confident
that we will substantally increase our share of revenues from

the Middle East from £337 million in 2007 to over £600 millon
over the next two years, at margins of around 6 per cent
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Revenue!
2007 2006
£m £fm
Group 100 0 423
Share of
Joint Ventures 237 0 226 4
Total 3370 +25% 2687

Underlying operating profit™®

2007 2006
£m im
Group 96 13
Share of
Joint Ventures 158 126
Total 254 +83% 139
Reported operating profit!”
2007 2006
£m im
Group 96 13
Share of
Joint Ventures 15 8 126
Total 254+483% 139

{1} Conmtinuing operations
(2} Continuing operations before ntangble amartsation
wnpairment, restructuring costs and non-operating tems
{3} Before Group ehminations, unallocated 1emns and
Joint Venture net financial expense and taxation
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+33%

Increase In underlying operating profit
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Construction services
{(excluding the Middle East)

In this segment, we report the results of our UK building,
avil engineering and developments businesses and our
construction activities in Canada and the Caribbean

Revenue in construction services increased by 2 per cent to
£1,667 milkon, due to having a full 12 months’ contribution
from the businesses acquued with Mowlem in February 2006
The substantial organic growth we achieved in the UK defence
and roads sectors was more than offset by reduced activity in
UK building, where our focus 1s on increasing margins ahead
of revenue

Underlying operating profit reduced by 14 per cent, because
the contribution from Joint Ventures was substantially lower
than in 2006, which benefited from a number of contract
settlements not repeated in 2007 Underlying Group operating
profit increased by 22 per cent, reflecting revenue growth and
improved margins, In ine with our selective approach to the
projects we undertake

While overall opportunities for new orders in this segment
have remained strong, we have maintained our focus on long
term customers and projects that enable us to improve margins
rather than simply growing revenue Notable new contracts in
2007 included a pre-construction contract for the £300 million
second satellite at Heathrow Terminal 5 and a £390 million
contract for the first phase of the £2 billion Kings Cross Central
regeneration project This disciplined appreach to project
selectivity was reflected in our order book for construction
services (excluding the Middle East), which stood at £1 8 billion
at 31 December 2007 {(December 2006 £2 6 bdlion)

The outlook in our construction markets s for continuing growth
in the UK, the non-housing new construction market 1s forecast

to grow In real terms by an average of over two per cent per
annum over the next three years However, we shall continue
to focus on using these buoyant market conditions to improve

margins ahead of revenues In Canada, there are also prospects

for further heaithy growth, primarly from the construction of
Public Private Partnership projects, particularly hosprals
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(1) Continuing opefations

Revenue
2007 2006
£m £m
Group 1,660 4 1,6255
Share of
Joint Ventures 66 115
Total 1,667 0+2% 1,6370

Underlying operating profnt®

2007 2006
£m £m
Group 123 101
Share of
Joint Ventures 37 84
Total 16 0-14% 185
Reported operating profit®™
2007 2006
£m £m
Group 81 50
Share of
Joint Ventures 37 84
Total 18-12% 134

(2) Continuing operations before intangible amortsation

Impatrment, festructurning €osts and NoN-operaling tems
(3) Before Group elminauons unallocated items and
Joint Venture net financal expense and taxation
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-14%

reduction in underlying operating profit
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Intangible amortisation and imparrment of goodwill
and other investments

Intangible amortisation and impairrment of £21 5 million
(2006 £17 2 milllon including goodwall tmpairment) continues
to predominantly reflect the acquisition of Mowlem in 2006

Restructuring costs
A summary of restructuring costs 1s provided in the table below

2007 2006

fm £m

Mowlfem integration costs 95 184
Operational structure review costs 45 -
Rail actvities review costs 02 42
142 226

The integration of the Carnllion and Mowlern businesses was
completed earlier than expected in 2007, at a total one-off cost
of £27 9 million, of which £18 4 million was incurred in 2006
and £9 5 million in 2007 This wilt generate savings of at least £26
million per annum from the beginning of 2008 - substantially
more than the £15 million that was originally expected at the time
of the Mowlem acquisition Following the Group’s rapid growth,
both crganically and by acquisition, we reviewed and rationalised
our operational structure at the end of 2007 at a cost of £4 5
million This will generate further operational efficiencies and
increase the Group’s profitabity in 2008 and beyond

Non-operational items

Non-operational items amounted to £28 3 million in 2007
(2006 £25 3 million) and largely related to the disposal of
investments in mature Public Private Partnership projects, as
descrnbed on page 24

Net financal iIncome

The Group had a net financial income of £0 6 million (2006

£1 3 million) This comprised a net expense of £11 1 million in
respect of borrowings, interest received In respect of loans to
Special Purpose Companies for Public Private Partnership projects
of £4 9 miliion and a net interest credit from retirement benefit
schemes of £6 8 million

Taxation

The effective tax rate on the Group's and Joint Venture's
undertying profit was 25 per cent and we currently expect to
maintain this rate over the medium term Our effectve tax rate
reflects the agreement of certain prior year tax issues with the
tax authorities, together with a mechanism for the use of certain
tax losses acquired with Mowlem plc, both in 2007 and in future
years At 31 December 2007 the Group had £232 millien of
corporate tax losses in the UK that are available to reduce

future tax labitities

Earnings per share

Underlying earnings per share from continuing operations
increased by 22 per cent to 28 9 pence (2006 23 7 pence)
This substantial increase reflected strong organic growth in the
Group’s operations and the benefits of successfully iIntegrating
the Cardlion and Mowlem businesses earlier than originally
expected, in particular the delvery of Integration cost savings
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at a run rate of £26 million by the end of 2007 The 22 per cent

increase In underlying earnings per share from continuing
operations achieved in 2007 also comfortably exceeded the

profit forecast made by the Group on 12 December 2007 as part
of the process of acquiring Alfred McAlptne plc, when the Group
{orecast that its 2007 growth in underlying earnings per share

from continuing operations would be at least 20 per cent

compared with 2006

Discontinued operations

Three non-core businesses were sold in 2007 and treated as
discontinued, namely, Pall Mall, Sovereign Soft Services and the

Group's rait actvities in Sweden and Denmark These sales

generated a net loss of £6 2 million together with £1 4 million
of trading losses In 2007 up to the dates of sale Details of these
sales are given In Note 8 to the consohidated financial statements

on page 76

Dividend

Carillion has a progressive dividend policy of increasing the

dmvidend pad to shareholders broadly in ine with earnings growth,
after taking account of the investment needs of the business
Consistent with this policy, the Board has recommended a final
dividend in respect of 2007 of 7 5 pence, making the full-year
dividend 11 0 pence, an increase of 22 per cent on the total

pad in respect of 2006 (9 0 pence) Underlying dividend cover

was 2 6 times and similar to that in 2006

Cash flow

A summary of the Group’s cash flows (s shown below

2007 2006
fm £m

Undertlying Group operating profit 644 497
Depreciation and other non-cash ems 159 185
Working capital 317 152
Dwvidends recewed fraom Joint Ventures 237 157
Total underlying cash inflow
from operations 1357 99 1
Deficit pension contributions (463) (318)
Restructuring costs (650 (182)
Interest, tax and dividends (304) (257
Net inflow/outflow) from
assets/capital expenditure 44 (28 2)
Acquisttions and disposals 98 (1909)
Other — including discontinued operations (34) (31)
Change In net borrowing 631 (1988)
Net (borrowing)/cash at 1 January (108 0) a0 8
Net borrowing at 31 December (449) (108 0)
Average net borrowing (1303) (1480

M Ragiated ¢ exdude dscounted aperations
{2 Post acquistion of Mowlem pic

Cardlion’s focus on cash management and the delvery of cash-
backed profit was again reflected in our underlying cash flow

from operations of £135 7 million, which was significantly

ahead of underyying profit from operations of £101 2 million




Additional cash payments to the Group's pension’s schemes
increased to £46 3 mullion in Iine with our pension deficit recovery
plan There was a net cash inflow from assets of £4 4 million,
because capital expendrture of £25 1 millon was more than
offset by income from the sale of assets, including ral plant and
property The substantial cash outflow in respect of acquisitions
and disposals in 2006 was due to the acquisition of Mowlem,

the net inflow in 2007 reflected proceeds from the disposal of
businesses, including the three mature Public Private Partnership
projects disposed of during the year, partially offset by investments
in Public Private Partnership projects and a Joint Venture business
in Canada

Balance sheet
Canlhion’s balance sheet remains strong and 1s summarised
below

December  December

2007 2006

£fm fm

Property, plant and equipment 1315 1466
Intangible assets 5558 596 1
Investments in Joint Ventures 1859 1788
8732 9215

Inventories, recevables and payables (286 5) (2820)

Net retwement benefits hability {net of tax) (138 (758)

Other (25.1) (22 0)
Net operating assets 547 8 5417

Net borrowing (449) (1080)
Net assets 5029 4337

The reduction in property, plant and equipment was due to asset
disposals, including rad plant and property Intangible assets
reduced, reflecting amortisation and the disposal of Pall Malt
The increase in Investments in Joint Ventures reflected the
Group's equity Investments in Public Private Partnership projects

The substantial reduction in the Group’s net retirement benefrts
hability, reflected the substantial improvement in equity values
during the year, together with the addrtionat cash payments made
to our pensions schemes under our deficit recovery plan

Share price

Canllion’s share price closed at 351 25 pence on 31 December
2007, a reduction of 11 5 per cent on the closing pnce on

31 December 2006

In commen with many companies in our sector, Carillion’s total
shareholder return reduced in 2007 The overall reduction of

9 4 per cent compared with an ncrease of 5 9 per cent for
the FTSE 350 However, over the last five years Carillion’s total
shareholder return has significantly outperformed that of the
FTSE 350 The FTSE 350 was chosen by the Board as the best
comparator to llustrate Canllion’s performance agamst a broad
equity market index
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Five-year total shareholder return
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Retirement benefits

The Group’s ongoing pensions charge against profit in 2007 was
£29 3 million (2006 £35 1 milion} calculated on the basis of
International Accounting Standard 19 After the addmional cash
payments of £46 3 million that were made to the Group’s pensions
schemes in line with our pension deficit recovery plan, the Group's
pension schemes had a deficit net of tax at 31 December 2007

of £13 8 million (31 December 2006 £75 8 million)

Committed bank facilities

In September 2007, Carthon renegotiated and increased 1ts main
corporate borrowing faciity from £329 million to £590 million
to support the ongoing development of the Group This new
five year faclity, which 1s repayable on 30 September 2012, was
over-subscribed and secured on attractive terms Syndication of
the new facilities was led by four core banks, The Royal Bank of
Scotland, Bank of Scotland plc, Bayernsche Landesbank, London
Branch, and Lloyds TSB Bank plc it was particularly pleasing

to secure these facitmies during the challenging conditions of
the global debt markets, which demonstrated the banking
community’s strong support for, and confidence in, the

Carnllion Group These new facilities also proved to be more
than adequate to finance the £171 7 million cash element of
the total £554 5 millon consideration for the acquisition of
Alfred McAlpine plc that completed in February 2008




Our performance
Operating and financial review
continued

Treasury policy and risk management

The Group has a centralised Treasury function whase primary role
1s to manage funding, hquidity and financial risks In addition,
Treasury sources and administers contract bond and guarantee
facilities for the Group Treasury 1s not a profit centre and does not
enter into speculative transactions The Board sets policies within
which Treasury operates that ensure the most effectve financing
of the Group’s operations and mrt exposure to financial risk

Finanaal nsk

The areas of significant financial nsk facing the Group relate
to funding, hquidity, counter party risk, foreign exchange and
interest rates

Funding and hquidrty

In addition to Carillion plc's principal borrowing facilities described
above, money market and short-term overdraft facilities are
available to Carllon plc and certain subsidiaries Operating leases
are also employed to fund fonger-term assets The quantum of
committed borrowing facilities available to the Group 1s reguiarly
reviewed by the Canlhon Board and 1s designed to satisfy the
requirements of the Group’s business plan

Counter party nsk

The Carillieon Group undertakes significant financial transactions
only with counter parties that have strong credit ratings The hmits
and requirements in respect of such transactions are reviewed
regularly by the Board of Canllion plc

Foreign exchange

The Group hedges all significant currency transaction exposures
using foreign exchange nsk management techniques In order to
protect the Group's bialance sheet fram the impact of exchange
rate volatiity, foreign currency net assets are hedged using
matching currency loans, where these assets exceed the
equivalent of £10 milion Profits ansing within overseas
subsidiaries are not hedged unless 1t 1s planned to make a
distribution Such distributions are then treated as currency
transactions and hedged accordingly

The average and year end exchange rates used to translate the
Group's overseas operations were as follows

Average year end
£sterhing 2007 2006 2007 2006
Middle East (US Dollar} 200 185 199 196
Oman (Rial) 077 o 077 075
UAE (Dirhams) 763 679 731 719
Canada (Dollar) 214 209 196 228
Trinidad (Dollar) 1264 1168 12521217

Interest rates

The Group’s borrowing facilities are at floating rates of interest
inked to the London Inter Bank Offered Rate The Group has
not entered into interest rate dervatives to fix or hedge interest
rate nsk and currently none are outstanding Certain longer-term
assets have been financed using fixed rate leases

Canllion has invested equity It a number of Joint Venture Special
Purpose Companies (SPC) to deliver Public Private Partnership
projects SPCs obtain funding for these projects in the form of
long-term bank loans or corporate bonds without recourse to
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the Joint Venture partners and secured on the assets of the SPC
A number of SPCs have entered into interest rate derivatives as a
means of hedging interest rate risk These dernatives are nterest
rate swaps that effectively fix the rate of interest payable

Operational nsk management

Canlhon has ngorous policies and processes in place to identify,
mitigate and manage operational nsks These enable us to
address strategic risks and those specific to individual businesses
and contracts, including economug, social, environmental and
ethical risks

The more signficant areas of nsk where our failure to perform
well or changes to macro-economic or market environments
would affect our business, can be summarised as follows

* attracting, developing and retaining excellent people the
success and growth of our business depends pnmarily on the
quality of our people

winning new work our ability to remam competrive by
adapting our strategy and service offering to the changing
needs of our markets and customers s essential to the
continuing success of our busness

managng major contracts completing contracts on time
and to the required standards avoids financial penalties and
damage to our brand and reputation

managing our pension schemes the costs to Carillion of
funding its pension schemes depends on the macro-economic
environment, equity market stability and regulatory requirements
financial disaipline  strong cash management and the delvery
of cash-backed profrts remaim fundamental to the success of
our business

integration of the Carilion and Alfred McAlpine businesses
delivery of the substantial cost synergy and operational
benefits of the acquisition depends on the successful
integration of these busnesses

L ]

We apply our nsk management processes to every aspect of our
operations fram choosing our market sectors and the contracts
we bid for to the selection of our suppliers and sub-contractors
We also apply them to every stage of a contract from inception

to completion, in grder to deliver the cash-backed profit we expact
and high-quality services for our customers

Going concern

The Directors confirm that, after making enguiries, they have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group has
adequate resources to continue In operational existence for the
foreseeable future For this reason, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis In preparing the financial statements

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
5 March 2008




Our performance
Sustainability review

In this section of our Annual Report we
have summarised what we are doing

to make our business more sustainable

A more detalled account will be published
In our 2007 Sustainability Report, on our
website, In Aprl 2008

We believe that our leadership in sustainability will increasingly
differentiate us from our competrors and help us to win mare
orders, minimise our social, environmental and ethical risks,
control costs and delver better services to our customers

Strategy

We have a well established strategy model for sustainable
development, which s aligned with the four priority areas
defined by the UK Government in its sustainzable development
strategy, "Securing the Future', namely

* sustainable communities

* natural resource protection and environmental enhancement
* cimate change and energy

* sustainable consumption and production

We have dentified 12 behaviours and activities across these
four priority areas, as fllustrated In our “sun diagram’ below,
which affect the delivery of our business objectives

Managing sustainability

Qur commitment to sustamability s driven by our Board,
supported by a Sustanability Adviscry Committee This Commuttee
15 chaired by our Group Chief Executive, John McDonough, and
includes a number of senior Directors, drawn from across our
businesses, to ensure that it mantains close links with the Group’s
operational actvities The Commuttee also benefits from expert
adwvice from two external members, Jonathon Porritt, Char of the
UK Government’s Sustanable Development Commission, and Julia
Cleverdon, Chief Executive of Business in the Community (BITC)

Behaviours and actvities
affecting sustainable development
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In 2007, we also established a forum in which our senior business
leaders can meet regularly to share best practice and support the
development of our sustainability strategy and its dissemination
across the Group In addition to the annual sustainability plans
and objectives we set for all our businesses, we also organise

a 'sustainability week’, a Group-wide programme that

coinaides with World Environment Day that focuses on how
individuals and teams can adopt a more sustainable lifestyle

and contribute to making Canllion a sustainable business

Our performance

In 2007, we continued to set specific targets for each of our
business units and for the Group as a whole In addion, we
focused on five key areas, namely

* commuricating simply and consistently to all cur people
to ensure a common understanding of our strategy and
objectives for sustainability

+ estabhshing new internal branding for sustamability

developing a clear policy for understanding and managing

our carbon emissions

introducing quarterly progress reviews of performance

agamst our key performance indicators and sustamnability

excellence model and

improving our performance in Business in the Community's

Corporate Responsibility Index

The Group’s key sustainability objectives for 2007 were based on
14 specific and measurable targets In order to drive continuous
Improvement, these were demanding targets and our performance
agaenst them has been independently audited by Bureau Veritas

A full report on what we have achieved, induding our scores
agawmst these targets and key chjectives, will be published n our
2007 Sustainability Report in April 2008

Participating in Business in the Commumity’s Corporate
Responsibility Index enables us to benchmark our performance
externally Since the inception of the Index in 2003, Carilion has
improved its score each year In the 2006 Index (published in 2007)
Cardion achieved a "gold’ performance ranking of 92 5 per cent,
topping the construction and bulding matenals sector The
average score of all partiapating companies was 87 per cent,
which demonstrates that Canllion not only continues to be the
leader in 1ts sector, but that our performance compares favourably
with that of companies in all sectors

Carilion continues to be a member of the FTSE4Good index
and we were also delighted to be ranked among the top
20 most ethical firms in the UK in 2007 by The Observer’s
‘Good Company Guide’

Our sustainability strategy also won the top award for the best
Corporate Social Responsibility Strategy at both the Corporate
Communications magazine awards and the Midlands Region
PRide Awards

We say more about what we are doing to improve our impacts
in the four priority areas of the Government's sustainable
development strategy, *Secunng the Future’, on pages 34 and 35




Our performance
Sustainability review
continued

Sustainable Communities and Workforce

Creating a sustainable business requires the commitment
of all our people - the ‘Canllion community’ We seek to
achieve this through our Health and Safety, leadership,
personal development and employee engagement
programmes, which are descnibed in more detail on
pages 16, 18, 40 and 41

How we do business 1s based on our belief that it's not onily
what we do that matters, but also how we do it, which drnives
our commitment to ‘living’ our values in everything we do
Through our Values Awards we recognise the outstanding
contributions our people make to our success i delivering

an excellent service to our customers and 1,500 Canllicn
people recerved these awards in 2007

Our commitment to sustainable communities extends beyond
our own people We have a community engagement strategy
for all our major worksites and projects and we encourage
our people to understand how we can have positive Impacts
on the communities in which we operate and to participate
N community activities

Carillion 15 8 member of Business in the Community’s ‘PerCent
Club’, which comprises companies that contribute over one
per cent of their pre-tax profits in cash or in kind to community
actwvities We support the Business Action on Homelessness
campaign designed to help homeless people break the cycle of
‘no home, no job' and in 2007, we supported 57 people
through the ‘Ready to Work” programme

As one of the UK's leading providers of traiming for support
services and construction skills, we contribute to the
development of indwviduals and communities In 2007, around
1,200 apprentices successfully completed ther traning in one
of our 18 UK training centres and some 200 people recewed
training for entry level jobs in the construction industry

34 Canlion plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Natural Resource Protection and

Environmental Enhancement

Carillion has developed and implemented environmental
management systems across the Group and over 99

per cent of our UK operations are now accredited to
1SO 14001 by a registered third party

What we do and how we do  can have significant impacts
on the use of natural resources and the environment and
we use our knowledge and skills n developing sustainable
solutions to create positive iImpacts in these areas

The preservation of natural habitats and the wildlife they
support 1s iImportant both socially and environmentally Seven
years ago we entered into a partnership with the Wildlife
Trusts and established the Carillion Natural Habitats Fund

To date we have contributed over £185,000 to the fund to
finance 32 projgects and provide opportuntties for our people
to volunteer and support the preservation of natural habitats

In recognition of our leadership In sustainability, Carillion was
represented on two of the working groups that supported
the UK Government's Sustainable Procurement Taskforce
and helped n the development of 1ts ‘Flexible Framework’
Under the framework there are four ‘levels’ of achievement
in respect of sustanable procurement We were delighted to
achieve Level 1.1n 2007 and plan to achieve Level 4 by 2010

Canllion continues to be a member of the WWF-UK Forest
and Trade Network and we purchase timber from Forest
Stewardship Council certified sources wherever possible We
also report the volumes and sources of the timber we use to
the WWF annually




Chimate change and energy

Global warming and chmate change are now widely
accepted as areas of major international concern
Canllion 15 committed to addressing these 1ssues and
in 2007 we calculated our carbon footprint for our
emissions in 2006

This focused on all the areas relevant to our business,
including atr, tran and road travel (company cars, commercial
vehicles and hire cars), the consumption of elecricity,

gas, fuel ol and paper and the production, re-use and
recycling of waste

This was our first major step towards gaining a comprehensive
understanding of our carbon footprint Our findings from

this study showed that we generated 62,296 tonnes of CO;
in 2006, which has set the benchmark for our programme

to reduce emissions year on year

We employ around 50,000 people in the Group and as

the nature of our business involves extensive travel we are
studying the effects of our trave! policies on our carbon
footprint We have already introduced Company policies to
promote diese! powered vehicles and to reduce overall travel

QOur commnment to tackhng chmate change s also reflected
in the way we work with our customers to provide sustainable
buildings, infrastructure and lifetime faclities management
and services

Carillion’s Joint Venture business, “Aspire Defence Capital
Works’, which 1s responsible for the construction element of
our £12 billion Allenby Connaught Public Private Partneiship
project for the Ministry of Defence, won the top awards for
Sustanable Development of the Year and Best Sustainable
Inttiatve for the Public Sector, at the 2007 Building magazine
Sustainability Awards
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Sustainable Consumption and Production

Canlhon’s leadership in developing and implementing
its sustainability strategy model, which relates our
impact on the environment and on society to business
performance, has made a major contribution to the
Group's nsk management polices and processes These
address strategic nisks and those specfic to individual
businesses and contracts, iIncluding economic, soaal
environmental and ethical nsks, and are therefore
fundamental to the management of the Group at
every level of our activities

In 2007 we undertook a Group-wide customer perception
survey, which sought the views of our customers on a wide
range of 1ssues, ncluding the importance of sustainability
68 per cent of our customers believe sustanability and our
abtlity to delver sustainable solutions to be very important

We believe that our leadership in sustainability differentiates
us from competitors We seek to understand the needs of
our customers and their objectives in respect of sustainability
and use our knowledge and skills to meet their needs by
developing sustainable solutions We also seek to promote
sustainable solutions by explaining to all our customers how
a sustainable approach ¢an not only Create positive impacts
on the environment and on society, but also reduce costs,
increase efficiency and improve the qualny of the services
we offer

The Eco-Depot n York, completed in 2007 and pictured
above, 1s an outstanding example of what can be achieved
through applying the principles of sustamable design and
construction This 1s the largest timber frame straw bale clad
building in Europe, which uses 76 per cent less energy than
a traditional ar~condrioned office
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Governance
Board of Directors

01 Philip Rogerson

Chairman

Age 63 Philip was appointed to the Board in October 2004
becoming Chairman in May 2005 He s Chairman of the
Nominations Commuttee Philip is also Chairman of Aggreko plc,
THUS Group ple and Northgate plc and a Non-Executive Director
of The Dawis Service Group ple He was an Executive Director of
BG plc from 1992 1o 1998, latterly as Deputy Chairman

02 John McBenough

Group Chief Executive

Age 56 John was appointed Group Chief Executive in January
2001 having formerly been Vice President, Integrated Facilities
Management, Europe, the Middle East and Afnica of Johnson
Controls Inc He 1s Chairman of the CBI's Public Services Forum,
Vice-Chairman of the CBI's Public Services’ Strategy Board and
a member of the CBI's President’s Committee He is also a
Non-Executive Director of Tomkins plc

03 Richard Adam

Group Finance Director

Age 50 Richard Adam was appointed Group Finance Director in
April 2007 He qualified as a chartered accountant with KPMG

in 1982 and gained broad experience in a number of public

and private company finance director roles from the age of 30
Immediately prior to joining Carillion, Richard was Group Finance
Director of Associated British Ports Holdings plc He s also a
Non-Executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of SSL International plc
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04 David Garman

Senior Independent

Non-Executive Director

Age 56 Appointed to the Board in September 2004, David

1s Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member

of the Audrt and Nominations Commuttees David 1s Group Chief
Executive of TDG plc which he joined in 1999 from Associated
British Foods pic where he was an Executive Director, having
previously held senior positions in a number of leading UK

food compantes

05 David Hurcomb

Executive Director

Age 44 David was apponted to the Board on 1 January 2008
Dawvid has responsitility for Carition’s Bullding business A graduate
engineer and chartered accountans, he joined Canllion in March
2005 from Balfour Beatty Plc From 1990 to 2003, David was
employed in a number of senior positions by Mansell plc, latterly
as an Executive Director Prior to 1990, David worked for KPMG




06 Don Kenny

Executive Director

Age 53 Don was appomted to the Board in September 2006
and 1s responsible for Carillion’s Services businesses He jomed
Carifion from Johnson Controls Inc in 2002, having held a
number of senior positions in Johnson Controls and prior to
that m Mowlem plc Don was also a Director of Aspire Defence
Finance PLC, a Joint Venture between Canllion, Kellogg Brown
and Root and HSBC to deliver Project Allenby Connaught, the
Ministry of Defence’s largest Estates Public Private Partnership
contract to date

07 David Maloney

Non-Executive Director

Age 52 David was appointed to the Board 1 November 2005
and s Charrman of the Audit Commuttee and a member of the
Nominations and Remuneration Committees Dawvid 15 Charrman
of Hoseasons Holdings Ltd and a Non-Executve Director of Micro
Focus International plc, Ludorum plc and Cineworld Group plc
He 15 also Charrman of the Board of Trustees for Make a Wish
Foundaticn UK Before taking up these appointments, David
held sericr positions in a number of services sector compantes,
including Chief Financial Officer for Le Merdien Hotels and
Resorts Limited, Chief Financial Officer for Thomson Travel Group
{Holdings) plc and Group Finance Director of Awvis Europe plc

08 Steve Mogford

Non-Executive Director

Age 51 Steve was appointed to the Board in September 2006
and 1s a member of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees Steve 1s Chief Executive of Selex Sensors and
Arrborne Systems SpA, a Finmeccanica company, which he
joined n May 2007 From April 2000 to May 2007, he was a
Durector of BAE Systems plc with responsibility latterly for UK
naval sector consolidation
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09 Vanda Murray OBE

Non-Executive Director

Age 47 Vanda was appointed to the Board in June 2005 and

is @ member of the Audrt, Nommations and Remuneration
Committees Vanda I1s Non-Executive Charman of Eazyfone
Limited, Deputy Chairman Elect of the North West Development
Agency, a Director of The Cheshire Bullding Society and 1s a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Marketing Vanda was a Director of
Ultraframe plc prior to its takeover in 2006 and was previously
Chief Executive of Blick plc and until April 2007, was a trustee and
Non-Executive Director of The Manufacturing Institute She was
appointed OBE in 2002 for Services to Industry and to Export

10 Roger Robinson

Executive Director

Age 56 Roger joined Tarmac Construction as Contracts Director
N 1989 subsequently becoming Managing Director of Tarmac
Cwil £ngineering, International and Rail Roger was appointed
to the Beard of Carillion plc in May 1999 and has Groupwide
responsibitity for infrastructure, international, commercial and
health and safety matters He 15 a Fellow of the Instrtution

of Cwil Engineers and was a member of the Government
Taskforce on Madern Apprenticeships




Governance
Report of the Directors

The Directors of Canlon plc present their annual report, together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2007

The Directors of the Company at the date of the approval of this
Director's Report confirm, that, so far as they are ingividually
aware, there s no relevant aucht nformation of which the
Company’s audriors are unaware, and each Director has taken
all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to
make himself or herself aware of any refevant audit nformation
and 1o establish that the Company’s audrtors are aware of

that information

Prinapal activities and business review

Carillion 1s a leading company delivering support services,
construction and public private partnership projects throughout
the UK and in a number of overseas regional markets

A review of the Group's businesses, finanaal perfarmance and

future developments is contained in the Chairman’s statement,
Group Chief Executive's review and the Operating and financial
review

The following specific issues are discussed n the sections shown
in brackets

* the acquisition of Alfred McAlpine (Chairman’s statement
and the Group Chief Executive's review)

* key objectives and performance in 2007 and 2008 objectives
{Group Chief Executive'’s review)

s performance in the financial year (Operating and
financial review)

* treasury policy and risk management (Operating and
financial review)

* soaal, community and environmental issues (Sustainability
review)

= principal nsks and uncertanties facing the Group (Operating
and financial review)

* resources’employees (Group Chief Executive’s review and
Report of the Directors)

= financial nisk (Operating and financial review)

Analysis of turnover and net assets by business segment and
geographical location are given in Note 2 on page 68

Share capital

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held

on 14 January 2008 o approve the Alfred McAlpine acquisttion,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
525,000,000 ordinary shares of 50p each At 5 March 2008,
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company was
394,191,964 shares Carillion has only one class of shares,

with one vote for every share
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Profits and dividends
The consclidated income statement 1s shown on page 60
Profit before tax was £94 4 million (2006 £68 1 million)

A 2007 interm dwvidend of 3 5 pence per ordinary share
(2006 3 1 pence) was paid in November 2007 It is proposed
to pay a final dwidend of 7 5 pence per ordinary share

(2006 5 9 pence) on 20 June 2008 to shareholders on

the register at the close of business on 25 April 2008 The
payment of these 2007 interim and final dividends amounts
to £39 4 million (2006 £25 3 million)

A dividend remvestment plan (DRIP} will also be offered

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served during 2007 are shown
on page 49 of the Remuneration Report Biographical details for
each Director at 31 December 2007 and for David Hurcomb who
was appointed on 1 January 2008 are given on pages 38 and 39

Mr Hurcomb will ho'ld office until the Annual General Meeting at
which, being eligible, he offers himself for election Mr Hurcomb
has a contract of service which 1s subject to one year’s notice of
termmation by the Company

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Philip Rogerson
and David Garman retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting on

7 May 2008

The interests of the Directors and their families in the share
capital of the Company are shown in the Remuneration Report
on page 55

Employees
Information relating to employee numbers and remuneration is
given in Note 6 on page 74

Employees are key to achieving Carillion's business strategy and
the Group 15 committed to improving their skills through training
and development and nurturing a culture in which employees
feet valued for their contribution and are motivated to achieve
their full potential

Cardkon's core values of openness, collaboration, mutual
dependency, sustainable profitable growth, professional delivery
and innovation have been developed to emphasise the changing
working practices required to succeed in an environment where
partnership and integrated solutions are becoming the norm

It 15 Carillion’s aim to foster a working environment in which all
employees are treated with courtesy, dignity and respect Carillion
strives continually to eliminate all bias and unlawful discrimination
in relation to job applicants, employees, busness partners and
members of the public Employees who become disabled are,
wherever possible, retrained or provided with equipment so that
they can continue their employment




The objectives of Cartllion’s Equal Opportunity and Diversity
Policy are

s to have a workforce that represents and responds to the
diversity of customers and today's society

» improved safety and quality provided by a balanced and
productive workforce

* Dbetter public i/mage and market position, leading to mproved
links wrth the community in which Carillion works

* adherence to legal requrements
lower staff turnover, absenteeism and sickness levels leading
1o cost savings

* o provide a fair working enwironment in which discrimination
will not be tolerated

* 10 Create a working environment free from discrimination,
harassment, victnisation and bullying

* 1o work towards finding ways for under represented groups
to fully realise their potential within the Canllion Qrganisation
and to take reasonable steps to help such groups

* 1o ensure that all employees are aware of the Group Equal
Opporturnties and Dwersity Policy and to provide any necessary
ongoing training to enable them to meet therr responsibilities
under it

¢ Carillion plc also recognises the merit of developing a workforce
that incorporates the many diverse skills and backgrounds
available from within the total population and accordingly, will
strive to become an organisation that will recognise, value and
understand diversity and to provide its employees with genuine
opportunities to improve and reach therr full potential

Carnillton places great importance on open and regular
communication with employees through both formal and informal
processes As part of this commitment, a Group newspager,
"Spectrum’, 15 produced on a regular basis for all employees

The views of employees on matters affecting ther interests are
also sought through ‘The Great Debate’ This 1s a major exercise
which was undertaken by the Group in each of the last five years
to capture the feelings and views of as wide a range of employees
as possible These views are then taken into account i the
development of work related initiatives as part of Carillion's
strategy to become an employer of choice In 2007, around

2,500 UK employees attended 'The Great Debate’ sessions

Carnllion stages The Great Debate’ as part of the ongoing quest
for cultural change and to produce step changes which

* raise understanding of what drives motwvation, morale,
engagement and performance

+ allows employees to take ownership and be empowered 10
build and implement solutions

* demonstrates Canlhon’s desrre to change attitudes and
behaviours based on hstening to the views of its employees
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Additionally, “Team Talk’ which is hefd monthly provides Canllion
employees with a face-to-face communication with their line
managers and facilitates two-way communication, discussion
and feedback It focuses on local issues and key corporate
messages and nformation

One-10-one meetings between indwidual employees and therr
line managers are also held to discuss performance and progress

Employees can also exchange best practice information via a
Knowledge Management Forum on the Group intranet

Canlion seeks to nvolve all employees in its leading edge
programmes to integrate safety into everything 1t does and

to iImprove its environmental performance, including the
understanding and application of the principles of sustainability
Further information on Health and Safety 1s gven in the Group
Chief Executve’s review on page 18 and on Sustainability in the
Sustainability review on pages 33 to 35

Carnilion also involves, engages and consults with employees
through *People Forums’ across the Group which give employees
the opportunity to express their views on business issues
Specifically, the objectives of the "People Forums’ are to

* mprove employee information and consultation
« help employees feel more nvolved and valued
* support the continued education and development
of employees
* improve business performance by enabling employees to be
better aware of the business climate in which they cperate
+ help employees to he responsive to and better prepared
for change

Substantial share interests

At 5 March 2008, the Company had recewed formal notification
of the following persons nterested directly or mdirectly in three
per cent or more of the ssued ordinary share capital of the
Company (being the threshold for notifications of interests in
shares in the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UKLA)

Number of shares held Percentage

Schroder plc 66,441,975 16 86
Standard Life Investments Ltd 49,449,913 12 54
F & C Asset Management plc 14,247,566 361
HBOS plc 14,036,048 356
UBS Investment Bank 13,424,716 EX:Y
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Governance
Report of the Directors
continued

Policy for payment of supplers

It 15 the policy of the Group that each business agrees terms and
condrtions for transactions with rts suppliers and for payment

to be made on these terms providing the suppliers meet their
obligations to the busmesses’ satisfaction The Group as a
whole does not apply a general recognised code with regard

to the payment of all supplers The Company does not have
any trade creditors

The number of days credit outstanding for the Group averaged
59 days at 31 December 2007 (80 days at 31 December 2006)

Charitable and political contnbutions

Payments for charitable purposes made by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to £150,0600
(2006 £145,000) The prmary beneficiaries of these charttable
donations were The Wildlife Trust, Business in the Community,
the British Heart Foundation and CRASH, the construction and
property industry charity for the homeless

The Carillon Group also contributes more than one per cent of
profits per annum in cash or n-kind (staff time on community
projects) to community activities and 15 a member of the Business
in the Community PerCent Club

The Company and I1ts subsidiaries made no polrtical donations
during the period under review

financial Instruments

Information on the Canllion Group’s use of financial instruments,
financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure
15 given In Note 28 on page 93 of the consolidated financal
statements

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting wili be held at 12 noon on
Wednesday 7 May 2008 at Austin Court, 80 Cambridge Street,
Birmingham B1 2NP The notice of the Annual General Meeting
accompanies this Annual Report and Accounts

Amongst the business to be transacted are proposals to (1) renew
the authority for the Company to purchase its own shares

As at 31 December 2007, the Company had authority from
shareholders for the purchase of 28,124,273 of its own shares and
{1y amend the Company’s Articles of Association for the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006 Amendments to the Articles of
Association are subject to shareholder approval

Auditor

Resolutrons to re-appoint KPMG Audit Pic as audrtor and 1o
authornse the Directors to determine its remuneration will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Approved by order of the Board

eL‘CLa.rd Ta:plo
R F Tapp t-.\(‘/\_-d T—C,ﬁ-

Secretary
5 March 2008
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General prinaiples

The Board 1s firmly committed to high standards of corporate
governance During the year to 31 December 2007 and as
detalled below and 1n the Remuneration Report, the Company
complied with the provisions set out In Section 1 of the Combined
Code on Corperate Governance (June 2006)

Ethics and Business Integnty Pol:cy

Carilon has a clear and unequivocal approach 10 business
integnty and ethics which underlies the Canllion values of
openness, collaboration, mutual dependency, sustainable,
profitable growth, professional detivery and innovation
The Ethics and Integrity Policy demonstrates how Carillion
will conduct its business to the highest ethical standards

The policy applies ta all employees of any Cariflion group
company The way Carillion delivers this pohcy 1s and will be
reflected in the way the Group competes for business, through
the qualbty and value of its work and through the reliability
and reputation of its employees

The policy 15

* business integrity we do not gwe or accept bribes We do
not sanction or accept any illegal payments, allowances, or
gifts-in-kind We will investigate fully all alleged breaches
We will dismiss any employee who has breached this policy

* muual respect we do what we say we will do We treat
our people fairly and with respect at all umes, avoiding
discrimination and bullying We provide a safe and healthy
working envirenment, and respect sustamnable principles in
all our dealings

* trust we engender trust within our work groups and
companies, respecting diverse traditions and cultures
We respect the trust placed in us by others, not least when
we are asked to take responsibility for aspects of therr business
or resources We mamntain and demand high professional
standards and demand honesty and openness We avoid
conflicts of interest wherever possible, and we proactively
declare any unavoidable conflicts for open scrutiny and
resolution

» legalty we respect the rule of law in all our dealings
We clearly communicate procedures for disciplining those
who do not cornply with the law or our standards and policies
We maintain a system for confidential reporting of breaches
of cur standards and policies

* human rights we support the belief that human rights are
unwversal and adhere to the principles of human rights in our
operations We support the United Nations Universal
Declaratton on Human Rights

This policy is carmed into Carilhon’s business through a series of
detailed procedures They allow Carillion to carry into practice
its reputation for conducting business to the highest ethical
standard which 15 essential to its relationships with customers,
business partners, employees, shareholders and the public

The detalled procedures reflect the way Carillion competes for
business, through the quality and value of its work and through
the reliabilty and reputation of its people

The Ethics and Business Integrity Policy and its implementation
i1s reviewed annually by the Board

43 Canllon plk
Annua Report and Accounts 2007

Directors

The Board

With effect from 1 January 2008, the Company is led by a Board
comprising five Executive and five Non-Executive Directors
Throughout 2007, however, the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors comprised more than half of the Board The Chairman
and each of the Non-Executive Directors are considered to be
independent of management They each have wide areas of
experience and have no business or other relationship that could
matenally interfere with therr ndependent judgement Dawid
Garman 1s the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with the Combined Code, the Executive Directors’
service contracts are terminable by one year’s notice

A detailed internal evaluation of the Board's corporate governance
procedures and compliance was again conducted in 2007 by the
Chairman in conjunction with the Company Secretary The internal
evaluation took Into account the views of each of the Directors

on {1} the role of Directors, (i) the performance of the Board, the
Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors, () Board Committees,
{w} leadership and culture, {v) Corporate Governance (w1} Directors’
remuneration, (vi) relations with shareholders and (vin) Board
accountability and audit The Board at ts meeting in Novemnber
2007 reviewed the results of the internal evaluation and, where
required, 1ssues were acted upen in order to further enhance the
effectiveness of the Board's procedures and working practices

This 1s the sixth year that this process has taken place and will
be repeated annually as the Board considers 1t satisfactory

In addition, reviews of the performance of each of the Directors
has taken place

The dvision of responsibilities between the Charman and the
Group Chief Executive has been agreed by the Board and
encompasses the following parameters

» the pnmary job of the Charman of a publc company s to
provide continuity, experience and governance while the
Group Chief Executive provides leadership, energy, magination
and the drving force
* the Chawrman is viewed by investors as the ultimate steward
of the business and the guardian of the interests of all the
shareholders Nonetheless, it 1s essential that the outline
of their respective roles encourages the Chairman and
Group Chief Executive to work well together to provide
effective and complementary stewardship
¢ the Chawrman must
- take overall responsibility for the composition and capability
of the Board

- consult regularly with the Group Chief Executive and be
avallable on a flexible basis for providing advice, counsel and
support to the Group Chief Executive
s the Group Chief Executive must
- manage the Executive Directors and the Group’s day to
day activities

- prepare and present to the Board strategic options for
growth n shareholder value

~ set the operating plans and budgets required to delwer
the agreed strategy

— ensyre that the Group has In place appropriate risk
management and control mechanisms
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The Board had a programme of ten meetings in 2007 and also
meets on an ad hoc basis as required

A formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board for
consideration and deasion 1s maintained These matters include

» statutory matters such as the approval of final and interm
financial statements and the recommendation of dividends

¢ appointments to, and removals from, the Board and the terms

of reference and membership of Board committees

approval of Group strategy and annual budgets

approval of authority levels, financial and treasury policies

authorisation for any acquisition or disposal

review of the internal control arrangements and risk

management strategies

» review of corporate governance arrangements

The Executive Directors and the Carnllion subsidiary companies
operate within clearly definad limits of autherity delegated by

the Board and any matters outside of these limits must be referred
to the Board for consideration

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who 1s
responsible to the Board for ensuring that agreed procedures

and applicable rules and regulations are observed The Board
approves the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary

Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice when necessary, at the
expense of the Company

The Board 1s provided with regular and timely information on
the financial performance of businesses wathin the Group, and
of the Group as a whole, together with reports on trading
matters, markets, sustanability and other relevant issues

Board Committees

The principal Board Comnuttees are the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit Committee and the Nominations Committee The
Company Secretary acts as secretary 1o each of these commuttees
The terms of reference of each of the Board Committees are
avallable on the Carilion website at www carillionplc com or on
request from the Company Secretary

The membership of each of the principal commuttees is as follows

Remuneration Committee
David Garman, Charman
David Maloney

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Committee consists entirely of iIndependent Non-Executive
Directors and has a key role in reviewing and advising the Board
on the appropriate remuneration for the Executive Directors of
Canllion plc Further details on remuneration 1ssues are given
on pages 48 to 55
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Audit Committee

David Maloney, Charman
David Garman

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

This Committee consists entrrely of independent Non-Executive
Directors For further information see the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 45 to 47

Nominations Committee
Philip Rogerson, Charrman
David Garman

David Maloney

John McDonough

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Commuttee reviews the structure, size, composition, balance
of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes that
are deemed desirable The Committee alsc reviews succession
planning to ensure that processes and plans are in place with
regard to both Board and senior appointments

Attendance at meetings in 2007
The number of full scheduled Board and Committee meetings
attended by each Director during 2007 was as follows

Audit Remuneration Nominations
Board Committee Committee Committee

Number of
meetings held 10 4 2 3
Richard Adam® 8 - - -
Dawvid Garman 16 4 2 3
Christopher Girling® 2 - - -
Donald Kenny 10 - - -
David Maloney 10 4 2 3
John McDonough 10 - - 3
Steven Mogford 9 3 2 3
Vanda Murray 10 4 2 3
Roger Robinson 10 - - -
Philip Rogerson 10 - - 3

™ appointed on 2 Apnl 2007
@ et the Campany on 2 Apri 2007

Other Board matters

Policy on external appointments

Recognising that external appontments can broaden their
knowledge and so be of benefit to the Company, Executive
Directors are permitted, at the ciscretion of the Board, to
accept a Imited number of such appointments and retain the
fees receved for such appointments John McDonough 15 a
Non-Executive Director of Tomkins plc and Richard Adam 1s

a Non-Executve Director of SSL International plc




Nomunation and remuneration of Directors

The appointment of a Director is a matter for resolution by
the Board as a whole, taking advice from the Nominations
Committee

For the Board appointment made 1n 2007, the Nominations
Committee used the services of the executive recrutment
consuttant JCA Details of potential candidates were provided
by JCA and initially reviewed by a sub-committee of the
Nominations Committee Meetings with selected candidates
were then held with Directors Subsequently, the Nominations
Committee met to recommend an appomtment, which was
then approved by the Board

In the case of Non-Executve Drrectors, inhial appointments are
normally for three years, re-appointment 1s subject to review and
IS Not automatic

The fees of Non-Executve Directors are determined by the Board
as a whole, taking into account the commitment required and
partiopation in the work of committees and other advisory
services In relation to the business of the Group In adwising the
Board on such fees, it s the policy of the Executive Directors to
seek independent external adwice concerning the appropnateness
of the amounts by comparison with general practice The level of
fees currently payable to the Non-Executive Directors 1s based on
independent external advice

The remuneration of the Directors 1s dealt with in the
Remuneration Repert on pages 48 to 55

Retirement of Directors by rotation

All Directors are required to submnt themselves for re-election
at least every three years The Directors retiring and seeking
re-glection at the Annual General Meeting to be held on

7 May 2008 are Philip Rogerson and Dawvid Garman

Additionally, new Directors are subject 1o election by shareholders
at the first opportunity following ther appointment Accordingly,
David Hurcomb will seek election at the 2008 Annual General
Meeting

The service contracts of the Executive Directors and the terms
and conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are
available for mspection at the registered office of the Company
during normal business hours on any weekday (bank holidays
excepted) and at the Annual General Meeting

Induction and development of Directors

Directors are provided with a comprehensve information pack
on joining the Company and are advised of therr legal and other
duties and obligations as a director of a listed company In
addition, all new Directors receive induction on their appointment
covering such matters as the operation and activities of the
Group, the role of the Board and the Company’s corporate
governance procedures Directors are also briefed by the
Company’s external advisors, where appropnate, on changes

to leguslation or regulation or market praciice as well as
receving briefings from business groups throughout the year
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At least once a year, the Board visits an operattonal site and n
November 2007 the Directors visited the Group’s operations in
Dubal Directors also visit other operations and staff

The reqular updating of Directars’ skills and knowledge 15
encouraged and a procedure has been estabhshed whereby the
Company Secretary 1s notified by Directors of therr requirements
In this respect

Relations with shareholders

In addition to communicating with shareholders generally from
time to time, the Executive Birectors and the Director of Group
Corporate Affairs meet regularly with representatives of major
shareholders in order to foster the mutual understanding of
objectives The details of these meetings are reported to the
Board The Chairman and Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director are avallable for meetings with representatives of major
shareholders as reguired

Private and institutional shareholders are encouraged to atiend
the Company’s Annual General Meeting

The Company comples fully with the provisions of the Combined
Code in respect of the notice, content of agenda and conduct ¢f
its Annual General Meetings The Chairmen of the Remuneration
and Audrt Committees will be present at the Annual General
Meeting on 7 May 2008 to respond to shareholders” questions

Accountability and Audnt

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists entirely of independent Non-
Executive Directors

David Maloney, Chairman
David Garman
Steve Mogford
Vanda Murray

David Maloney 15 an accountant who previously held a number
of senior finance posts including Chief Financial Officer for

Le Mendien Hotels and Resorts, Chief Financal Officer for

the Thomson Travel Group (Holdings) plc and Group Finance
Director of Awis Europe plk David was appointed to the Audit
Committee In December 2005

David Garman 1s Chref Executive of TDG plc and was appointed
to the Audit Commuttee in October 2004

Vanda Murray 1s Non-Executve Chairman of Eazyfone Group,
Deputy Charman elect of the North West Development Agency
and a Director of The Cheshire Building Society Vanda was
appointed to the Audtt Committee in July 2005

Steve Mogford 15 Chief Executive of Selex Sensors and Airborne
Systems SpA and was appointed to the Audt Committee in
September 2006

Appointments to the Committee are made by the Board
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The Audit Commrttee has in attendance at meetings, by invitation
of the Committee, Executive Directors, representatives of the
external auditors (KPMG Audit Pic), the Group Head of Risk

and the Head of Internal Audit It 1s also able to invite others

as 1t requires from time to time The Committee also meets
privately with both the external and internal audrtors

The responsibifities of the Audit Committee include

* the review of the annual and interim financial statements

= consideration of the impact of changes to accounting
regulations and the financial and accounting policies of the
Carilion Group

» complance with statutory and other external requirements

* reviewing the role of the internal audit function and the
results of its audit work and the response of management

* reviewing the scope and results of the external audit and
its cost-effectweness

¢ ensuring that the internal and external audit functions are
complementary

¢ monritoring the independence and objectivity of the external
auditors and ensuning that the services provided {including
non-audrt services) provide a proper balance between
objectivity and value for money

* recommending to the Board the external auditors t¢ be
proposed to shareholders for appontment

The Committee s authorised by the Board to () seek any
information necessary to fulfil its duties, (n) call any member of
staff to be gquestioned at a meeting of the Commuttee as and
when required and {i) obtain external professional advice, at
the Company's expense, which might be necessary for the
fulfiment of its duties

in 2007, the Committee met on four occasions and dealt with the
foltowing matters

+ internai audit reports including control of risk

* annual and mtenm financial statements

e KPMG audit review

* top ten risks

+ reappointment of KPMG

* 2007 audit plan

¢ nternal audnt review

¢ assessment of the going concern basis

* review of compliance with the Combined Code
* the external audit fee

The members of the Committee recerve fees as Non-Executive
Directors which also refiect their membership of the Audit
Committee and other Board committees See page 49 for details

Main activities of the Audit Committee in the

year to 31 December 2007

Financial statements

The Audit Committee reviews and discusses with management
and the external auditors the annual and intenm statements

In this context, the Committee also reviews the written reports
of KPMG on issues arsing from the annual audit and the review
of the nterim results
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Internal controls

The Board Is ulimately responsible for the Group's system of
internal control This responsibility includes clearly determining the
control environment and reviewing annually the effectiveness of
the internal control system However, such a system can provide
only reasonable and not absolute assurance aganst material
misstatement or loss

In accordance with the Turnbull Guidance for Directors ‘Internal
Control Guidance for Directors an the Combined Code’, the
Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks (both financial and
non-finanaal and including Corporate Social Responsibility risks)
faced by the Group (ncluding Joint Ventures and overseas
businesses) The process has been in place for the year under
review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report

and Accounts and is reqularly reviewed by the Board

Assurance over the design and operation of internal controls
across the Group Is provided through a combmation of technigues

* Internal Audt carries out audns to assess the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls over the key risks faced by
the business and reports its findings to management, the
Executive Directors and the Audit Committee The Audrt Plan
Is presented to and approved by the Audit Committee annually

» recommendations to (mprove the system of control are made
by Internal Audit The implementation of these
recommendations 1s followed up and reported on quarterly

¢ Internal Audit independently reviews the nisk identification
procedures and control processes implemented by
management

= a process of Controt Risk Self-Assessment 1s used in the
Group where Directors and senior managers are required to
detaill and certify controls In operation to ensure the conirol
environment in their business areas is appropriate They also
confirm annually, m writing, that risk management processes
and appropriate controls are In place and are operating
effectively

» Internal Audit advises on aspects of the design and application
of internal controls in key business projects and on policy and
procedure changes

Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee on a regular basis
The Audit Committee reviews the assurance procedures and
ensures that the level of confidence required by the Board s
obtained It also ensures the financial reporting process 1s
credible and reliable The Audit Committee presents its findings
to the Board reqularly and the Head of Internal Audit has direct
access to the Audit Committee members

Any significant internal control 1ssues would be disclosed in
this report

Risk management

The Group Head of Risk is responsible for advising on strategic
risk 1ssues across the Group, and for oversight of nsk training
The Group Head of Risk s also responsible for carrying out an
independent appraisal of all projects before submission to the
Major Projects Committee (see below) This appraisal ensures
that the differentiating factors of the Group's offer have been
properly identrfied so maximising the opportunities available,
it also involves ensuring that all inherent and residual nisks
associated with the project have been properly identified

and considered




In addition, the Risk Forum, a committee of risk professionals from
each of the business groups, meets on a guarterly basis to assess
the strategic risks facing the Canllion Group The conclusions of
the Risk Forum are reported to the Audt Committee

The Major Projects Committee, a commuttee of the Board, acts
as the sanctioning body for major commiiments and transactions
including capital expenditure, major contracts and company and
business acquisitions and disposals This committee has delegated
authority up to specified levels of risk as determined by a nisk
assessment matrix, beyond which Board approval 1s required

Practical guidance for all staff 1s maintained in Group policy and
procedure documents regarding the authonsation levels for
commitments, contract selectivity and bidding, the provision of
guarantees and management accounting as well as reporting
and resolution of suspected fraudulent activities The Board has
a policy to prosecute indwiduals found to have defrauded the
Company or its subsidiaries Learning points for management
are dentified and action plans implemented to minimise the
recurrence of fraud

Employees are encouraged to raise genuine concerns about
malpractice at the earliest possible stage and a confidential
‘whistleblowing” hotline provided by an independent thrrd party
1s avallable

Management 15 responsible for the identification and evaluation
of significant risks applicable to 1ts areas of business together
with the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal
controls These risks are assessed on a continual basis and may
be associated with a variety of nternal or external sources,
including control breakdowns, disruption in information systems,
competition, corporate social responsibility, natural catastrophe
and regulatory requirements Management s also responstble
for mely and accurate reporting of business perfoermance and
for ensuring compliance with the policies set by the Board in 1ts
areas of business Regular perfarmance review meetings are
held where management reports to the Executve Drrectors

on business performance, nisk and internal control matters

The resufts of these meetings are presented to the Board

The Executve Directors report to the Board on maternial changes in
the business and the external environment that affect significant
nsks The Group Finance Director provides the Board with regular
financtal mformation, which includes key performance indicators
and a summary of rsk These key performance indicators and nisks
are histed in the Group Chief Executive’s Review on pages 16 to

19 Where areas for mprovement are dentfied, the Board
considers the recommendations made both by the Executive
Directors and by the Audnt Committee

This report 1s reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee

Audit independence

The Audit Committee and Board place great emphasis on the
objectivity of the Group’s auditor, KPMG Audit Pic, in ther
reporting to shareholders

The KPMG audit director and manager are present at Audit
Committee meetings to ensure full communication of matters
relating to the audst
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The gverall performance of the auditor s reviewed annually

by the Audit Committee, taking Into account the views of
management, and feedback is provided to senior members of
KPMG unrelated to the audit This actvity also forms part of
KPMG's own system of quality control The Audit Committee
also has discussions with the auditor, without management being
present, on the adequacy of controls and on any udgmental
areas These discussions have proved satsfactory to date

The scope of the forthcoming year's audit 1s discussed in advance
by the Audit Commiitee Audit fees are reviewed by the Audr
Committee after discussions between the businesses and the
local KPMG offices and are then referred to the Board for
approval Rotation of audit director’s responsibilities within
KPMG 15 required by ther profession’s ethical standards The
current audrt director responsible for the Canflion engagement 1s
n his third year of signing the report There 15 also rotation of key
members within the audit team

Assignments awarded to KPMG and its associates have been
and are subject to controls by management that have been
agreed by the Audit Commitiee so that audit independence 1s
not compromised In summary, the procedures are

+ audit related services as auditor this 1s the man area of work
of KPMG and its associates If any additional accounting
support 15 required then this is considered competitively

* tax consulting in cases where they are best suited, Carillion
uses KPMG and 1ts assooates but the Group also uses other
tax consultancies Significant pieces of tax work are evaluated
competitively

* general and systems consulting all significant consulting
projects are subject to competitive tender

Other than audit, the Group Finance Director is required to gve
prior approval of work carried out by KPMG and its associates
in excess of a predetermined threshold, part of this review s to
determine that other potential providers of the services have
been adequately considered

These controls provide the Audit Commuttee with adequate
confidence in the iIndependence of KPMG in their reporting on
the audt of the Group

Health and safety

A review of the Group’s progress on health and safety 1s prowded
In the Group Chief Executive’s report on page 18 and the Group’s
Sustainabiity performance 1s contained in the Sustainability review
on pages 33 to 35

EA‘C\_UJ TQP‘O

R F Tapp
Secretary
5 March 2008
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This report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act (Schedule 7a} and Section 1 of the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (June 2006)

The Board 1s responsible for determiming policy for remuneration
of the Directors of Canllion plc and key members of the senior
management team The Remuneration Committee consists
exclusively of independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
David Garman (Charman), David Maloney, Steve Mogford and
Vanda Murray and 1s responsible for formulating policy and
recommending to the Board the remuneration of the Executive
Directors The Board determines the fees of the Non-Executve
Directors based on independent external advice

The Remuneration Committee 1s assisted in remuneration decisions
by Susan Morton, Group HR Director and by John McDonough,
Group Chief Executive The Group Chief Executive 15 consulted on
the remuneration of his direct reports and other senior executives
No Executive Director or employee is present when his or her
remunerabion 1s being discussed

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee uses Deloitte & Touche
LLP to provide salary survey and benchmarking information
Deloitte & Touche LLP. which was appomted in 2005, also advises
the Company on pensions investment but otherwise has no other
connections with the Company

Remuneration policy

It 1s the pohcy of the Company to ensure that remuneration and
other benefits attract, motwvate and retain Executive Directors and
senior managers of the required calibre to achieve the Board's
objectives, including that of achieving growth in shareholder
value Remuneration and other benefits are determined wath
regard 1o competitive market practice and, where considered
appropriate, are supported by external independent surveys

The main elements of remuneration of the Executive Directors are
basic salary and pension benefits, together with an annual bonus
IInked to the Group's financial performance and share based
incentives linked to both financial and share price performance
to ensure that the interests of the Executive Directors are aligned
to those of sharehelders It 1s anticipated that the Company will
continue this approach to the structure of remuneration for the
foreseeable future

The Group's remuneration policy Is also based upen Carillion’s
strategic objectives, which specifically include achieving high
standards in respect of sustainabilty, which encompasses Carilion’s
health and safety, environmental and social performance

Service contracts

Each of the Executive Directors’ service contracts are terminable
by one year’s notice from the Company On termination of their
employment, Executive Directors of the Company have no
additiona! enttlement to compensation for loss of their office

as Drrectors The service contracts contain provision for early
termination In determining compensation for early termination of
a service contract, the Remuneration Committee will consider the
specific circumstances together with the Company's commitments
under the indmviduals contract {including future bonuses)
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Notice
Name Commencement Penod Term

John McDonough 1 January 2001 12 months roling

Richard Adam 2 Apr} 2007 12 months roling
Roger Robinson 29 July 1999 12 months roling
Don Kenny 1 July 2006 12 months rolling

Dawid Hurcomb 1 January 2008 12 months rolking

Non-Executive Directors are not employed under contracts of
service, but are generally appointed for fixed terms of three years
renewable for further terms of one to three years i both parties
agree David Maloney, Steve Mogford and Vanda Murray are in
their initial three year terms

Basic salary and other benefits

The basic salanes and other benefits of the Executive Directors
are set by the Remuneration Committee and are determined
taking into account indwidual performance and information
provided by independent sources on the rate of salary for similar
posts in comparable companies The aim 1s to reward Directors
fairly and competitively

Other benefits typically include a company car, private heafthcare
and salary supplements in place of approved pension provision for
salary over the internal earnings cap

Annual performance bonus and deferred bonus plan

Annual bonuses are reviewed each year by the Remuneration
Committee, which sets performance targets geared to key financial
indicators and indwidual performance objectives In 2007, the
Executive Directors had the potentral to earn annual bonuses

up to a maxmum of 100 per cent of therr basic salary for
outstanding performance The bonus arrangement for 2007 set

a financial periormance target based on earnings per share and
indvidual, detalled and confidential perscnal performance objectives
that support the strategic objectives of the Company The maximum
bonus opportunity of 100 per cent comprises an annual cash
payment limited to 30 per cent of salary with a deferred bonus

of shares of the Company with a value of up to 70 per cent of
salary vesting after two years The number of shares allocated

1s determined by the price prevailing at the date the bonus 1s
confirmed and the amount by which the bonus earned exceeds

30 per cent of basic salary at the end of the bonus year in question
The shares are released on the condition that the recipient makes
funds available to the Company at the point of transfer to allow
the Company to meet 1ts tax and National Insurance obligations on
the value of the shares transferred The potential bonus avallable

in 2008 will be 100 per cent of basic salary comprised of a cash
payment of up to 30 per cent of basic salary with a deferred bonus
of shares with Company up to the value of 70 per cent of salary
vesting after two years Richard Adam will participate in these
bonus arrangements during 2007 and, for 2007 only, will be
guaranteed to receive a minimum benus payment of 33 per cent
of his annual salary




In relation to the 2006 bonus arrangement, the Executive
Directors, on 7 Apni 2007 receved a deferred bonus of shares
as follows

Number of shares

John McDonough 75,911
Roger Robinson 47,857
Don Kenny 15,794

These shares will be held in Trust for two years for John
McDoncugh and Roger Robinson and then transferred in Aprit
2009 following payment of the tax and Natonal Insurance
obligations Don Kenny’s shares will be held in Trust for one
year and will be transferred to hum in Apni 2008

Directors’ remuneration
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Pension henefits

With the exception of Richard Adam and David Hurcomb, the
Group makes contributions to a Registered defined benefit scheme
on behalf of the Executve Directors in respect of earnings up to
the internal earnings cap In addition, a salary supplement s paid
In respect of earnings over the internal cap equal to the payments
the Group would have paid to the Registered defined benefit
scheme had the cap not been in operation Salary supplements
are taxed at source For Richard Adam and David Hurcomb,

the Company makes contributions to a Registered defined
contribution pension plan {up to the internal earmings cap)

and a salary supplement in respect of earnings in excess of

the internal cap Dunng the year, the Company contnbuted
£35,220 to the Canllion Pension Plan for Richard Adam

The remuneration of the Directors of Carillion plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 15 set out in the table below

Annual

Basic performance Other Total Total

salary/fees ponus benefits 2007 2006

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

John McDonough 580 574 173 1,327 878
Richard Adam® 285 372 78 735 -
Chnis Giring® 83 - 28 111 537
Roger Robinson 3 334 24 769 547
Bon Kenny 275 270 75 620 344
Total for Executive Directors 1,564 1,550 448 3,562 2,306
Philip Rogerson 167 - - 167 125
Dawvid Garman 52 - - 52 45
Vanda Murray 43 - - 43 40
David Maloney 50 - - 50 45
Steve Mogford™® 43 - - 43 13
Total for Non-Executive Directors 355 - - 355 268
Total for all Directors 1,919 1,550 448 3,917 2,574

" Rachard Adam was appanted ta the Board on 2 Apnl 2007
@ Chns Giling left the Company on 2 Apnt 2007
3 Steve Mogford was appointed to the Board on 6 September 2006

There were no termination benefits in the year to 31 December 2007

There are no long term benefrts other than pensions (see page 50) and share incentives (see pages 51 to 54)

The auditors are required to report on the nformation contamed in the above table

Included in 'Other benefits’ is a salary supplement for John McDonough of £156,055 (2006 £117,970),for Roger Robinson of
£75,852 (2006 £15,48% to FURBS and £45,360 salary supplement), for Chris Girling £24,640 (2006 £15,070 to FURBS and
£44,100 salary supplement), for Don Kenny £53,575 (2006 £34,809) and for Richard Adam £66,175 {2006 M) in respect of salary

over the internal pensions earnings cap
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The bonus figures shown above are paid in two elements, up to
30% of basic salary 15 paid n cash and the balance in the form of
deferred shares in the Company vesting after two years The
amounts shown above were therefore spiit as follows

Cash payment Value of deferred shares

£000 £000
Executive Director
John McDonough 174 400
Richard Adam 114 258
Roger Robinson 102 232
Don Kenny 83 187

John McDonough retains the fee of £34,000 he was paid in 2007
as a Non-Executive Director of Tomkins plc and Richard Adam
retans the fee of £39,500 paid as a Non-Executive Director of
SSL International plc

Executive pensions

until April 2003, 1t was the Company’s policy to offer membership
of the Canllion *B* Pension Scheme 1o Executive Directors and
other senior employees This scheme was operational from

t October 1999 The scheme 1s a funded, HMRC Registered,
defined benefit scheme to which members contribute 7% of
pensionable earnings The main features are

* pension payable at the normal retirement age of 60
(save in cases of Ill health or early retirement)

= pension accrual rate for Executive Directors of 1/30th of
final pensionable salary for each year of service subject to
a imit on pension of two thirds of final pensionable salary

* Increases to pensions in payment (in excess of the State
Guaranieed Minimum Pension) in line with price indexation
up to five per cent per annum for service to 5 April 2006
and 2 5% per annum for service after that date
Iife assurance of four times salary
pensions payable in the event of Ill health, and

+ on death (in service or after retirernent), spouse’s and/or
dependent’s pension at two thirds of member’s
prospective pension

Directors’ pensions
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The Carilion ‘B’ Pension Scheme was closed to new entrants
with effect from 1 Apnl 2003 Pension provision for senior
managers and Executives 1s now through their existing Canllion
scheme {for current employees) or the Carithon Pension Plan

(for new employees and existing employees who opted for
membership) The Carillion Pension Plan s a defined contribution
pension arrangement that provides members with pensions at
retirement based on the accumulated value of ther notional
pension account within the plan

The current Executive Directors are subject to an internal earnings
cap and therr pensionable salary 1s limited accordingly They are
provided with additional benefits by way of a salary supplement
equal to the contribution the Group would have made to the
Registered scheme had the earnings cap not been in operation

In all cases, any contributions made to these arrangements in
respect of the year are disclosed separately above As these
additionat arrangements are lmited to the balance of basic salary
in excess of the earnings cap, bonus paid to Executive Directors
does not count towards pension benefits The Company does
not contribute to any pension arrangements for Non-Executve
Directors The Company agreed with the Trustees of the Carillion
pension schemes to continue to operate an earnings cap after
Aprl 2006 when the external cap was removed The Carilion ¢cap
commenced at the level of £110,000 for the tax year 2006/07
and will rise in fing wath the published increases in HMRC's Life
Time Allowance up until 2010 In Iine with the table below

Cap
Year £
2006-07 110,000
2007-08 117,400
2008-09 121,300
2009-10 129,000
2010-11 132,700

All the Executve Directors will be subject to this cap on salary
pensioned through the Canllion B Pension Scheme or, in

the case of Richard Adam and Dawid Hurcomb, the Carillion
Penston Pian

Pensions accruing dunng the year to Executive Directors in their capacity as Directors of Carillion pic are set out below

Increase in Increase in

accrued acerued Value of
pension pension penston Increase in
over year over year accrued transfer value
Accrued excluding mcluding dunng 2007 over year
pension at inflation inflation less member  Transfer value  Transfer value  after member
31 Dec 2007 allowance allowance contnbutions  at start of year  at end of year contributions
£ per annum £ per annum £ per annum £ £ £ £
John McDonough 27,393 5,393 4,503 57,786 346,127 433,211 78,995
Roger Robinson 66,318 7,539 5,161 72,684 974,444 1,118,668 136,135
Don Kenny 20,871 4,982 4,339 47,390 218,017 286,225 60,119

The total number of Directors to whom retirement benefits accrued duning the year was 5 (2006 4)

The audrtors are reguired to report on the information contained in the above table




Share mcentive schemes

Following a review of share incentives, a new long term incentive
plan for senior executives, the Carillion plc 2006 Long Term
Incentive Plan was approved at the Annuat General Meeting in
2006 Following the introduction of the Carillion plc 2006 Long
Term Incentive Plan, no further share awards have been made
under the existing Long Term Incentive Plan and Executive Share
Option Scheme

The objective of the Canlien plc 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan
(known mternally as the Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAPY s
to motivate employees and to encourage them to invest in the
future success of the Group It has a challenging performance
criterion which applies similarly to all participants

A Sharesave Scheme also operates to gwe UK employees the
opportunity to have a financial stake in the Company

Canlhon plc Long Term Incentive Plan 2006 (LEAP)

The Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAP) provides key persons in
the Company with the opportunity to earn a potentially higher
level of reward but only where there 15 commitment by those
mdviduals and stretching performance targets are met

Executive Directors may recewve an award under the LEAP in any
financial year over shares worth 150% of therr basic annual salary
{excluding bonuses, commissions and benefits in kind), other
senor executives may receive an award under the Plan in any
financial year over shares worth up to 100% of their basic annual
salary The extra 50% awarded to Executive Directors will only
vest If exceptional performance 15 achieved

The rules allow for higher awards, but only if exceptional
cwcumstances exist which justify a first award of up to 200% of
salary will such an award be made Richard Adam parucipated at
this level in the 2007 scheme For subsequent years, the maximum
opportunity will be 150% of basic salary

Under the terms of the Plan, awards of ardinary shares in the
Company or grants of options over ordinary shares (with a zero
or 0 01 pence per share exercise price) can be made

No payment will be required for the grant of an award The
Committee will determine the exercise price of an option which
shall be zero or 0 01 pence per share, provided that where new
Issue shares are involved, the exercise price is not less than the
nominal value of a share

The participants will not be entitled to recewe the shares for a
period determined by the Committee which i1s generally no earher
than three years from the date of award

The vesting of awards at the end of the performance period wall
be subject to the relevant participant remaining in employment
and the achievement of specified stretching performance
condrions Each Executve Director will be required to hold any
shares acguired through this Plan until the value of therr total
shareholding 1s at least equal to the value of therr annual salary
{with the exception of shares sold to meet the tax labiity on the
shares acquired through the Plan}
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The awards are subject to achievernent of a performance target
based on annual average growth in earnings per share above the
Retall Price Index The progression is linear between each of the
target levels specified

Growth in earnings per share

Growth 1n earnings per share

Level 1 RPI + 3% pa 30% vests
Level 2 RP + 7% pa 50% vests
Level 3 RPl + 12% pa 100% vests
Level 4 RPA + 25% pa Extra 50% vests

Levels 1 to 3 apply to all particpants, level 4 apples to the
Executive Directors

Awards were made n July 2006 and Apnl 2007 At 31 December
2007 a total of 1,862,063 shares were outstanding under the LEAP

Executive Share Option Scheme

Share options have been granted to the Executive Directors

and certain senior managers under the Executive Share QOption
Scheme The options were granted at an exercise price equal to
the market value of the Company's shares on the three business
days immediately preceding the date of grant

Options under the Inland Revenue Approved Executive Share
Option Scheme 1999 (which carries certain tax advantages for
UK employees) and the Executve Share Option Scheme 1999
are exercisable normally between three and 10 years after the
date of grant, subject to the achievement of the performance
condition For options granted in 2001 and 2002, the
performance condition required that the earnings per share

of Cariflion over a rolling three-year period must Increase by a
percentage that is not less than the increase in the UK Retall
Price Index over the same penod, expressed as a percentage, plus
four percentage points per annum This performance condiion
was selected in order to prowide an incentive which aligns the
interests of executves with those of shareholders in growing the
Company’s earnings per share However, as this performance
condrtion no longer compled with best practice, at the 2003
Annual General Meeting, shareholders resolved that future
options granted under both schemes become exercisable in
accordance with the following table

Average compound annual earmings

per share growth (before exceptional tems)

In excess of RPi over the three year penod Percentage of option
following grant that becomes exerasable

Less than 4% 0%
4% 30%
Above 4% and below 10% 30% to 100%
(straight-line basis)

100%

10% or more

To the extent that this performance condition 1s not met i full
at the end of the three-year period following grant, there 1s
the opportunity for no more than one re-test of performance
{from a fixed base) at the end of the following year
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Grants of options using this new performance condition were
made in 2003, 2004 and 2005

The aggregate value of options granted to an employee under
the Executive Share Option Schemes cannot normally exceed
therr basic salary m any year without the prior approval of the
Remuneration Commitiee

With regard to the options granted on 1 July 2003, Carillion met
the performance target such that 80% of the shares under option
are now exercisable Similarly, the performance target relating to
the options granted on 31 March 2004 was met such that 71%
of the options are exercisable

At 31 December 2007, Executive Share Options were outstanding
over 2,073,978 shares (2006 2,705,579 shares) under both
schemes at exercise prices ranging from 125 2 pence 1o

242 75 pence

Long Term Incentive Plan

Conditionzl awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan were
made to the Executive Directors and key members of senior
management, In recognition of the contnibution that these
ndividuals can make to the Group's success

There 1s no subscription price for the shares, the award of which
15 conditional on the Company's performance during a three-year
pericd in delivering Total Shareholder Return (TSR) against a
comparater group of comparues in the Construction and Buiiding
Materials and Support Services sectors or, in respect of the awards
made in 2005, the FTSE 250 index

The companies comprising the comparator group for Long Term
Incentive Plan awards made in January 2002 were Ameg plc, WS
Atkmns plc, Balfour Beatty plc, Interserve plc, Jarvis plc, Kier Group
plc, Alfred McAlpine plc, Mowlem plc and Taylor Woodrow plc
(Amey plc was in the comparator group but was removed as it
delisted from the London Stock Exchange i June 2003}

Canlion subsequently came second in this comparator group at
the end of the three-year performance pericd for these 2002
awards with the result that 85% of the awards vested and a total
of 172,913 shares transferred to two participants m March 2005

Following review in 2003, the Remuneration Commitiee
considered that with a comparator group of 10 companies, the
removal of one company (through take-over or otherwise) would
have a proportionately greaier impact on the extent of the vesting
of awards than if the comparator group was larger Consequently,
shareholders at the 2003 Annual General Meeting approved that
future awards granted under the Long Term Incentwve Plan would
be subject to Carillion’s TSR performance agamst an expanded
group of companies as follows

Canllion ranking at Percentage of
end of three years award that will vest
First place 100%

Straight ine vesting
between 30% at the
median and 100%
for first place
Median 30%
Below the median No award

Between the median and first place
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The comparator group for awards made in accordance with

this 2003 shareholder approval were Amec plc, WS Atkins ple,

Balfour Beatty ple, Interserve plc, Jarvis ple, Kier Group plc, Alfred

McAlpine plc, Mowlem plc Morgan Sindali pic, John Laing plc and

Serco Group plc (Again, Amey plc was in this comparator group

untit it was delisied, as were Mowlem plc and John Laing plc until !
they were taken over)

Awards with this performance condition were made on
1 July 2003 and 31 March 2004

With regard to the awards made on 1 July 2003, Canllion came
fourth in the comparator group at the end of the three-year
performance penod with the result that 61 8% of the awards
vested A total of 324,727 shares vested to nine pantcipants

on 12 September 2006 The Carillion plc share price on

12 September 2006 was 326 5p

Similarly, the awards made on 31 March 2004 came third in the
comparator group with 72% of the awards vesting A total of
499,283 shares vested to 11 participants on 2 Apnl 2007 The
Canlhion plc share price on 2 April 2007 was 402p

Awards equivalent to 100% of annual salary were also made
to Executive Directors on 15 March 2005 the Remuneration
Committee resolved that these 2005 awards will have a
performance condition based on Carilhion’s TSR performance
agamnst the FTSE 250

The performance conditions were chosen in order to align
the interests of Directors and senior managers with those of
shareholders In growing total shareholder return aganst
comparator companies and sectors

At 31 December 2007, Long Term Incentive Plan
awards were cutstanding over a total of 893,975 shares
(2006 1,696,417 shares)

Conditional awards made to Executive Directors under the Long
Term Incentive Plan are set out in the table of share incentives
on page 53 The awards represent the maximum number of
shares that could be awarded to Executive Directors under the
performance penods commencing on 1 January 2004 and

1 January 2005 The monetary value of the conditional

awards attributed to each Director was based on ther annual
bastc salary at the date of award and the number of shares was
calculated using the share prices of 143 pence and 225 pence,
the average share prices over the six weeks Immed ately before
the commencement of the respectve performance periods




Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Performance Graph

The following graph shows the TSR of Canllion plc compared wath
the TSR of the FTSE 350 Index for the period from 1 January 2003
to 31 Decernber 2007
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The FTSE 350 was chosen as the comparator group in order 1o
illustrate the Company's TSR performance agamnst a broad equsty
market Index of the UK’s leading companies

Share incentives of Directors of Canllion plc
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The Sharesave Scheme

The Company operates a Sharesave Scheme which provides a
savings and investment opporiunity for employees in the UK
The options may normally be exercised on completion of a three
or five-year savings contract, al a price equivalent to not less
than 80% of the market value of the shares at the time of grant
Options were granted in November 1939 over 6,140,194 shares,
n October 2002 over 3,995,803 shares and in Novernber 2006
over 2,580,461 shares

The five-year options granted in November 1999 became
exercisable for a s month penod commencing 1 January 2005
at an option price 109 1p A total of 983,369 shares were issued
following maturrty

The three-year options granted in October 2002 became
exercisable for a six month penod commencing 1 January 2006
at an option price of 126 6p A total of 1,829,888 shares were
issued following maturity

At 31 December 2007, options over 2,167,635 ordinary shares
of 50p each were outstanding under the Sharesave Scheme
(2006 2,580,181 ordinary shares of SOp each})

The Carlllion share option and share incentive schemes comply
with the share dilubion guidelines

The awards held by Executive Directors of the Company under the Long Term Incentive Plan as at 31 December 2007 are shown below

Mid
Long Term market
Incentve Plan share
As at awards Awards Awards/options As at pnce
1 January granted dunng vesting durmg lapsing dunng 31 December on date
2007 this year the year the year 2007 Dateof  of award
Number Number Number Number Number awand Pence
John McDonough
AP 2004 {maximum) 141,608 - 101,957 39,651 - 3103 2004 1870
AP 2005 (maximum) 151,043 - - - 191,043 15 03 2005 244 5
LEAP (maximum} 218,354 - - - 218,354 06 07 2006 3190
LEAP (maximum} - 206,773 - - 206,773 10 04 2007 4208
Richard Adam
LEAP {(maximum} - 180,629 - - 180,629 10 04 2007 4208
Roger Robinson
LTIP 2004 {maximum) 80,909 - 65,454 25,455 - 31032004 1870
LTP 2005 {maximum) 122,178 - - - 122178 1503 2005 244 5
LEAP {maximum}) 137,658 - - - 137,658 06 07 2006 3190
LEAP {(maximum} - 121,675 - - 121,675 10 04 2007 4208 |
Don Kenny
LTIP 2004 (maximum) 61,188 - 17,133 44,055 - 3103 2004 1870
LTIP 2005 (maximum) 81,637 - - - 81,637 15 03 2005 244 5
LEAP {maximum) 71,202 - - - 71,202 06 07 2006 3190
LEAP {maximum) - 98,039 - - 98,039 10 04 2007 4208

On 2 April 2007, 101,957 shares vested to John McDonough, 65,454 shares to Roger Robinson and 44,055 shares to Don Kenny
The market price of Carillion shares on 2 Apni 2007 was 402 3p The net asset value receved by these Drrectors was therefore,

respectively, £410,173, £263,321 and £177,233

The audntors are required 1o report on the information contained in the above table ‘
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The number of options aver Carnltlion plc shares held by Executive Directors of the Company under the Executive Share Option and

Sharesave schemes as at 31 December 2007 are shown below

Options Mid market
As at Granted lapsing As at Earliest share pnce
1 January duning dunng 31 December Exercise date from on date
2007 the year Exerased the year 2007 price which Expiry of grant
Number  Number Number Number Number Pence exerusable date Pence
John McDonocugh
ESOS 2001 501,930 - - - 501,930 1295 090104 0901 11 1355
ESOS 2002 254,532 - - - 254,532+ 2107 190305 1890312 197 5
ESOS 2003 150,795 - - - 150,795 1634 0107 06 010713 1590
ESOS 2004 175,229 - - 50,501 124,728 1849 310307 310314 187 0
Roger Rchinson
ESQS 2004 112,453 - 80,072 32,421 - 1849 310307 310314 187 0
Don Kenny
ESOS 2002 123,801 - - 123,801 1252 171005 171012 1280
ESOS 2003 60,709 - - - 60,709 1634 010706 010713 1590
ESOS 2004 75,716 - - 21,882 53,854 184 9 310307 310314 1870

On 2 Aprl 2007, Roger Robinson exercised an option over 80,072 shares at 184 9p The market price of Carillon shares on 2 Aprl 2007

was 402 3p The net gan was therefore £174,077

The auditors are required to report on the information contained in the above table

* The optson over 254 532 shares at an option price of 210 7p granted ta John McDonough in March 2002 under the Executve Share Option Scheme 1999 was made later in the year than had been
specified at the ume of his appaintment which resultad in an increased option price of 67 3p Therefore i order 1o ensure that ke will be in no worse nor better a pasiton a5 a resukt of the delay n the
grant a maximum cash adjustment of 67 3p per share {less tax) will be made when and if the option s exercised

There have been no changes to the interests of Executive Directors
In share Incentives and options in the penod 1 January to 5 March
2008 The performanice conditions for the options shown in the
table are as detaled in this Remuneration Report in the summares
of the relevant schemes

Employee Benefit Trusts

An employee benefit trust has been established to acquire shares
in Carilion plc and hold them for the benefit of participants in the
share incentive and share option schemes At 31 December 2007,
the Trust held 61,909 Carillion shares (2006 1,137,177 shares)

0 02% of the issued share caprtal and a nominal value of
£31,000 (2006 0 4% and £0 6million) acquired over a period In
the open market and which have a carrying value of £0 7 million
The market value of the shares held at 31 December 2007 was
£0 2 million (2006 £4 5 million)

Additionally, a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (QUEST)
operates in conjunction with Canllion in providing shares to
employees under its Sharesave Scheme At 31 December 2007,
the QUEST held 219,763 Carillion shares {2006 222,406 shares)
(0 08% of the 1ssued share capital and a nominal value of

£0 1 million) (2006 0 08% and £0 1million) at subscription
prices ranging from 115 5 pence to 296 25 pence per share,

to enable it to satisfy, as and when required, options granted
under the Sharesave Scheme The market value of the shares
held by the QUEST at 31 December 2007 was £0 8 milhon
(2006 £0 9 milion)

For details of dvidends paid to the above trusts see Note 24 to
the consolidate financial statements on pages 90 and 91
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Directors’ share interests

Ordinary shares

The beneficial interasts of the Directors and their immediate families in the ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2007 are shown below

As at As at

1January 31 December

2007 2007

Fully paid 50p ordinary shares owned Number Number

Executive Directors

John McDongugh 551,917 651,271

Richard Adam - 15,044

Roger Robinson 96,941 96,941

Don Kenny 41,318 48,832
Nen-Executive Directors

Davtd Garman 10,000 14,300

Philip Rogerson 19,630 29,630

David Maloney 5,000 10,000

Vanda Murray 11,000 11,000

Steve Mogford - -

There has been no change in Directers” interests in the period 1 January to 5 March 2008

The closing rid-market price of Canllion shares at 31 December 2007 and the highest and lowest mid-market prices during the year were
as follows

Share pnice

Pence

31 Decernber 2007 3513
High (16, 21 and 23 May) 4350
Low (20 November} 3305

Approved by order of the Board

e

D N C Garman
Chatrman of the Remuneration Committee
5 March 2008




56 Canlhon pic
Annual Repont and Accounts 2007

Governance
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect
of the Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Drrectors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group and Parent Company financial statements, in
accordance with applicable taw and requtations

Company law requires the Directors 1o prepare Group and Parent
Company financial statements for each financial year Under that
law the Directors are reguired to prepare the Group financial
statements In accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and
applicable law and have elected to prepare the Parent Company
financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards
and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Standards)

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRS as
adopted by the EU to present farly the financia! position and
performance of the Group, the Companies Act 1985 provides
in relation to such financial statements that references in the
relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true
and fair view are references to ther achieving a far presentation

The Parent Company financial statements are required by law
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Parent
Company In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company
financial statements, the Directors are required 10

* select surtable accounting poficies and then apply them
consistently

* make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent

« for the Group financial statements, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU

= for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained
in the Parent Company financial statements

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless 1t I1s inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the Parent Company will conttnue in business

The Directors are responsibte for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Parent Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 1985 They have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open 1o them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities

Under applicable law and requlations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement
that comply with that law and those regulations

The Drrectors are responsible for the mamtenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's websitte Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions




Governance
Independent auditors’ report to
the members of Carillion plc

We have audrted the Group and Parent Company financial
statemenis (the ‘financial staterents’) of Carillion plc for the year
ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the Censolidated
income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance
Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related
notes These financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein We have also audited the
mformation in the Remuneration Report that is described as
having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we may state to the
Company's members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed

Respective responsibiirties of Directors and Auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements In accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards ([FRSs} as
adopted by the EU, and for preparing the Parent Company
financial statements and the Remuneration Report In accordance
with applicable taw and UK Accounting Standards {UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities on page 56

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements and the

part of the Remuneration Report to be audited In accordance with
relevant Jegal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Audrting (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opmnion as to whether the financial
statements gwve a true and far view and whether the finanaal
statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be
audrted have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financiat
statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation We also repont

to you whether in our opinion the information gwven in the
Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements The
information given in the Directors' Report includes that specrfic
information presented in the Operating and Financial Review
that 15 cross referred from the Principal Activities and Business
Review section of the Directors’ Report

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, If we have not receved all the
information and explanations we require for audst, or information
specrfied by law regarding Director's remuneration and other
transactions 15 not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine prowistons of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of
the Financral Services Authority, and we report if 1t does not We
are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all nsks and contrels, or form an opinian on
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its nsk and conirol procedures,
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We read the other mformatien contained in the Annual Repont
and consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the audred financial
statements We consider the mplications for our report f we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenial
Inconsistencies with the financal statements Our responsibilties
do not extend to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International
Standards for Auditing (UK and Irefand) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit nciudes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report
1o be audrted H also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the Directors in preparation
of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate 1o the Group's and the Company's
crcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtan all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficent evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audrted are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other iregulanty

or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of Information in the financial
statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to

be audited

Opinion
In our opimion

+ the Group financial statements give a true and farr view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of
the Groups affars as at 31 December 2007 and of s profit
for the year then ended

* the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4
of the IAS Regulation

» the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair
view, In accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2007

¢ the Parent Company financal statements and the part of
the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Comparues Act 1985

¢ the mformation given n the Directors’ Report 1s consistent
with the financial statements

(22 Arcd P W'\G”M‘(k

KPMG Audit Pic
Chartered Accountants
Registered Audrtor

2 Cornwall St
Birmingham

B3 2DL

5 March 2008
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37

growth in underlying profit before
tax to £101 8 million
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Financial statements
Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 20064
Continuing operations Note £m fm
Total revenue 3,9517 35124
Less Share of jointly controlled entities revenue (621 0} {528 5)
Group revenue 2 3,3307 29839
Cost of sales {3,092 0y (2,789 3)
Gross profit 2387 1946
Administrative expenses (219 5) (186 6)
Other operating iIncome 3 95 19
Group operating profit 3 287 99

Analysed between
Group operating profit before intangible amortisation, impairment of goodwill and
other investments and restructuring costs 644 497

Intangible amortisation and impairment of goodwill and other investments 2 (215) (17 2)
Restructuring costs 4 (14 2) {22 6)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 2 368 316
Analysed between

Operating profit 557 477
Net financial expense (99) 80
Taxation (20) 81
Profit from operations 655 415

Analysed between
Profrt from operations before ntangible amortisation, mpairment of goodwilt and
other investments and restructuring costs 1012 813

Intangible amortisation and impairment of goodwill and other investments 2 (215) (172)
Restructunng costs 4 (14 2) (22 6)
Non-operating items 4 283 253
Net financial income 5 06 13
Analysed between

Financal Income 998 870
Financial expense {99 2) 857)
Profit before taxation 944 68 1

Analysed between
Profit before taxation, intangible amortisation, mparment of goodwill and
other investments, restructuring costs and non-operaiing items 1018 826

Intangible amortisation and impairment of goodwill and other investments 2 {215) (172)
Restructuring costs 4 (142) (22 6)
Non-operating tems 4 283 253

Taxation 7 (83) {72)
Profit from continuing operations 86 1 609

Discontinued operations 8 (76) {0 5)
Analysed between

Trading loss from discontinued operations (14) {05)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (62) -
Profit for the year 785 60 4
Profit attributable to

Equity holders of the parent 760 582

Mingrity interests 25 22

Profit for the year 785 60 4
Earnings per share 9

From continuing aperations

Basic 29 8p 21 8p
Diluted 29 5p 21 5p
From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic 27 1p 21 6p
Diluted 26 8p 21 3p
Total dividend declared for the year 10 11 0p 3 Op

{1) Restated i respect of dcontnued operations {see note 8)
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2007 2006

Note £y f£m
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 1315 146 6
Intangible assets 12 555 8 596 1
Retirement henefit assets 32 173 109
Investments in jointly controlled entries 13 1859 178 8
Other investments 14 145 150
Deferred tax assets 15 93 554
Total non-current assets 914 3 1,002 8
Current assets
Inventories 16 305 385
Trade and other recevables 18 858 7 8753
Cash and cash equwalents 19 3275 144 5
Income tax receivable 22 02
Derivative financial instruments 28 - 08
Total current assets 1,218.9 1,059 3
Total assets 2,1332 2,062 1
Liabilities
Current llabilities
Borrowing 20 {13 9) (12 6}
Dervative financial instruments 28 (0 7) -
Trade and other payables 21 (11757  (1,1958)
Provisions 22 (6 9) (2 4}
Income tax payable {2 3) (130)
Total current habilities (1,199.5) (1,223 8)
Non-current habilities
Borrowing 20 (358 5) (239 9}
Retirement benefit abilities 32 (41 6) (123 8)
Deferred tax labilities 15 (24 0) (37 9
Provisions 22 {6 7) (35)
Total non-current liabilties {430 8) (404 6}
Total habilities (1,6303) (1,628 4}
Net assets 5029 4337
Equity
Issued share capnal 23 1406 1406
Share premium 24 86 86
Other reserves 24 1500 1727
Retained earnings 24 202 4 1108
Equity attnbutable to shareholders of the parent 5016 4327
Minonty interests 24 13 10
Total equrty 5029 4337

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on § March 2008 and were signed on its behalf by

o

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Financial statements
Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006

Note im fm
Continuing operations
Cash fiows from operating activittes
Group operating profit 287 99
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 468 364
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9 5) {19
Share based payment expense 28 13
Other non-cash movements 27) 02
Restructuring costs 142 226
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 803 681
Decrease in inventories 72 -
Increase In trade and other recewvables 29) (58 O)
Increase in trade and other payables 274 732
Increase in provisions = 01
Cash generated from operations before pension deficit recovery payments and restructuring costs 1120 834
Deficit recovery payments to pension schemes {46 3) (31 8)
Restructuring costs {6 5) (18 2)
Cash generated from operations 592 334
Financial ncome receved 137 153
Financial expense paid {19 9) (17 4)
Taxation 44 19
Net cash flows from operating activities 574 332
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 295 121
Disposal of investments in jointly controfled entities 220 473
Dwidends receved from jointly controlled entities 237 157
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of 31 82 304
Acquisitton of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 3N - {122 3)
Acquisition of Intangible assets (16) {18)
Acquisition of property, piant and equipment (23 5) (38 5)
Acquisition of equity In and doan advances to jointly controlled entities (19 6) {197}
Acquisition of other non-current asset investments (10} {0 5}
Net cash flows from investing activities 377 (77 3}
Cash flows from financang activities
Proceeds from i1ssue of share capnal - 04
Draw down of bank and other loans 3098 3213
Repayment of bank loans (193 3} (276 6}
Payment of finance lease habilities {(109) 96}
Dwidends paid to equity holders of the parent (26 4) 232
Dwidends paid to minority interests (2 2) {23)
Net cash flows from finanang activities 770 100
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 1721 (34 1}
Discontinued operations
Increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 8 124 69
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1845 (27 2)
Cash and cash equvalents at 1 January 1414 1697
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 21) {11
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 19 3238 141 4

(1) Restated in respect of discontinued operaugns (see note 8)
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Financial statements
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net borrowing
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007

2006"!

fm £m

Increasef(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year 1845 (27 2)
Oraw down of bank and other loans (309 8) (321 3)
Repayment of bank loans 1933 2766
Payment of finance lease liabilities 109 96
Decrease/(increase) in net borrowing resulting from cash flows 789 {62 3)
Net borrowing m subsidiaries acquired - (126 1)
Finance lease addrtions (55) (133
Currency translation differences {10 3) 29
Change n net borrowing dunng the year 631 (198 8)
Net (borrowingy¥cash at 1 January (108 0} 90 8
Net borrowing at 31 December (44 9) (108 0}
(1} Restated in respect of drscontmued operations {see note 8)
Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006

£m £m

Net {lossygain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations 27 41
Currency translation differences for foreign operations 26 (70}
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension schemes 302 346

301 317
Taxation in respect of the above (8.3) {11 5)
Share of change in farr value of effective cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities (net of taxation) (5.3) 02
Income and expense recognised directly in equity 165 204
Profit for the year 785 60 4
Total recognised income and expense for the year 850 808
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 925 786
Minorty mterests 25 22

950 808
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Significant accounting policies

Caritlion plc {the ‘Company’} 1s a company domiciled in the United
Kingdom (UK} The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’)
and the Group's interest m jointly controlled entities

The consolidated financial statements were authonsed for issuance
on 5 March 2008

Statement of comphance

The Group's financial statements have been prepared and
approved by the Directors in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (Adopted
IFRSs'} The Company has elected to prepare 1ts parent company
financial statements in accordance with UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Pnnciples (GAAP) These are presented on pages 108
to 114

Basis of preparation

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently
in dealing with tems which are considered material in relation
to the Group's financial statements

The financial statements are presented i pounds sterlng They
are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their farr value dervative
financaial instruments, pension scheme assets and financ:al
instruments classified as avarlable-for-sale

The company has adopted IFRS 7 ‘Financial instruments Dhisclosure”
and the amendment to IAS 1 "Presentation of financial statements’
which are mandatory for years ending 31 December 2007 This has
resulted in addrtional disclosures but no impact on reported profit
or net assets

The following standards and interpretations have been endorsed
by the EU by the year end but are not yet effective for the year
ending 31 December 2007

* International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 11
‘Group and treasury share transactions’

* International Financial Reporting Standard 8
‘Operating Segments’

The Group has considered the impact of these new standards
and interpretations in future periods and no significant Impaci 1s
expected on reported profit or net assets The Group has chosen
not to early adopt any of the above standards and interpretations

Presentational changes have been made to the income statement,
cash flow statement and segmental reporting note compared
with the presentation in the Annual Report and Accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2006 in order to facilitate a greater
understanding and improve the transparency of the Group’s
reported results

Basis of Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements compnise the financial
statements of the Company and subsidiaries controlled by the
Company drawn up to 31 December 2007 Control exists when
the Group has direct or indirect power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits
from its actvities Subsidianies are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control transfers to the
Group until the date that control ceases The financial statements
of subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are prepared for the same reporting year as the

Parent Company

The purchase method is used to account for the acquisition
of subsidiaries

(b) Joint Ventures

A Joint Venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
undertakes an economic activity that s subject to joint control
with third parties The Group's interests In jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using the equity method Under this method the
Group's share of the profits less losses of jontly controlled entities
15 ncluded in the consolidated income statement and its interest

n their net assets 1s included In nvestments in the consolidated
balance sheet Where the share of losses exceeds the interest n
the entity the carrying amount 1s reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses s discontinued [nterest in the entrty 1s the carrying
amount of the investment tagether with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the entity

Financial statements of jointly controlled entities are prepared for
the same reporting penod as the Group except for

« Carllion Enterprise Ltd
* Modern Housing Solutions (Prime) Ltd

Both of these entities now have 31 March year ends

Where a Group company is party to a jointly controlled operation,
that company accounts for the assets it controls, the labilities and
expenses 1t incurs and its share of the ncome Such arrangements
are reported in the consolidated frnancial statements on the

same basis

Cther non-current asset investments

Other non-current asset investments are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets and are recognised at fair value Changes
in far value i the year are recognised directly in the statement
of recognised ncome and expense Dvidend income from
Investments Is recogrised when the nght to receive payment

Is established

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill ansing on acquisitions that have occurred since

1 January 2004 represents the difference between the farr vatue
of the cost of acquisition and the farr value of the identifiable
assets, habirues and contingent habilities of an acquired entity




1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Consideration includes the attributable costs of the acquisition
In respect of acquisitions prior t¢ 1 January 2004 goodwill s
included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents
the amount recorded under previous Generally Accepted
Accounting Pninciples

Posttrve goodwill 1s recognised as an asset in the consolidated
balance sheet and 1s subject to an annual mpairment review
Goodwill ansing on the acquisition of subsidiaries 1s recognised
separately as an intangible asset in the consolidated balance sheet
Goodwilt arising an the acquisition of jointly controlled entities

15 included within the carrying value of the investment Negatve
goodwill s recognised In the Income statement immediately

Cther intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses Amortisation 1s based an
the useful economic lives of the assets concerned, which are
principally as follows

Computer software and licences
* Straight line over three to five years

Customer contracts and lists
* Planned Mamntenance Group

Consumption of economic benefits over six years
s Mowlem plc

Consumption of economic benefs over 35 years

Impairment

Assets that have an indefintte useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested for impairment at each balance sheet
date Assets subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss Is
recogmised in the income statement based on the amount by
which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount 15 the higher of farr value less costs

to sell and value In use

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
rehably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference
to the degree of completion of each contract, as measured by
the proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the
estimated total cost of the contract

Insurance claims, incentive payments and vanations ansing from
construction contracts are included where they have been agreed
with the client

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue 1s recognised to the extent
of contract costs mcurred where it 15 probable those costs waill
be recoverable

£5 Canthon pk
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

The principal estimation technique used by the Group In
attributing profit on contracts to a particular period 1s the
preparation of forecasts on a contract by contract basis

These focus on revenues and costs to complete and enable an
assessment to be made of the final out-iurn of each contract
Consistent contract review procedures are in place n respect of
contract forecasting

When it I1s probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss 15 recognised immediately
Contract costs are recogrised as expenses in the penod in which
they are incurred

Where costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses
exceed progress billings, the balance 15 shown as due from
customers on construction coniracts within trade and other
recevables Where progress hillings exceed costs incurred plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the balance s shown

as due to customers on construction contracts within trade and
other payables

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs are expensad as incurred until the Group 1s
appointed preferred bidder Provided the contract is expected

to generate sufficient net cash inflows to enable recovery and

the award of the contract s probable, pre<contract costs mcurred
post the appointment as preferred tidder are included in amounts
owed by customers on consiruction contracts Where pre-contract
bid costs are reimbursed at financial close, the proceeds are inrtially
applied against the asset included in amounts owed by customers
on construction contracts Any excess recoveries are carried
forward as deferred income and released to profit over the

period of the contract

Revenue recegnrtion

Revenue represents the farr value of consideration recevable,
excluding Value Added Tax, for services supplied to external
customers It also ncludes the Group’s proportion of work
carried out under jointly controlled operations during the year
Revenue from service contracts Is recognised by reference to
services performed to date as a percentage of total services
to be performed Revenue from construction contracts 1s
recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
on construction contracts

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation 1s based on historical cost, less the estimated residual
values, and the estimated economic lives of the assets concerned
Freehold land 1s not depreciated Property, plant and equipment

i1s depreciated in equal annual instalments over the pened of therr
estimated economic lves, which are principally as follows

Freehold buildings 40-50 years
Leasehold buildings and improvements Perod of lease
Plant, machinery and vehicles 3-1¢ years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the term of the lease or the expected useful life of the asset
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leasing
Operating lease rental charges are charged to the mcome
statement on a straight-line basis over the life of each lease

Assets held under finance leases are included in property, plant
and equipment at the lower of far value at the date of acquisition
or present value of the minmum lease payments The capital
element of cutstanding finance leases 1s included in financial
habilities The finance charge element of rentals 1s charged to the
income statement at a constant perodic rate of charge on the
outstanding obhgations

Inventonies

Inventories comprise raw materials and land for development and
are valued at the lower of cost and net reabsable value Cost s
calculated using the weighted average method

Taxation

Income tax compnses current and deferred tax Income tax is
recognised In the income statement except to the extent that
it relates to tems recognised directly in equrty, in which case
it 1s recognised In equity

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years

Detferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet Irability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and habiiities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes The amount of deferred tax
provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it 1s
probable that future taxable profits will be avallable against
which the asset can be utilised Deferred tax assets are reduced
to the extent that 1t s no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised

Foreign currencies

In individual entities, transactions denomnated in foreign
currencies are translated into sterling and recorded using the
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated m foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date and the gains and losses on translation are included

it the ncome statement

On consolidation, the balance sheets of overseas entrties are
translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date Income statements and cash flows of overseas
entities are translated nto sterling at rates approximating to the
foreign exchange rates at the date of the transaction Gains or
losses anising from the consolidation of overseas entities are
recogrised in the translation reserve

Net investment hedging of overseas operations 1s achieved
through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies Gains and losses anising from the effective portion
of the hedges are recogrused in equity and ineffective portions
are recognised mmediately in the income statement

Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit obligations

For detined contribution pension schemes operated by the
Group, amounts payable are charged to the income statement
as they fall due

For defined benefit pension schemes, the International Accounting
Standard {|AS) 19 cost of providing benefits 1s calculated annually
by independent actuanes using the projected unrt credit method
The charge to the income statement reflects the current service
cost of such obligations and, where applicable, past service cost
The expected return on plan assets and the interest cost of scheme
liabilities are incfuded within financal income and expenses in the
Income statement

The retirement benetit obligation recognised n the balance sheet
represents the excess of the present value of the scheme liabiiities
over the farr value of scheme assets When the calculation results
In an asset to the Group, the amount recognised 15 imited to the
net total of any unrecognised past service costs and the present
value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan Differences between the actuat and
expected returns on assets and experience gains and losses
anising on scheme liabilities during the year, together with
differences ansing from changes In assumptions, are recognised
In the statement of recognised income and expense in the year

The Group's contibutions to the scheme are paid in accordance
with the scheme rules and the recommendations of the actuary

(b) Other post-retirement benefit obhigations

Certan Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare
benefits to ther employees The expected costs of providing
these benefits are accrued over the peniod of employment and
are calculated by independent actuanies based on the present
value of the expected liabilty

(c) Share-based payments

Members of the Group’s senior management team are entitled to
participate in the Executive Share Option Scheme (ESQS), the Long
Term Incentive Plan {LTIP) and the Leadership Equity Award Plan
(LEAP) In addition, UK employees are able to participate in the
Sharesave scheme




1 Significant accounting pohaes (contnued)

The farr value of the ESOS, LEAP and Sharesave schemes at

the date of grant are estmated using the Black-Scholes pricing
model The farr value of the LTIP scheme 1s estimated using a
bespoke model that factors in the probabilities of achieving

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance conditions For all
schemes the far value determined at grant date s expensed on
a strarght-line basis over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfdled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (vesting date}

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised where the Group constructs
qualilying assets All other borrowing costs are written off to
the income statement as incurred

Borrowing costs incurred within the Group's jointly controlled
entities relating to the construction of assets in PPP projects
are capitalised until the relevant assets are brought into
operational use

Borrowing costs are charged to the income statement using the
effectve interest method

Share capital

The ordinary share capntal of the Company 1s recorded at

the proceeds received, net of dwectly attributable incremental
ISsUe Costs

Consideratton paid for shares in the Company held by the
Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are deducted from
the retained earmings reserve Where such shares subsequently
vest In the employees under the terms of the Group’s share option
schemes or are sold, any consideration received 1s ncluded in the
retaned earmings reserve

Provisions

A provision Is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and where 1t 1s probable that an outflow wilk be required
10 settle the obligation

Provisions for restructuring are recogmised when the Group has an
approved restructuning plan that has either commenced or been
announced publicly Future operating costs are not provided for

Financial mstruments

Financial Instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument The principal
financial assets and habilities of the Group are as follows

(a) Trade recevables
Trade recervables are initially recognised at farr value and then
are stated at amortised cost

&7 Canllon pk
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{b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwalents are camed in the balance sheet at
amortised cost For the purposes of the cash flow statement,
cash and cash equvalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
including bank deposrts with onginal maturities of three months
of less Bank overdrafts are also included as they are an ntegral
part of the Group’s cash management

(c) Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and then
are stated at amortised cost

(d) Bank and other borrowing

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts and other loans are
recognised nrtially at fair value less attributable transaction costs
All borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost with
the difference between inttial net proceeds and redemption
value recognised in the income statement over the penod

to redemption

(e) Derivative financial instruments

Dervatves are initially recognised at farr value on the date the
contract 1s entered into and subsequently re-measured in future
penods at therr fair value The method of recognising the resulting
change n fair value 1s dependent on whether the dernvative 1s
designated as a hedging #nstrument

A number of the Group’s Public Private Partnership jointly
controlled entrties have entered Into INterest rate derivatives as
a means of hedging interest rate risk The effective part of the
change n fair value of these dervatives i1s recognised directly In
equity Any ineffective partion 1s recognised immediately in the
Income statement Amounts accumulated n equity are recycled
to the income statement n the periods when the hedged nems
will affect profit or loss The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s
the estimated amount that the Group would receve or pay to
terminaie the swap at the balance sheet date

The Group also enters into forward contracts in order to hedge
agamnst small and infrequent fransactional foreign currency
exposures In cases where these dervative instruments are
significant, hedge accounting 1s appled as described above
Where hedge accounting s not applied, movements in farr value
are recognised In the income statement  Fair values are based
on guoted market prices at the balance sheet date




68 Canllion ple
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

2 Segmental reporting

Segment information s presented in respect of the Group’s business segments, which are the primary basis of segment reperting
The business segment reporting format reflects the Group's management and internal reporting structure

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis Segment results include items directly atinbutable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis

Business Segments
The Group I1s comprised of the following main business segments

+ Support Services Rall infrastructure, roads maintenance, facilities management and other support services

¢ Construction Services UK Building, development and cvil engineenng and international regional construction
¢ Public Private Partnership projects Equrty returns on investments in Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects

Segmental revenue and profit

Year ended 31 December 2007

Operating
profit before
intangible
amortisation,
impairment and
restructuring
Revenue 055
UK, Canada VK, Canada
and the and the
Canbbean™® Middle East Total  Carbbean Middle East Total
Continuing operations £m £m £m £m £m £m
Support services®
Group 1,569 4 - 1,5694 624 - 624
Share of jointly controlled entities 2188 54 2242 110 05 115
1,788 2 54 1,793 6 734 05 739
Inter-segment 64 7 - 647 - - -
Total 1,852 9 54 1,858 3 734 05 739
Public private partnership projects
Group 09 - 09 07 - 07
Share of jointly controlled entities 153 2 - 1532 247 — 247
154 1 - 154 1 254 - 254
Inter-segment - - - - - -
Total 154 1 - 154 1 254 - 254
Construction services
Group 1,6604 1000 1760 4 123 96 219
Share of jointly controlled entities 66 2370 243 6 37 158 195
1,667 0 3370 2,004 0 16 0 254 4114
nter-segment 320 - 320 - - -
Total 1,699 0 3370 2,036 0 160 254 Ma
Group eliminations and unallocated items (96 7) - (96 7) (20 6) - (20 6)
Consohdated
Group 3,2307 1000 33307 548 96 644
Share of jointly controlled entities 3786 2424 6210 394 16 3 557
Total 3,609 3 3424 3,9517 94 2 259 120 1

(1) ncludes Rest of the Worlo
(2) Suppornt senvices excludes the results of discontinued operations as disclosed n note 8
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Year ended 31 December 2006

Operating
profit before
intangible
amortisation,
impairment and

restructuring
Revenue costs
UK, Canada UK, Canada
and the and the
Canbbean™ Muddle East Total Canbbean™ Mruddle East Total
Continuing opetations £m £m £m £m £m £m
Support services®
Group 13148 - 1,314 8 515 - 515
Share of jointly controlled entities 1383 56 143 9 71 02 73
1,4531 56 1,458 7 S8 6 02 588
Inter-segment 302 - 302 - - -
Total 1,483 3 56 1,488 9 586 02 58 8
Public private partnership projects
Group 13 - 13 71 - 71
Share of jointly controlled entities 1467 - 146 7 194 - 194
1480 - 1480 265 - 265
Inter-segment - - - - - -
Total 1480 - 1480 265 - 265
Construction services
Group 1,6255 423 1,667 8 101 13 114
Share of jointly controlled entities 115 226 4 2379 84 126 210
1,6370 2687 18057 185 139 324
Inter-segment 40 - 40 — — -
Total 1,6410 268 7 1,909 7 185 139 324
Group elimimations and unallocated tems (34 2} - (34 2} {20 3) - {20 3)
Consolidated
Group 29416 423 29839 48 4 13 497
Share of jointly controlled entrties 296 5 2320 5285 349 128 477
Total 3,2381 274 3 3,5124 833 141 97 4

{1) includes Rest of the Workd

{2) Support services exdudes 1he results of discontinued operatrons as disdosed in note 8
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2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Segmental revenue and profit (continued)

2007 2006
£m fm
Group and share of jointly controlled entities’ operating
profit before intangible amortisation, impairment of
goodwill and other investments and restructuring costs 1201 97 4
Net financial IncomeAexpense)
- Group 06 13
— Share of jointly controlled entities {9 9) (80)
Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation {9 0) 81
Underlying profit before taxation from continuing operations 1018 826
Intangible amortisation and impairment of goodwill and other investments™® (215} (17 2)
Restructuring costs™ (14 2) (22 6)
Non-operating ems" 283 253
Profit before taxation from continuing operations 944 681
Taxation 83) {7 2)
Profit from continuing operations 861 609
Discontinued operations {7 6) {05)
Analysed between
Trading loss from discontinued operations {14) {05)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations {6 2) -
Profit for the year 785 60 4
“Intangible amortisation and impairment, restructuring costs and non-operating items arise In the following segments
2007 2006
Intangtble Intangible
amortisation Non-  amortisation Nan-
and Restructuring operating and  Restructuring operating
impairment costs tems impairment € items
fm fm £m tm fm fm
Support services {(139) (05} - (119 (6 0} 03
Public private partnership projects {19) - 241 (0 4) 02 256
Construction services {42) - 42 (3 6) {15) -
Unallocated Group items {15) (137} - (13 (149 -
Total {215) (14 2) 283 (17 2) (22 6) 253
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment and capital expenditure anse in the following segments
2007 2006
Depraciation, Depreciation
ameortisation Caprtal amartisation Capstal
and impairment® expenditure and impairment®  expenditure
£m Em fm £m
Support services 283 150 235 289
Public private partnershup projects 19 - 04 -
Construction services 75 42 70 47
Unallocated Group items 91 112 55 197
Total 46 8 304 36 4 53 3

(2) Includes imparment of goodwll and other investments wathin Public Private Parinershep prosects of £19m (2006 £0 4m)




2 Segmental reporting (continued}

71 Canllion pk
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

The share of results of jointly controlled entities anses in the following segments

2007 2006
£m £
Support services 85 52
Public Private Partnership projects 94 73
Construction services 189 191
36 8 316
Segmental net assets
2007 2006
Net Net
operating operating
Cperating Operating assets/ Operating Operating assets/
assets habilities {lhabileties) assets labiies {habibities)
£m £m £m fm £m £m
Support services
Operating assets 7163 - 716.3 7615 - 7615
Investments in jointly controlled entities 44 - 4.4 21 - 21
Total operating asseis 7207 - 720.7 7636 - 763 6
Total operating babilities - (392.4) (392.4) — (420 2) {420 2}
Net operating assets 7207 (392 4) 328.3 763 6 (420 2) 343 4
Public Private Partnership projects
Operating assets 78 - 78 70 - 70
Investments n jointly controlled entrties 1349 - 1349 1308 - 1309
Tota! operating assets 1427 - 1427 1379 - 1379
Total operating labilities - (10.0) (10 0) - (22 0) (22 0)
Net operating assets 1427 (10.0) 1327 1379 (22 0) 1159
Construction services
Operating assets 7504 - 7504 8320 - B32 0
Investments in jointly controlled entities 46 6 - 36 6 45 8 - 45 8
Total operating assets 7970 - 7970 8778 - B778
Total operating liabilsties - (678 2) (678 2) - {709 9) (709 9)
Net operating assets 7970 (678 2) 1188 8778 (709 9) 1679
Consolidated
Operating assets 1,4745 - 14745 16005 - 1,600 5
Investments in jointly controlled entrties 1859 - 1859 178 8 - 178 8
Total operating assets 1,660 4 - 1,660 4 1,779 3 - 1,779 3
Total operating lrabilities - {1,0806) (1,0806) — (2,152 1) {1,152 1)
Net operating assets/(liabilities) before Group items 16604 (1,080 6) 5798 1,779 3 (1,152 1) 627 2
Group rtems
Deferred tax assetsfhabilities) 93 (24 0) (1a7) 554 (37 4) 180
Net borrowing 3275 (372 4) (44 9} 144 5 (252 5} (108 0)
Retwement benefit assets/ (labtlities) {(gross of taxation) 173 (41 6) {24 3) 109 (123 8) {112 9)
Income tax payable 22 (2 3} (1R )] 02 (13 0} (12 8)
Other net assetsfllabilities) 1165 (109 4} 71 718 (49 6} 222
Net assets 21332 (1,6303) 502 9 2,062 1 (1,628 4) 4337
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2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Geographic segments

2007 2006
£m £m

Unrted Kingdom
Total revenue from external customers 3,3854 29916
Less share of jontly controlled entities’ revenue (334 7) {260 6)
Revenue from external customers 3,050 7 27310
Total operating assets 1,3619 1,5155
Capital expenditure 221 317
Middle East
Total revenue from external customers 3424 2743
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue {242 4) (232 0)
Revenue from external customers 1000 42 3
Total operating assets 756 389
Caprtal expenditure 22 13
Canada and the Canbbean
Total revenue from external customers 186 0 1635
Less share of jointly controlled entrties’ revenue {7 5) (7 3)
Revenue from external customers 1785 156 2
Total operating assets 146 9 117 2
Capital expenditure 59 202
Rest of the World
Total revenue from external customers 379 830
Less share of jointly controlled entities' revenue (36 4) (28 6)
Revenue from external customers 15 54 4
Total operating assets 760 107 7
Capital expenditure 02 01
Consoclidated
Total revenue from external customers 39517 35124
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue {621 0) (528 5)
Revenue from external customers 3,3307 2,983 9
Total operating assets 1,6604 1,779 3
Capital expenditure 304 53 3
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3 Group operating profit

2007 2006
£m £m

Group operating profit has been arrived at after charging/{crediting)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment® 243 204
Amortisation of intangible assets 206 178
imparment of goodwill relating to jontly controlled entities - 04
Imparment reversal In respect of property, plant and equipment - 21
Imparrment of other non-current asset investments 19 02
Other operating mcome — profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (95) (19)
Operating lease charges 816 794
Foreign exchange (gainsylosses (5 6) 10
Auditors’ remuneration
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 04 05
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services
- Audtt of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 11 14
— Other services pursuant to legislation - 04
— Taxation services 03 05
- Services relating to information technology - 01
— Services relating to corperate finance transactions - 01
Fees in respect of Group pension schemes
— Audit 01 01

(1) Excludes deprecation of £04m (2006 £0 4m) relating to discontnued operations

Canlhon’s share of the fees paid to KPMG Audnt plc and its associates by Group jointly controlled entities in respect of audrt services
amounted to £0 1m (2006 £0 1m)

4 Restructunng costs and non-operating items

Restructurning costs

2007 2006

fm £m

Mowlem integration costs 95 184
Operational structure review costs 45 -
Rail activities review costs 02 42
14.2 226

Mowlem integration costs in 2007 primanly relate to property exit costs arising from a review of the Group’s requirements following
the acquisition of Mowlem plc in 2006

Following a penod of rapid growth, the Group undertook a rationalisation of the operaung structure at the end of 2007 at a cost of
£4 5 mithon

An income tax credit of £2 7m (2006 £5 0m) relating to the above restructuning costs has been included within income tax n the
income statement

Non-operating items

2007 2006

£m fm

Profit on disposal of investments in jointly controlled entrties 24.5 260
Profudloss) on disposal of busmesses 37 07
Other 01 -
283 253

Further disclosure on the Group’s sale of businesses and investments in jomtly controlled entities during 2007 can be found i Note 31
The loss on disposal of busmesses in 2006 of £0 7m relates to the closure of a small rail businesss in Norway

There 15 no Income tax associated with any of the non-operating tems in erther 2007 or 2006
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S Financial iIncome and expenses

2007 2006
£m £m
Financial income
Bank Iinterest recevable 51 80
Other interest receivable 86 73
Expected return on pension scheme assets 86 1 77
99 8 870
Financial expenses
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts {15 4) (13 3}
Other interest payable and similar charges (45) 42)
Interest cost on pension scheme labilities (793) (68 2)
(99 2) (85 7)
Net financial income 06 13
Other interest payable and similar charges includes finance lease charges of £2 8m (2006 £2 7m)
6 Payroll costs and employee numbers
2007 2006
£m £m
Wages and salaries 6499 641 3
Social security costs 634 638
Pension costs 293 351
Equity settled transactions 28 13
745 4 7415
Pension costs represent amounts in respect of the Group’s UK and overseas schemes as described in note 32 and includes £5 4m
(2006 £5 5m) in respect of defined contribution schemes
Detalled information concerning Directors’ remuneration, Including their pension benefits and long-term incentive arrangements,
15 set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 48 to 55
The average number of employees during each year, including Directors, was
2007 2006
Number Number
Support services 18,495 23,560
Public private partnership projects 41 56
Construction services 11,818 7,627
Corporate centre 392 333
30,746 31,576
UK 23,434 27,649
Qverseas 7,312 3,927
30,746 31,576

In addition to the above there are 24,727 staff (2006 14,684) employed within the Group’s jointly controlled entrties located in the

Middle East
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7 Income tax

Recognised in the income statement

2007 2006
£m £m
Current tax expense/{credit)
Current year
- UK (7 4) 32
— Qverseas 30 27
Adjustments for prior years
- K 90 71
— QOverseas {13) —
Total current tax (14 7) (12)
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversat of temporary drfferences 215 86
Adjustments for prior years 23 © 2}
Change In tax rate {08) -
Total deferred tax 230 84
Total iIncome tax expense In the iIncome statement 83 72
Reconcihation of effective tax rate
2007 2006
£m £m
Profit before tax 944 68 1
Tax of jointly controlled entities 9.0 81
103 4 76 2
Income tax at UK standard corporation tax rate of 30% (2006 30%) 31.0 229
Permanent differences 45 58
Unrelieved trade losses 40 14
Caprtal items not taxable (115) (79
Amortisation of intangible assets 03 08
Effect of tax losses utilised 21) 02)
Effect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions 1) 02
Over provided In prior years (8 0} 73
Change n rate (0 8) -
Effect of unrecognised timing differences - 0 4)
Total tax (including tax of jointly controlled entities) 173 153
Tax of jointly controlled entrties (9 0} (8 1)
Group Income tax expense 83 72

The release of the over-provision in prior years of £8 Om 1s attributable to the agreement of certain tax 1ssues with the tax authorities
The over-provision relating to prior years in 2006 of £7 3m principally arose from agreement bemng reached on various projects with

the UK and Republic of Ireland tax authorihies and the release of a potential overseas tax Itability in respect of the ownesship of Carilhon
Alawi based in Oman

Tax asset recognised directly in equity

2007 2006

£m £m

Deferred tax on actuanal gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes 91 103
Current tax on foreign exchange translation adjustments {0 8) 12
Tax recognised i statement of recognised income and expense 83 15
Deferred tax on equity settled transactions os 04

Total tax recogmised in equity 91 119
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8 Discontinued operations

The Group disposed of non-core rail activities in Sweden and Denmark in July 2007 and Pall Mall Holdings Limited and Sovereign Soft
Services bimited in September 2007 The disposal of the rail businesses m Sweden and Denmark marks the Group’s exit from activities
in the region The disposal of Pall Mall Holdings Limited and Sovereign Soft Services Limited reflects the divestment of non-core activities
acquired with Mowlem plc in 2006 On this basis, these operations have been classified as discontinued and the income statement and
cash flow statement for 2006 have been restated accordingly

The results of these operations in total, which were previously reported 1n the support services segment, were as follows

2007 2006
£m £m
Revenue 649 810
Cost of sales (59 5) (72 9)
Gross profit 54 81
Admuinistrative expenses {6 6) 87
Operating loss (12} {6
Net financial ncome - 01
Loss before tax (12) {0 5)
Taxation {02) -
Trading loss for the year (14) (0 5)
Loss on disposal (6 2) -
Loss from discontinued operations {7 6) (05)
The disposal of discontinued operations had the following effect on the financial position of the Group
Net assets and liabilities disposed
Carrying
value
£m
Property, plant and equiprent {13)
Intangible assets (19 6)
Deferred tax assets (03)
Inventories {03)
Trade and other recevables (182)
Cash and cash equivalents (29)
Current borrowing 12
Trade and other payables 150
Income tax payable 04
Net assets disposed of (26 0}
Consideration recevable (net of disposal costs of £5 4m) 198
Loss on disposal (62}

The consideration receivable of £19 8m was satisfied in cash and has been reflected in the cash flow staterment within net cash flows
from investing activities of discontinued operations as follows

2007

£Em

Cash receved 248

Disposal costs paid {11)

237

Cash and cash eguvalents disposed of n

Net cash inflow on disposal of discontinued operations 220
The net cash flows relating to discontinued operations dunng the year are as follows

2007 2006

£ £m

Net cash (outflowyinflow from operating actvities 93) 75

Net ¢ash nflowXoutflow) from nvesting activities 217 {06)

Increase in cash and cash equivatents from discontinued operations 124 69
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9 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of earmings per share for the year ended 31 December 2007 1s based on the profit attnbutable to equity helders of the
parent of £76 Om (2006 £58 2m) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1s5ue of 280 6m (2006 269 5m), calculated

as follows

In millions of shares 2007 2006
lssued ordinary shares at 1 January 2812 2149
Effect of own shares held by Employee $hare Ownership Plan and Qualfying Employee Share Ownership Trust (06) (19
Effect of shares issued in the year - 56 5
Wetghted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 280 6 269 5

(b) Underlying performance

A reconciiation of profit before taxation and basic earmings per share, as reported 1n the ncome statement, to underlying profit before
taxation and earmings per share 15 set out below The adjustments made in arrmng at the underlying performance measures are made

to illustrate the mpact of non-trading and non-recurring items

2007 2006
Profit Profrt
before tax Tax before tax Tax
£m £m £m £m
Profit before taxation - continuing operations
Profit before taxation as reported in the income statement 944 83 68 1 72
Restructuring costs 142 27 226 SO
Amartisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 196 73 168 44
Imparrment of goodwill and other investmenis 1.9 - 04 -
Profit on disposal of investments and businesses (28 3) - (25 3) -
Underlying profit before taxation — continuing operations 101.8 183 8286 16 6
Underlying taxation {18 3) (16 6)
Minority Interests (25) (2 2)
Underlying profit attrbutable to shareholders - continuing operations 810 638
Underlying loss attributable to shareholders — discontinued operations (7 6) (O 5)
Undertying profit attnbutable to shareholders - continuing and
discontinued operations 734 633
2007 2006
Pence per Pence per
share share
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share — continuing and discontinued operations 271 216
Restructuring costs 41 65
Amortisation of ntangible assets ansing from business combinations 44 46
Impairment of goodwill and other investments 07 02
Profit on disposal of investments and businesses (101 04
Underlying basic earnings per share — continuing and discontinued operations 262 235
Discontinued operations 27 02
Underlying basic earnings per share - continuing operations 289 237
Diluted earnings per share — discontinued operations (2.7) 0 2)
(¢} Diluted earmings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share I1s based on profit as shown in note 9(b) and a weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding calculated as follows
In millions of shares 2007 2006
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 280.6 269 5
Effect of share options in issue 30 31
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {diluted) at 31 December 283.6 2726
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10 Dwvidends
The following dividends were paid by the Company
2007 2006
Pence per Pence per
£m share fm share
Previous year final dmdend 166 59 145 52
Current year intenm dividend 98 35 87 31
264 94 232 83
The following dwvidends were proposed by the Company
2007 2006
Pence per Pence per
£m share £m share
Interim 98 35 87 31
Final 296 75 166 59
394 110 253 90

The final dwmidend for 2007 of 7 5 pence per share was approved by the Board on 5 March 2008 and will be paid on 20 June 2008
1o shareholders on the register on 25 April 2008 The amount expected to be paid in respect of the 2007 final dvidend of

£29 6m includes the dividend payable on 112 9m new Carillion shares 1ssued following the acquisition of Alfred McAlpine plc on
12 February 2008

11 Property, plant and equipment

Plant,
Land and equipment
buwldings and vehicles Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2007 293 1276 1569
Additions 36 255 291
Disposals (17 5) (41 9) (59 4)
Reclassification from mtangible assets 26 (13} 13
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 08 95 103
At 31 December 2007 18 8 1194 1382
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 48 55 103
Deprecration charge for the year 22 225 247
Disposals (5.0) (26 2) (z312)
Reclassification 0.2 02) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 03 26 29
At 31 December 2007 25 42 67
Net book value
At 1 January 2007 245 1221 146 6

At 31 December 2007 163 1152 1315
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11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Plant,
Land and equipment
builldings and vehicles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2006 171 94 3 114
Acquisitions 124 142 266
Additions 59 46 6 525
Disposals 70 (192) (26 2)
Redlassification 17 {17 -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 0 8) (6 6) (7 4)
At 31 December 2006 29 3 1276 156 9
Bepreciation and impatrment losses
At 1 January 2006 43 62 105
Depreciation charge for the year 19 189 208
Imparment reversal (11 (10 21)
Disposals (0 8) {15 2) (16 0)
Reclassification 09 09 -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 04 (25 29
At 31 December 2006 48 55 103
Net book value
At 1 January 2006 128 881 100 9
At 31 December 2006 245 1221 146 6

Acguisitions in 2006 of £26 6m relate to the acquisition of Mowlem plc

Included in the net book value of plant, equipment and vehicles 1s £40 9m (2006 £46 8m) in respect of assets held under finance leases

and hire purchase contracts The leased equipment secures lease obhgations as disclosed in note 20
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12 Intangible assets

Customer  Total ansing Computer
contracts and from business software
Goodwill Iists combinations  and licences Total
£m £m fm £m fm

Cost
At 1 January 2007 484 4 1256 6100 101 620 1
Additions - - - 16 16
Disposals (18 0) (30) (210} ((1R]] 211)
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment - - - (13) (13)
Exchange rate changes - - - 01 01
At 31 December 2007 466 4 1226 589 0 104 599 4
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 - 193 193 47 240
Amortisation for the year - 196 196 10 206
Disposals - {09) {(09) (0 1) {10)
At 31 December 2007 - 380 380 56 43 6
Net book value
At 1 January 2007 484 4 1063 590 7 54 596 1
At 31 December 2007 466 4 846 5510 48 555 8
Cost
At 1 January 2006 536 62 59 8 87 68 5
Acquisitions (see note 31) 4308 1190 543 8 - 549 8
Additions - 04 04 14 18
At 31 December 2006 484 4 1256 6100 101 6201
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2006 - 25 25 37 62
Amortisation for the year - 168 168 10 178
At 31 December 2006 - 193 193 47 240
Net book value
At 1 January 2006 536 37 573 50 623
At 31 December 2006 484 4 106 3 590 7 5S4 596 1

Goodwill of £430 8m and customer contracts and lists of £119 Om arose in 2006 on the acquisition of Mowlem plc as disclosed

N note 31
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12 intangible assets {continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwaill
The following units have significant amounts of goodwill

2007 2006
Rall Projects 121 121
Crtex Management Services contracts 70 70
Planned Maintenance Group 345 345
Regional Building 1220 1220
Regional Cmil Engineering 700 700
Facilities Management 978 978
Facilities Services 420 42 0
Rall 400 400
National Building 410 410
Pall Mall (sold September 2007) 180

466 4 484 4

In 2007, as in each year or whenever events or a change in the economic environment indicates a risk of impawrment, in accordance with
IAS 36, the Group has reviewed the value of goodwill balances allocated to s cash-generating units In the absence of any identified
impairment nsks, tests were performed based on internal valuations of each cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of goodwill attaching to cash-generating units i1s based on value In use calcutations using discounted cash
flows Those calculations use cash flows based on three-year business plans and forecasts and a perpetual growth rate of five per cent
{2006 five per cent} thereafter, discounted at the Group’s estimated weighted average cost of capital of 12 0 per cent (2006 95 per cent)

As at 31 December 2007, based on internal valuations, Carillion plc management concluded that the recoverable value of the cash
generating units tested exceeded their carrying amount

Amortisation charge

The amortisation charge of £20 6m (2006 £17 8m) 1s recognised 1n administrative expenses in the Income statement Amortisation
of the ntangible asset of £119 Om arising on the acquisition of Mowlem plc is in Ine with the expected discounted cash flows
ansing from the intangible asset and will be 79 per cent complete by 2016 The remaining amortisation charge 1s incurred over the
following 25 years
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continued

13 Investments in jointly controlled entities

Equity

Loan

Total

investments advances investments Goodwll Tatal
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2007 179 427 160 6 11 1617
Exchange rate movements 15 - 15 - 15
Equity investments 717 - 77 - 77
Disposals - (7 5} (75) 1 (86)
Net loans advanced - 117 117 - 17
At 31 Becember 2007 127 1 46 9 174 0 - 1740
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2007 182 - 182 - 182
Share of results for the year after taxation 368 - 368 - 368
Share of change In farr value of cash flow hedges (net of tax) (53) - (53) - (53)
Distributions received (380) - (38 0) - (38 0)
Disposals 01 - 01 - 01
QOther movements 01 - 01 - 01
At 31 December 2007 119 - 19 - 119
Impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 - - - 11 11
Disposals - - - {11) (1.1)
At 31 December 2007 - - — - -
Net book value
At 1 January 2007 136 1 az7 178 8 — 178 8
At 31 December 2007 1390 469 1859 - 185 9
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Equity investments of £7 5m, includes £7 3m paid in cash relating to the acquistion of 25 per cent interests in a number of development
jointly controlled entities in Canada Mo goodwill arose on any of these investments During the year, the Group disposed of a portfolio

of PPP investments as disclosed in note 31

Equity Loan Total
Investments advances Investments Goodwill Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2006 309 248 557 11 568
Exchange rate movements (0 6) - 086 - (0 6)
Acquisitions (see note 31) 94 2 132 107 4 - 107 4
Equity investments 88 - 88 - 88
Disposals (147 (6 2) (20 9) - (20 9}
Net loans advanced - 109 109 - 109
Other movements 07 - (07) - {0 7)
At 31 December 2006 1179 427 160 6 11 1617
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2006 66 - 66 - 66
Exchange rate movements (18) - (18) - {18)
Share of results for the year after taxation 3t6 - 316 - 316
Share of change mn farr value of cash flow hedges (net of tax) 02 - 02 - 02
Disposals 27 - @27 - 27
Distributions received {157) - {15 7) - {15 7)
At 31 December 2006 18 2 - 18 2 - 18 2
Imparment losses
At 1 January 2006 - - - 07 07
Impairment charge - - - 04 04
At 31 December 2006 — - - 11 11
Net book value
At 1 January 2006 375 248 62 3 04 627
At 31 December 2006 136 1 427 1788 - 178 8
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13 Investments in jointly controlled entities (continued)
The Group’s aggregate share of net assets of jointly controlled entrties i1s analysed below Borrowings within jointly controlled entities
amounting to £1,683 1m {2006 £1,557 1m) are without recourse to the Canllion Group

2007 2006
PPP PPP
projects Other Total projects Other Total
£m £m fm fm fm fm
Non-current assets 2022 110 2132 647 77 724
Cash 1970 185 2155 2176 67 224 3
Qther current assets 14539 2784 1,7323 1,4199 192 1 16120
Share of gross assets 1,853 1 3079 2,1610 1,702 2 2065 1,908 7
Current borrowing 94) (56) {15 0) {32 6) (0 3) (32 9}
Current labilities 667 (2391) {305 B) {61 2} {128 5} (189 7}
Non-current borrowing {1,655 9) (122) (1,6681) (1,496 4) (27 8y (1,524 2)
Non-current habilities on - {01) {0 4) (20} (2 4)
Provisions (16 9) - {16 9) {12 0) - (12 0)
Share of gross habilities (1,749 0) {256 9) (2,0059) (1,6026) (1586) (1,7612)
Share of net assets excluding denvatives 1041 510 1551 936 479 1475
Financial instrument derivatives (16 1) - (16 1) {11 4) - {11 4)
Share of net assets 830 510 1390 88 2 479 136 1
Loan advances 46 9 - 469 427 - 427
Total investment in jointly controlled entities 1349 510 185 9 1309 47 9 178 8

Non-current assets and other current assets within PPP projects include cumulative capitalised interest amounting to £3 8m
(2006 £3 8m) and £70 5m (2006 £62 6m) respectively

Financial instrument denvatives within PPP projects relate to interest rate swaps entered into by the jointly controlled entrties concerned
as a means of hedging interest rate risk and are stated net of deferred tax In accordance with IAS 39, these dernvatives are accounted
for as cash flow hedges with movements in fair value each year recognised in the hedging reserve

14 Other investments

£m
Fair value
At 1 January 2007 152
Additions 16
Disposals (03}
Exchange rate movements 01
At 31 December 2007 16 6
Impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 02
Impairment charge 19
At 31 December 2007 21
Net book value
At 1 Janvary 2007 150
At 31 December 2007 145

Other investments relate to non-quoted equrty instruments and are classified as avallable-for-sale assets and recognised at fair value
Fair value 1s calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows anising from the investments at a discount rate of 12 0 per cent

During the year an impairment charge of £1 9m has been recognised within administratve expenses n the income statement following
a reassessment of fair value by the Directors
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fm
Far value
At 1 January 2006 47
Acquisitions (see note 31) 100
Additons 05
At 31 December 2006 152
Imparment losses
At 1 January 2006 -
Imparment charge 02
At 31 December 2006 02
Net book value
At 1 January 2006 47
At 31 December 2006 150
15 Deferred tax assets and habilrties
Recognised deferred tax assets and habilities
Deferred tax assets and labilities are attnbutable to temporary differences relating to the following
Assets Labil Net
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £fm £m £m £rm fm
Property, plant and equipment 34 42 - - 34 472
Intangible assets - - (23.5) (31 3} (23 5) (31 3)
Other investments - - {0.4) 04 (04) {0 4)
Employee benefits 152 407 {4.7) {(36) 105 371
Working caprtal 23 64 - - 23 64
Other items - - (7.0) {80) (7 0} (8 0)
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised - 100 - - - i00
Tax assetsAliatilities) 209 613 (356) 43 3) (14 7} 180
Set off of tax (11 6) {59) 11.6 59 - -
Net tax assets/(liatulities) 93 55 4 {24 0) {37 4) (14 7) 180
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15 Deferred tax assets and liabilties (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised n respect of the following items

2007 2006
£m £m
Tax losses 650 631

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation Deferred tax assets have not been recognised i respect of these losses due
1o the lack of certainty concerning the quantum and timing of future years' taxable profits of the companies concerned

Deferred tax includes a lability associated with temporary differences arnising from unremitted earnings from investments 1n overseas
subsicharies, branches and jointly controlled entities of £7 Om (2006 £5 7m)

Movement in temporary differences durnng the year

Balance Recogrised  Recognised Balance

1Jan 07 Disposals In ncome In equrty 31 Dec 07

£m £m £m £fm £m

Property, plant and equipment 42 - (0.8) - 34
Intangible assets (313) 05 73 - (23 5)
Cther investments (04) - - - (04
Employee benefits 371 - (17 5) (91) 105
Working caprtat 64 (03} (38) - 23
Other rtems (80) - 10 - (70)
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 100 - (10 0) - -
Equity-settled transactions - - 08 (0 8) -
180 02 (23 0) {99) (14 7)

Balance Recognised Recognised Bakance

1 Jan 06 Acquistticns " ncome n equity 31 Dec 06

£m Em £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 22 29 (09 - 42
Intangible assets - (357 a4 - {31 3)
Other mnvestments (0 4) - - _ )
Employee benefits 204 349 (79) (10 3) 371
Working capnal 107 (6 0) 17 - 64
Other items 37 18 61 - (8 0
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised - 100 - - 100
Equity-settled transactions - - 04 0 4) -
292 79 (84) (107) 18 0

16 Inventories

2007 2006

£m fm

Raw materials and consumables 130 120
Development work in progress 175 265
305 385

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was £29 6m (2006 £16 9m) and the amount of any write down of
Inventories recognised as an expense was £0 3m (2006 £0 4m)
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17 Construction contracts

Contracts i progress at the balance sheet date

2007 2006

£m £m

Due from customers for contract work 508 8 562 5
Due to customers for contract work {256 9} (169 6)

The aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profits (less recognised losses) for all contracts in progress at the balance
sheet date was £4,331 Om (2006 £2,768 ém) Advances receved from customers relating to contracts in progress amounted to
£169 7m (2006 £112 1m)

The amount of contract revenue recagmised in the year amounted to £2,183 5m (2006 £2,021 2m)

18 Trade and other receivables

2007 2006

£m im

Trade recevables 182 6 1356
Amounts owed by customers on construction contracts 508 8 562 5
Other recewables and prepayments 111 1172
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entities 341 360
Amounts owed under jointly controlled operations 221 240
858 7 8753

At 31 December 2007, retentions of £69 2m (2006 £67 9m) relating to construction contracts and amounts recoverable after more
than one year of £358m (2006 £45 Sm} are included above

19 Cash and cash equivalents and net borrawing

Cash and cash equivalents and net borrowing comprise

2007 2006

£m fm
Cash and cash eguvalents 3275 144 5
Bank overdrafts {(37) {31)
Net cash and cash equivalents 3238 1414
Bank loans (306 6) {190 7)
Finance lease obligations (48.1} 479
Cther loans {14.0} {10 8)

Net borrowing (44 9) {108 0}
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20 Borrowing

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrewings For more information
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 28

2007 2006
£m fm
Current habilities

Bank overdrafts 37 31
Finance lease obligations 65 49
Other loans 37 46
139 126

Non-current llabilities
Bank loans 306 6 190 7
Finance {ease obligaticns 416 430
Other loans 103 62
3585 2399
Total borrowing 3724 2525

All bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured and bear interest at floating rates Iinked to London Interbank Offered Rate Other loans and

finance lease obligations are secured on the assets 1o which they relate

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows

Mimum Mirimum
lease fease
payments Interest Prinapal payments Interest Principal
2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006
Em £m £m fm £m £m
Less than one year 89 (24) 65 72 (23 49
Between one and five years 378 {6 6) 312 331 (7 6) 255
More than five years 115 {11) 104 185 {1 0} 175
58 2 {10 1} 481 58 8 (10 9) 47 9
Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable
21 Trade and other payables
2007 2006
£fm fm
Trade payables 4780 5846
Amounts owed to customers on construction contracts 2569 165 6
Other tax and sociat security costs 403 350
Amounts owed to Jointly controlled entities 216 461
Amounts owed under jomtly controlled operations 49 01
QOther creditors 98 0 897
Accruals and deferred income 276 0 2707
11757 1,195 8
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Onerous

Restructuning leases Total

£m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2007 06 53 59

Provisions created 45 32 77

Balance at 31 December 2007 51 85 136
Disclosed within

Current habilities 51 18 69

Non-current habilities - 67 67

51 85 136

The restructuring provision at 1 January 2007 relates pnmarily to property exit costs assocated with a review of the enlarged Group's
requirements following the acquisition of Mowlem plc and 15 expected to be utilised In the next 12 months The restructuring provision
created n the year of £4 5m arises from a rationalisation of the operating structure at the end of 2007

The onerous lease provision relates 1o a number of onerous leases acquired with Mowlemn plc and has been increased by £3 2m in the
year n relation to the former Mowlem Head Office The provision 15 expected to be utilised over a period of eight years

Onerous
Restructuning leases Total
£m £m E£m
Balance at 1 January 2006 - - -
Acquisstions {see Note 31) - 17 17
Provisions created 06 37 43
Provisions uttised dunng the year — {0 1) {© 1)
Balance at 31 December 2006 06 53 59
23 Share capital
2007 2006
£m £m
Authonsed
423,000,000 (2006 423,000,000} ordnary shares of SO0p each 2115 2115
Issued and fully pard
2007 2006
Number Number
milhon £m million £m
At 1 January 2812 1406 2149 107 4
New share caprtal subscribed - - 66 3 332
At 31 December 2812 1406 2812 140 6
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90 Canllion ple
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Equity
Share Share Translation Hedging Fairvalue  Merger Retained h:l::r:‘ Minonty Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings funds interests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £fm
At 1 January 2007 1406 B6 (34) {9 6) 09 1848 1108 4327 10 4337
Total recogrised income and expense - - 07 {53) - - 971 925 25 950
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - - 09 09 - 09
Equity settled transactions
{net of deferred tax) - - - - - - 20 20 - 20
Transfer to income statement - - 01 - - - - (01) - {01)
Transfer between reserves - - - 06 - (18 6) 180 - - -
Dwidends paid - - - - - - (264) (264) {22) {286)
At 31 December 2007 140 6 86 (28) (143} 09 1662 2024 5016 13 5029
At 1 January 2006 107 4 82 07 {10 8) 09 82 341 148 7 11 1498
Total recognised income and expense - - 4 1) 02 - - 825 786 22 808
New share capital subscribed 332 04 - - - 1913 - 2249 - 2249
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - - 28 28 - 28
Equity settled transactions
{net of deferred tax) - - - - - - 09 09 - 09
Transfer between reserves - - - 10 - (14 7) 137 - — -
Dwvidends paid - - - - - - 232y (232 (23) (255)
At 31 December 2006 140 6 86 34) (9 6) 09 184 8 1108 4327 10 4337

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the transtation of the financial statements of foreign

operations that are not integral to the operations of the Group, as well as from the transiation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net
investment in foreign cperations The translation reserve also ncludes any related current taxation

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in farr value of cash flow hedging instruments related
to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred, together with any related deferred taxation

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the farr value of available-for-sale nvestments until the investment 1s

derecognised, together with any refated deferred taxation

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arose on the demerger from Tarmac plc on 29 July 1999 The reserve increased on the acquisition of Mowlem plc

on 23 February 2006 whereby the consideration included the 1ssue of 66 2m Carillion shares The Group has credited the merger
reserve as permitted by The Companies Act 1985 and prior year information has been restated accordingly The £18 6m transfer to

the retained earnings reserve during the year represents the amortisation of intangible assets recognised on the Mowlem acguisition

Retained earnings

Retained earnings include the reserve for the Company’s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company's shares he!d by the
Carilhon Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP} The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the
Group's share incentive schemes The movements in the reserve for own shares included within retained earnings are as follows

2007 2006

£m fm

Balance at 1 January (16) 47
Share options exercised by employees (exercise price) 09 28
LTIP options exercised (transfer to retained earnings) - 03
Balance at 31 December 07) {16)

At 31 December 2007, the ESOP held 61,909 (2006 1,137,177} of the Company's shares The ESOP has elected to warve all dvdends
except for a total payment of 1p at the time each dwidend 1s paid
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In addition to the ESOF, the Company has also established a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust {'Quest’) During the year, 2,643
ordinary shares n the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to employees of the Group following the exercise of options under
the Sharesave Scheme At 31 December 2007 the total number of shares held under the QUEST amounted to 219,763 (2006 222,406}
and had a market value of £0 8m (2006 £0 9m) The QUEST has elected to warve all dividends in excess of 0 01 pence per share

25 Reconaliation of movements in consolidated equity shareholders’ funds

2007 2006

£m im
Recognised income and expense 925 786
New share capital subscribed - 2249
Share options exercised by employees 09 28
Equity-settled transactions (net of deferred tax) 20 09
Transfer to Income statement (01) -
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (26 4) 232)
Net addition to equity shareholders’ funds 689 2840
Opening equity shareholders’ funds 4327 148 7
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 5016 4327

26 Share-based payments
The Group has established a share option programme that entrtles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares
in the entity Full details of each option scheme can be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 48 to 55

The recognition and measurement prnciples in IFRS 2 have not been applied to grants of options before 7 November 2002 in accordance
with the transitional provisions in IFRS 1 and IFRS 2

The terms and conditions of option schemes within the scope of IFRS 2 are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physica
delivery of shares

Number of Contractual Iife Exercise
Grant date instruments Vesting condittons of options pnce
ESOS option grant at 1 July 2003 384,741 Three years of service and increase 10 years 163 4p

in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 4%
over a roling three-year perod
ESOS option grant at 31 March 2004 282,026 Three years of service and mcrease 10 years i84 9p
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 4%
over a rolling three-year penod
LTIP option grant at 15 March 2005 993,975 Three years of service based on 3years nil
Total Shareholders Return compared
0 comparator group
£S0S option grant at 15 March 2005 204,076 Three years of service and increase 10 years 242 75p
In EPS of RPI plus a mimmum of 4%
over a rolling three-year pernod
LEAP option grant at 6 July 2006 920,817 Three years of service and increase 3 years nil
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 3%
over a rolling three-year penod
Sharesave option grant at 8 November 2006 2,167,635 Three years of service 3 years 3375p
LEAP option grant at 10 April 2007 941,246 Three years of service and increase 3 years rul
in EPS of RPI plus a minmum of 3%
over a rolling three-year period

Total share options 5,894,516

In addition to the above, the Group has four ESOS option schemes which have a grant date before 7 November 2002 The total number
of options outstanding at 31 December 2007 for these schemes amounted to 1,010,733 {2006 1,010,733) wrth a remaining contractual
Iife of erther three or four years
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26 Share-based payments (continued)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of all of the Group’s share options is as follows

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exerose pnee of options
2007 2007 2006 2006
Qutstanding at the beginning of the period 1693p 7,903,274 108 8p 7,509,018
Forferted during the period 2110p (975,701) 882p (468,566)
Exercised during the period 891p (963,570) 116 7p (2.638,456)
Granted during the period - 941,246 2487p 3,501,278
Qutstanding at the end of the period 1516p 6,905,249 169 3p 7,903,274
Exercisable at the end of the penod 158 5p 1,677,500 158 5p 1,469,413

The range of option prices for those options exercisable at the end of the period 1s 125 2 — 210 7p and the weighted average remaining
contractual term for these options exercisable 1s four years

The farr value of services receved in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted The estimate of the fair value of the services receved 15 measured based on a Black-Scholes mode! in respect of the ESOS,
Sharesave and LEAP and a TSR model in respect of TIP using the following assumptions

2007 2006 2006 2005 2005

LEAP Sharesave LEAP LTIP ESQS
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Far value at grant date 392 0p 102 0p 295 0p 149 Op 76 Op
Share price at grant date 421 0p 3850p 3190p 245 0p 245 0p
Exercise price - 337 5p - - 243 0p
Expected volatility 2197% 27 44% 28 55% 40 07% 40 05%
Option hfe 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 4 years
Expected dvidend yield 2 34% 245% 2 58% 255% 2 55%
Risk-free interest rate {based on national government bonds) 535% 5 0% 4 8% n/a 4 86%

The expected volatility 1s based on the historic volatility {cakulated based on the weighted average remaining Ife of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly avallable information

Employee expenses

2007 2006
£m £m

Equity-settled share options granted in
2003 - o1
2004 (02) 04
2005 04 05
2006 10 05
2007 16 -
Total expense recognised as employee costs 28 13

The expected life of the options 1s taken to be the full vesting peniod, as historical exercise patterns have shown this to be appropriate
The estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest ignores the possibility that market conditions will or will not be achieved
given that these market conditions are already included in the fair value of the options

27 Guarantees and contingent habilities

2007 2006
£m £m
Guarantees Iin respect of deferred equity payments in PPP jointly controlled entities 78 98
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit ssued by banks in relation to deferred equity
payments in PPP jointly controlled entities 887 832
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in relation to performance
contracts in PPP jointly controlled entrties 300 00

Guarantees i respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks in relation to pension
scheme deficit recovery payments 210 440
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27 Guarantees and contingent habilities (continued)

Group

Can'hon JM Limited (CIM) (formerly Mowlemn) has been the subject of the Office of Farr Trading’s (OFT) on-going investigation of cover
pricing 1n the construction industry (under The Competition Act 1388) The investigation relates to CJM’s construction business and
relates entirely to periods prior to CJM's acquisition No other member of the Group has been subject to the investigation CJM has
been co-operating fully with the OFT Any fine ultimately arising would be subject to the statutory maximum financral penalty of

10 per cent of world wide revenue of the undertaking concerned tn the business year prior to the minngement Group management
believes that 1t 1s extremely unlikely that any fine that 1s imposed will approach this amount Carillion also does not believe that
customers have suffered any loss or damage as a result of any actions taken by CIM

Guarantees and counter indemnrties have been given to financial iInstitutions in respect of the provision of performance and other
contract-related bonds that are issued 1n the normal course of business

Claims under contracts and other agreements, including joint arrangements, are outstanding in the normal course of business

The Group, in the normal course of its construction activities, 1s the subject of certain legal proceedings The resolution of these
proceedings 15 regarded as untikely to succeed or to have a materal effect on the Group's financal position

There are no contingent liabilities of Joint Veniures for which the Group 1s contingently liable

28 Finanaal instruments

Finanaal nsk management

Financial risk management 1s an integral part of the way the Group 1s managed [n the course of its business, the Group I1s exposed
primanly to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, iquidity nsk and credit risk The overall aim of the Group's financial sk management
policies 1s to minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance and net assets

The Group's treasury department manages the principal financial nsks wrthin policies and operating parameters approved by the Board
of Directors Treasury 1s not a profit centre and does not enter inte speculative transactions

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in a number of overseas regions, pnmarily Canada, the Middle East and the Canbbean In order to protect the
Group’s balance sheet from the impact of foreign exchange rate volatility, foreign currency denominated net assets that exceed

£10m equivalent are hedged, as a minimum, to at least 50 per cent of the net asset value Net investment hedging of overseas operations
15 achieved through borrowing denominated in the relevant foreign currencies or where this is not practicable in a currency which the
relevant currency closely follows Group policy 15 to recognise gans and losses from the effective portions of the hedges in equisty and 1o
recognise ineffective portions mmediately in the income statement

Profits arising within overseas operations are not hedged unless 1t 1s planned to make a distribution Such distributions are then treated
as currency transactiens and hedged accordingly

Pnmanly the Group has small and infrequent transactional foreign currency exposures Any indwidual exposures that are significant are
hedged using forward contracts or other appropnate risk management techniques

A general weakening of the Canadian Dollar (specifically a one per cent nse in the Stering Canadian Dollar rate) would have a ml impact
on reported profit and an increase of £0 1m In equrty

Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest-bearing debt 1s predominantly sterling borrowing that arose from the acguisiiion of Mowlem ple, on-going working
capital requirements and foreign currency denorinated borrowing for hedging net assets of overseas operations Such borrowing is
subject to floating rates of interest linked to London Interbank Offered Rate No interest rate hedging is currently undertaken by the
Group's subsidiaries However, a number of the Group’s Public Private Partnership jointly controlled entities have entered into interest
rate swaps A one percentage point nise in respect of US Dollar denominated borrowings interest rates would increase the annual net
interest charge by approximately £0 1m, in respect of Canadian Dollar denominated borrowings an increase of £0 2m, and in respect

of Sterling denominated borrowings an increase of £1 1m

Lguidity nsk

The Group's policy on hquidity nisk 1s to ensure that sufficient borrowing faciiities are avarlable to fund engoing operations without the
need to carry sigmificant net debt over the medium-term  The Group’s principal borrowing facilities are provided by a group of core
relationship banks in the form of a syndicated loan and short-term overdraft facilities The quantum of committed borrowing facilities
avallable to the Group 15 reviewed regularly and 1s designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels
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28 Financial instruments (continued)

Credit nsk

Credit risk arises on financial nstruments such as trade receivables, short-term bank deposits and foreign currency hedging Policies and
procedures exist to ensure that customers have an appropriate credit tustory Short-term bank deposits and foreign currency hedging
transactions are executed only with highly credit-rated authonsed counterparties based on ratings issued by the major rating agencies
Counterparty exposure positions are monitored regularly so that crednt exposures to any one counterparty are approved at mam Board
level or within predetermined himits

Trade and other recewvables included in the balance sheet are stated net of a bad debt provision which has been estimated by
management following a review of individual recewable accounts and is based on prior experience and known factors at the balance
sheet date Recevables are written off against the bad debt provision when management considers that the debt 1s no longer recoverable

An analysis of the provision held against trade receivables 1s set out below

2007 2006

fm fm

Provision as at 1 January 113 111
Increase In provision during the year 49 38
Prowision utdised during the year (17} (303
Provision released during the year (11 0 6)
Provision as at 31 December 134 113

There are £26 2m of trade recewables that are past due at the balance sheet date that have not been provided against There are no
indications as at 31 December 2007 that debtors will not meet ther payment abligations in respect of the amount of trade recewables
recognised In the balance sheet that are past due and unprovided

Overall, the Group considers that 1t s not exposed to a significant amount of credtt nsk

Derivative financial instruments

2007 2006

Assets Labilties Assets Liabiliiies

£m im £m £m

Forward foreign currency contracts - 07 08 -

In addition to the above, a number of the Group’s Private Public Partnership (PPP) jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate
dervatives as a means of hedging interest rate risk Interest-beanng debts and the associated interest rate dervatives within these PPP
jointly controlled entities are without recourse to the Group The life of these hedge arrangements track PPP contract terms and hedge
future movements across a range spanning up untll September 2035 At 31 December 2007 the Group’s share of the total net fair value
llability of interest rate dervatives in PPP jointly controlled entities amounted to £34 5m {2006 £27 8m) of which £23 Om (2006 £13 7m)
(and the related deferred 1ax asset of £6 9m (2006 £4 1m)) has been recognised in the hedging reserve

Effective interest rates
The Group's interest bearing borrowings were subject to effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows

2007 2006

Range (%) Range (%)

Bank overdrafts 320-650% 450t0 725

Bank loans 546-731% 5240636

Finance lease cbligations 400-1249% 400101249

Other loans 5846 76% 42010600

Foreign currency exposure

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings denominated in foreign currencies 15 as follows

2007 2006

£m fm

United States of Amenica Dollars 126 128

Canadian Dollars 579 54 1

Other 01 02

706 67 1

Of the total foreign currency borrowings of £70 6m (2006 £67 1m), the amount of borrowings used for hedging overseas currency
asset amounts to £32 6m (2006 £29 9m) The foreign exchange loss of £2 7m (2006 gan of £4 1m) on translation of the borrowings
into sterlng has been recognised in the translation reserve
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28 Fmanaal instruments {continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s other financial assets and habilities denominated in foreign currency 15 as follows

Financal Financial Finanaal Fnancial
assets habilities assets labilities
2007 2007 2006 2006
Canadian Dollars 470 (96 9) 401 (87 1)
Oman Rials 565 (59 4) 269 (23 5)
Tnnidad and Tobago Dollars 10 (12 8) 92 g1)
South Pacific Franc - a3) 20 -
Euros 142 0 (188 7) 65 3 {38 8)
Fair values
Differences between the carrying and fair values of the Group’s principal financial instruments are shown below
2007 2006
Carrying Carrying
value Fair value value Fair value
£m £m £m fm
Amounts owed by customers on contracts 5088 5079 562 5 5500
Finance lease obligations (48 1) (36 7) (47 9) {36 0)

Far value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using prevailing interest rates The finance lease payables are valued by calculating
the present value of the future mimimum lease payments There i1s no matenal difference between the carrying value and farr value of
bank loans at the balance sheet date

Matunty of finanaatl habilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group’s non-current borrowing is as follows

Bank Other Finance
loans loans leases Total
31 December 2007 £m £m Em £m
Between one and two years - 58 54 112
Between two and three years - 28 56 84
Between three and four years - 17 98 115
Between four and five years 306 6 - 104 3170
More than five years - - 104 104
306 6 103 416 3585

Bank Other Finance
lgans loans leases Total
31 December 2006 £fm fm £m £m
Between one and two years - 30 70 100
Between two and three years - 25 49 74
Between three and four years 1907 07 50 196 4
Between four and five years - - 86 86
More than five years ~ - 175 175
190 7 62 430 2399

Within trade and other payables are £5 2m of habilittes due after more than one year which represent retentions payable on
construction contracts All other trade and other payables are due within one year

Borrow:ng facahties

The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at the year end i respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met

2007 2006
£m £m
Expining between two and five years 2834 140 1

Drawings under the committed borrowing faclity include £175m required 1o satisfy the ‘certan funds’ requirement for the cash
element of the Alfred McAlpine pl acquisition which will not be required 1o be paid unul March 2008
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29 Finanaal and capital commitments

2007 2006
£m £m
Commitments for capstal expenditure m subsidianes 13 09
Commitments for equity and subordinated debt in PPP jointly controlled entities 965 1030
97 8 103 9

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows
2007 2006
Property Other Property Other
fm £m fm £m
Within one year 118 135 114 142
Between one and five years 351 184 282 203
Qver five years 250 02 357 -
7119 321 753 345

The Group leases properties and vehicles for operational purposes Property leases vary considerably in length up to a maximum period
of 99 years Vehicle leases typically run for a penod of 3 5 years None of the leases ncludes contingent rentals

The total future minimum sub-lease payments expected 1o be received under non-canceliable sub-leases amount to £4 4m (2006 £5 7m)

at the balance sheet date

30 Related parties

Identity of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with its jointly controlled entities and key management personnel

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group's key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors as identified In the Remuneration Report

on page 49

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits o Executive Directors, and contributes to a post-employment

defined benefit plan on therr behalf Executive Directors also participate i the Group’s share option programme

Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for their services to the Canllion plc Board

Full detalls of key management personnel compensation 1s given In the Remuneration Report on pages 48 1o 55

Gther than disclosed m the Remuneration Report, there were no other transactions with key management personnel in esther the

current or preceding year The IFRS 2 cost charged to administrative expenses relating to share options of key management personnel

amounted to £1 3m (2006 £0 6m)
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The table below summarises the principal receivable and payable balances, together with sales to the Group’s jontly controlled entities,
which are in the normal course of business and on commercial terms

2007 2006
Sales Recevables Payabies Sales Receivables Payables
£m £m £m fm £m £m
PPP jointly controlled entities
Accomodation Services (Holdings) Limited - 02 - - 04 -
Ellenbrook Holdings Limited 25 02 - 20 - -
The Hospital Company (Swindon & Marlborough)

Group Limited 96 - - 89 25 -
The Hospital Company (Oxford John Radcliffe)

Holdings Limned 16 0 09 - 40 2 14 -
The Hospital Company (QAH Portsmouth} Holdings bimited 858 36 - s 37 -
Sheppey Route (Holdings) Limited - 02 - 182 08 -
Eastbury Park (Holdings) Limited 484 47 - 218 - -
Education 4 Ayrshire {Holdings} Limrted 379 18 - 49 09 -
RSP (Holdings) Lmited 229 - - 374 15 -
Aspire Defence Holdings Limited 200 01 - 867 - (18 9}
Aspire Construction Limited - 10 - - - -
Aspire Services limrted - 15 - - - -
Other 33 05 - 60 06 -

2464 1437 - 2977 118 (18 9)
Other jointly controlled entities
CR Thanet Limited Partnership - 143 (206) - 126 (119)
Mecdern Housing Solutions (Prime) Limited 126 06 - 183 01 -
Canllion Enterprise Limited 624 15 - 52 49 -
Eurascout GB Limited - 05 - - 07 -
Wyseproperty Limited 02 06 - - - (147)
Urban Catalyst LLP - - - - 54 -
Others - 19 (10) 02 05 {0 6)

3216 341 (21 6) 3214 360 (46 1)

31 Acquisitions and disposals

Acquisttions in 2007
There have not been any business acquisttions durning 2007

Acquisitions in 2006

On 23 February 2006, the Company acquired the entire issued share caprtal of Mowlem ple for total consideration of £350 3m

Mowlem plc, rts subsidiaries and emtly controlled entities operate in a number of sectors and industries, particularly censtruction,
faalities management and Public Private Partnerships In the penod from acquisition to 31 December 2006, Mowlem plc contributed
proftt before tax of £16 Om to the consolidated profit for the year If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2006, Group revenue
would have been £3,314 2m and profit before tax would have been £59 Sm for the year ended 31 December 2006

Effect of acquisibons

The acquisitions had the following effect on the Group's assets and habilities
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31 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

Acguiree’s net assets at the acquisition date

Accounting
Carrying Fair value policy  Recogrused
amounts adjustments adjustments values
fm £Em £m fm

Property, plant and equipment 259 Q7 - 266
Intangible assets - 11940 - 1190
Investments in jointly controlied entities 205 957 (88) 107 4
Other investments 150 (50 - 100
Deferred tax assets 309 64 63 436
Inventcries 179 Q7 - 172
Trade and other recevables 461 1 (26 4) - 4347
Assets held for sale 763 56 9 - 1332
Cash and cash equivalents 116 81) - 35
Borrowing (126 4) 04 - (126 0)
Trade and other payables {560 2) 158 29 (541 5)
Income tax 4 2) 63 - 21
Retirement benefit liabilities (95 5) - 210 (116 5)
Deferred tax liabilties - (35 7) - (357)
Liabiities held for sale (125 9) (30 5) - (156 4)
Provisions {17} - - {(17)
Net identifiable assets and labilittes @547 194 8 (20 6) (805)
Goodwill recognised on acguisttion 430 8
Consideration 3503

The farr vatue adjustments made at acquisition relate to

* the recognmion of an intangible asset in relation to customer contracts and lists acquired

* market value adjustments to the carrying value of investments in PPP jointly conwrolled entities and other investments

= the reclassfication of Edgar Allen Uimited and Charter Builders Ltd as available-for-sale assets and liabilities and the subsequent
adjustment to their net realisable value following the decision to dispose of the business post acquisition

* the recognition of a deferred tax asset on a proportion of corporation tax trading losses

» the recognition of a deferred tax lability on the future amortisation of the intangible assets acquired

¢ reassessment of the recoverability of trade and other recevables

The accounting policy adjustments made relate to

» the reversal of the fair value uplift to finance debtors within PPP jointly controlled entities

» the recognition of the full defined benefit pension scheme deficits on balance sheet following the reversal of the corridor approach
to the recogmition of actuaral gamns and losses

* arealignment of the treatment of investment-related bid cost recoveries at financal close on PPP projects

Consideratton for the acquisition comprises the following

£m
Cash 1173
Equity shares 1ssued 2245
Attnbutable costs 85
350 3
The value of equity shares issued 1s based on the quoted mid-market price of Carillion plc shares at the close of business on the day
preceding the effective date of acquisition of 339p and the total number of equity shares 1ssued of 66 2m Attributable costs include
direct adviser costs incurred in relation to the acquisition contracts and due diligence procedures Cash flows associated with the
acquisttion are included in the cash flow statement as follows
£m
Cash paid (117 3)
Attributable costs paid (85)
(125 8}
Cash and cash eguivalents acquired 35

Net cash outflow on acquisition (122 3)
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31 Acquisitions and disposals {contnued)

Disposals 1n 2007

Duning the year, the Group disposed of certain non-core businesses which have been classified as discontinued operations The effect
on the Group of the disposal of these businesses is disclosed In note 8 In addition, in September 2007 the Group disposed of Sovereign
Harbour Marina Limrted, generating cash consideration of £10 7m and a non-operating profit of £3 7m

In December 2007, the Group disposed of equity investments in three Public Private Partnership jointly controlled entities The disposal
generated cash consideration of £21 5m (after deducting disposal costs of £50,000) and a non-operating proft of £23 6m

Disposals in 2006
During the acquisition of Mowlem ple, certan businesses were identified as being non-core operations for disposal In addition, there
were a number of businesses which had been dentified as avallable for sale by Mowlem plc prior te acquisition

In the post-acquisition period the Group disposed of the folfowing Mowlem plc businesses

Edgar Allen Limited

Charter Builders Ltd

Mowlem Environmental Sciences Group

Barclay Mowlem Limited

Canfion Energy Limited (formerly Mowlern Energy Limited)

Cartflion Utility Services Limited (formerly Mowlem Utility Services Limited}

These bustnesses were included in the acquisition balance sheet of Mowlem plc as assets and liabilites held for sale and were therefore
carried at fair value, which represents proceeds on disposai less costs to sell These fair values were realised on subseguent disposal and
consequently no profit or loss has ansen

The cash effect has been reflected in the Group cash flow statement as follows

£m
Consideration receved (net of disposal costs paid) 535
Cash n businesses disposed of (231
Net cash inflow from disposal of businesses 304

In September 2006, the Group disposed of a portfolio of equrty investments in Public Prvate Partnership jointly controlled entities

The disposal generated cash consideration of £46 7m (after deducting disposal costs of £0 4m) and a non-operating profit of £25 6m
The Group also disposed of equity interests in two small non-PPP jointly controlled entities for a total consideration of £0 6m, generating
a proft of £04m

32 Retirement benefit obligations
Carillion operates a number of pension schemes for eligible employees as disclosed below
Principal defined benefit schemes

Carnillion Staff and ‘B Pension Schemes
Both schemes are defined benefit schemes and were closed to new entrants on 1 April 2003 Existing members ¢ontinue to accrue
benefrts for future service

An actuariat valuation of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2005 using
the projected unit credit method The market value of the schemes’ assets at the date were £485 Om and £106 4m respectively, which
represented approximately 90 per cent and 94 per cent of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis,
after allowing for future increases m salanes The regular on-going contributions pard during the year were £10 7m (2006 £10 8m) in
respect of the Carillion Staff Pension Scheme and £1 Om (2006 £1 4m} in respect of the Carillion ‘B’ Pension Scheme

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes, payments were made to the schemes during
2007 of £18 0m (2006 £15 Om) and £2 Om (2006 £2 Om) respectively Further payments are due to the Staff and ‘B’ schemes in 2008
of £16 0m and £2 Om respectively These payments are secured by a Letter of Credit to the Trustees Recovery payments of £1 9m and
£0 2m per annum to the Staff and ‘B’ schemes, respectively are scheduled to commence from March 2010 and cease at the end of
2015 The next actuanal valuatiors are normally due at 31 December 2008
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32 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The Group expects to pay regular ongoing contributions of approximately £10 7m to the Staff scheme and £1 Om to the ‘B scheme
dunng 2008 representing contribution rates of 20 1 per cent and 36 S per cent of payroll respectively

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy i1s payable 1n addrion to the above The PPF levies for the year ended 31 March 2007 were
£0 3m (2006 £0 4m) for the Staff scheme and £0 2m (2006 nil) for the ‘B’ scheme

Mowlem Staff Pension and Life Assurance and Mowlem (1993} Pension Schemes
The Mowlem Staff Pension and Life Assurance and Mowlem (1993) Pension schemes were part of Mowlem plc, which was acquired
on 23 February 2006

The majority of employees who participate in these schemes are in defined beneft arrangements The defined beneftt section of the
Mowlem Staff Pension and Lie Assurance Scheme closed to new entrants on 1 January 2003

A defined contribution section was opened for new employees from 1 Apnl 2003 Bxsting final salary members could opt to continue
on that basis from 1 Apnl 2003 if they agreed to pay a higher member contnbution or could pay the same rate and accrue benefrts
on a Career Average Revalued Earmings (CARE) basis from that date

An actuanial valuation of the Mowlem Staff scheme was undertaken by independent actuaries as at 31 December 2006 using the
attained age method The market value of the schemes assets at that date were £45% 6m, representing approximately 93 per cent of
the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after alowing for future increases in salaries An actuarial
valuation of the Mowlem (1993) scheme was undertaken by independent actuary as at 31 December 2004 using the attained age
method The market value of the schemes assets at that date were £30 3m, representing approximately 71 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date on an ongeing basis, after allowing for future increases in salares

The reqular ongoing contributions paid during the year were £7 1m (2006 £7 7m) in respect of the Mowlem Staff scheme and
£2 5m (2006 £1 9m) in respect of the Mowlem {1993) scheme

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed waith the Trustees, payments were made to the Mowtem Staff and Mowlem (1993} schemes

in the year of £11 4m (2006 £9 Sm)and £1 6m (2006 £1 3m) respectively Recovery payments of £4 8m per annum have been agreed
in respect of the Mowlem Staff scheme continuing until 2012 and £1 6m per annum in respect of the Mowlem (1993} scheme continuing
untl 2016

The Group expects 10 pay regular ongoing contributions of approximately 20 3 per cent and 28 2 per cent to the Mowlem Staff and
Mowlem (1993) schemes duning 2008 An actuarial valuation of the Mowlem (1993) scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries
as at 31 December 2007 15 currently being undertaken

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levies for the year ended 31 March 2007
were £1 9m (2006 £0 5m) for the Mowlem Staff scheme and £0 3m (2006 £0 25m) for the Mowlem (1993) scheme

Canllion Public Sector Pension Schemes
The scheme 15 a defined benefit scheme The Scheme remains open to eligible employees transferring from the public sector as part of the
commercial obligations under Private Finance Initiative, Public Private Partnership and Best Value contracts with public sector employers

An actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuanes as at 31 December 2004 using the
attained age method The market value of the schemes’ assets at that date was £74 9m, which represented approxmately 82 per cent
of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salaries The regular
ongoing emgloyer contributions paid during the year were £3 1m (2006 £2 7m)

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, additional payments of £4 3m (2006 £2 Om} were made durng 2007
Further payments of £2 3m per annum are scheduled to be pad until 2015

The Group expects to pay regular contributions of approximately £2 9m during 2008 representing 23 2 per cent of pensionable salaries
at the end of 2007

If any employees are admitted into the Scheme through PFL, PPP or Best Value contracts during 2008 the level of contributions will
increase An actuarial valuation of the scheme by the Trustees” independent actuaries as at 31 December 2007 1s currently being
undertaken
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32 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy I1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2007
was £0 1Tm (2006 £0 1m)

Shared Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS)
Employees of GTRM and Centrac, and former employees of British Rail transferred 1o these businesses, have pension provision via Shared
Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme Both the GTRM and Centrac Sections are closed to new entrants

Shared cost arrangements are such that the employer and members share the cost of future service habilities on a 60/40 sphit respectively
and any surplus or defict emerging over time 1s deaft with on a similar basis

Independent actuaries appointed by the Railways Pension Trustee Company Limited carried out a formal valuation of the Raitways Pension
Scheme at 31 December 2004 using the attained age method for GTRM and the attained age method for Centrac The market values

of the scheme assets of the GTRM Section and Centrac Section at 31 December 2004 were £195 dm and £27 4m respectively, which
represented approximately 94 per cent and 102 per cent of benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basts,

after taking account of future ncreases in salaries, contributions payable and reserves The regular ongoing contributions paid by the
employer during the year were £3 1m (2006 £3 9m) for GTRM and £0 3m (2006 {0 3m) for Centrac

As part of the defict recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, a payment of £2 0m (2006 £2 Om)} was made dunng 2007 to the GTRM
sector A further payment of £2 Om is due in January 2008

The Group expects to pay regular on-going contrbutions in 2008 for both sections representing 16 02 per cent and 16 56 per cent of
pensionable salaries for GTRM and Centrac respectively An actuarial valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as
at 31 December 2007 s currently being undertaken

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy is payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2007
for both sections totalled £0 1m (2006 £0 1m)

Cther defined benefit schemes

The PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme

The PME Staff Pension Scheme 15 a defined benefit scheme and 1s closed to new entrants Existing members continue to accrue benefits
for future service

An actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustee's Independent actuaries as at 31 December 2006 using the
attained age method The market value of the scheme’s assets at that date was £49 7m, which represented approximately 92 per cent
of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salaries The regular
ongoing contnibutions paid during the year were £1 1m (2006 £1 2m)

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, a payment of £1 0m (2006 £1 Orn} was made duning 2007

The Group expects to pay regular ongoing contributions in 2008 representing 22 7 per cent of pensionable salaries with a lump sum
of £1 0m in addmion The next actuarial valuation 1s due at 31 December 2009

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan and was £0 1m for the year ended
31 March 2007 (2006 £0 02m)

Canlhon Canada In¢

The Carilion Group operates a defined benefit scheme for employees of Canllion Canada Inc managed locally In addrtion
supplemental arrangements are in place for certain executives, namely the Sernor Executive Retrement Plan and the Post Retirement
Benefit Plan The net deficit in total for these three schemes at 31 Dacember 2007, calculated in accordance wath IAS 19, 15 £2 3m
(2006 £0 5m surplus)

Contnbutions during the year were £nil (2006 £nil} in respect of the Canllion Canada Inc defined benefit scheme and £0 2m
(2006 £0 2m) in respect of other post-retirement benefits for senior Canadian employees Contributions for 2008 are estimated to
be f02m

Bower Group Retirement Benefit Scheme
The Bower Group Retrement Benefit Scheme was part of Mowlem plc, which was acquired on 23 February 2006 The scheme
is a defined benefit arrangement and 1s closed to future accrual
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32 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

An actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken by independent actuaries as at 29 February 2004 The deficit in the scheme

at 31 December 2007 calculated 1n accordance with IAS 19 15 £0 3m (2006 £2 1m) The Group has not made any regular ongoing
contributions to the scheme in the year As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, £0 3m was pad to the scheme
in February 2007 An actuarial valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ indepenclent actuaries as at 31 December 2007 1s currently
being undertaken

Other UK and overseas schemes

The Group operates four UK defined contribution schemes, the Canllion Pension Plan, the Mowlem Staff Scheme (defined contribution
section), the PME Defined Contribution Plan and the Canllion Retirement Plan {closed to new entrants since 2001) In addition,

the Group operates a Stakeholder Plan ("Stakehcolder Plus’)

The Canllion Pension Plan commenced on 1 April 2003 The majority of new employees across the Group are eligible to join this

Plan Employees contribute a minmum of 5 0 per cent and the employer a minimum of 7 O per cent of basic salaries Up to 3 O per cent
of any additional voluntary contributions paid by employees s matched by the employer, resulting n @ maximum employer contribution of
10 O per cent of basic salary The employer meets the cost of administration and managing the Plan equivalent to a further 2 0 per cent
of basic pay Contrbutions during the year were £2 2m (2006 £2 Om)

The defined contribution section of the Mowlem Staff Scheme commenced on 1 April 2003 The plan is principally only open to late
entrants on application Employees contribute between 3 0 per cent and 5 0 per cent depending on therr age and the employer between
4 5 per cent and 8 0 per cent The employer meets the cost of the administration and managing the Plan in addition to the cost of the life
assurance premiums Contnbutions during the year were £1 3m (2006 £1 5m)

Employees of Carllion Services Limited who are not eligible for the Carillion Pension Plan are nvrted to participate in the Carilhion
Stakeholder Plus managed by BlackRock Pensions Limited Employees contribute 5 0 per cent and the employer 6 5 per cent of basic
salary Death in service lump sum benefits are provided in addrtion Centributions during the year were £0 3m (2006 £0 5m})

The PME Defined Contribution Plan commenced in April 1999 All new PME employees are offered membership of the Plan Employees
contribute 4 0 per cent of basic pay and the employer pays 5 O per cent of basic pay (inclusive of a 1 O per cent allowance for insurance
premiums and audit fees) Contributions during the year were £1 3m (2006 £1 2m)

Contnbutions to the Carillion Retirement Plan during the year were £0 1m (2006 £0 1m)

Stakeholder pensions are also provided by B&CE Insurance and Scottish Widows where required by Working Rule Agreements and
defined contribution pensions provided where required by the Jont Industres Board Working Rules Agreements

Various companies within the Group participate in admission agreements with local authoriies in order to allow former public sector
employees to continue membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme  Contributions during the year, which have been
accounted for on a defined contribution basis, were £0 2m (2006 £0 2m)

IAS 19 disclosures
The weighted average of the principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in providing the IAS 19 position were

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
UK Canada UK Lanada
Rate of increase in salaries 490% 320% 4 25% 300%
Rate of increase in pensions 3 40%™ 220% 3 00% 200%
Inflation rate 340% 220% 300% 2 00%
Discount rate 560% 5 55% 5 00% 5 20%

(1) Where schemes have adopted the new 5 pef cent per annum cap on increases 10 pensions in payment the assurnption i 2 4 per cent per annum (2006 1 9 per cent) rather than the higher amount
shown above

The market values of the schemes’ assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term, may be subject to significant change
before they are realised The present values of the schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the investment return on Grade AA
corporate bonds The assumptions used do not necessanly represent the Investment return that may be achieved

For all schemes the mortality basis 1s In line with the basis used by the respective Trustee at the last valuation All the schemes, except
the Railways Pension Scheme, have adopted a basis using the medium cohort tables on the recommendation of the Scheme Actuary
The Railways Penston Scheme uses scheme speaific assumptions based on industry expenence
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32 Retwrement benefit obhgatiens (continued)

The Carillion Staff Scheme, the Canflion Public Sector Scheme, the Mowlem Staff Scheme and the Mowlem (1993} Scheme adopted
the 'PAS2(YOB=1965)mc + 2 years’ table for non-retired member's mortality and the 'PA92(YOB=1935)mc + 2 years’ for retired
members’ mortality at the last valuation The previous bases were ‘PA92(Base) — 3 years’ and ‘PA92(Base} — 1 year' respectively

The Iife expectancies for @ male aged 65 are shown below

2007 2006

PA92(YOB=1965)mc + 2 yrs PAQ2(YOB=1965)mc + 2 years

Non-retired members 21 3 years 21 3 years
PA92(YOB=1935)mc + 2 yrs PA92(YOB=1935)mc + 2 years

Retired members 19 7 years 19 7 years

The Canadian Actuary annually undertakes an actuarial valuation and accounting exercise for reporting on local employee benefits
under local GAAP. CICA 3461 The same assumptions have been used for local medical and dental inflatien rates in relation to the Post
Retirement Benefit Plan The immediate trend rate 1s 10 per cent per annum with an uftimate trend rate of five per cent per annum (2013}

An increase of one per cent in the valuation trend would increase labilities by £0 6m and the total service cost by £0 Tm The decrease
of one per cent In the valuation trend would reduce liabilities by £0 5m and total service cost by nil

The overall expected rate of return on assets 1s determined by reference to local long-term interest rates, the yield on gilts or Treasury
stock and the Actuary’s recommendation on the allowance for the potential long-term extra return from investing in equities

Carillion has adopted immediate recogrition of any actuanal gains or losses through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
as permitted under 1AS 19

The IAS 19 posrtion for the schemes is as follows
Expected

rate of Carilticn  Mowlem Mowlem Public  Railways Other

return % Staff Staff B {1993} Sector Pension  Schemes Total
31 December 2007 UK Canada £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Equities 765 7.00 2261 2984 325 306 635 1186 450 8147
Government bonds 440 450 2496 255 601 57 205 216 250 4080
Corporate bonds 560 - 824 1488 166 154 191 229 63 3115
Other 550 250 51 52 11 07 20 188 19 348
Market value of scheme assets 5632 4779 1103 524 1051 1819 782 15690
Present value of funded scheme obligation (5664} (4904) (1174) (619) (1061) (1662) (770)(1.5854)
Present value of unfunded scheme obligation - - - - - - 59 {59)
Restriction on surplus recognised - - - - - (20) - (20)
Total {deficitysurplus {32) (125) (7 1) (95) {10) 137 47) (243)
Related deferred tax asset 105
Net pension liability (13 8)

Expected

rate of Carlion  Mowlem Mowlem Public  Rasways Other

return % Staff Staff B (1993) Sector Pension  Schemes Total
31 December 2006 UK Canada Em fm fm £m fm £m £m £m
Equities 665 700 2195 3398 347 368 615 1024 406 8353
Government bonds 415 400 2195 230 563 23 185 453 226 3875
Corporate bonds 478 500 78 4 918 162 23 152 - 68 2107
Other 478 250 51 46 11 46 09 242 21 42 6
Market value of scheme assets 5228 459 2 108 3 460 961 1719 721 14761
Present value of funded scheme obligation (5604) (5055) (1171) (593) (1039) (1664) (73 4} (1,586 0)
Present value of unfunded scheme obligation - - - - - - (30) B0
Total (defict¥surplus (379) (463) (88 {133) (7 8} 55 (43) (1129
Related deferred tax asset 371

Net pension liability (75 8)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

32 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Expense recognised in the Income Statement

2007 2006
£m £m
{Charge)/credit to operating profit
Current service cost relating to defined benefrt schemes (27.2) (29 1)
Past service cost relating to defined benefit schemes (0 4) (05)
Settlements 07 -
Curtallments 30 -
Total {23 9) (29 6)
Credit/{charge) to other financial income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 861 717
Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities (79 3) (68 2)
Net finanaal return 68 35
Total actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 302 346
2007 2006
£fm £m
Changes n defined benefit cbhigation
Obligation at 1 January (1,589 0) (963 7)
Current service cost (27 2) 29 1)
Interest cost (79 3) {68 2)
Contributions from scheme members (82) 85)
Past service cost (0 4) {0 5)
Acquisition of Mowlem plc - {583 2)
Benefits paid 590 493
Settlements 63 -
Curtallmenis 30 -
Actuarial gans and losses 472 128
Effect of exchange rate changes 27 21
Obligation at 31 December (1,5913) (1,5890)
2007 2006
£m fm
Changes In the fair value of scheme assets
Farr value at 1 January 1,476 1 8958
Expected return on scheme assets 861 717
Contnbutions from the employer 57 630
Contnbutions from scheme members 82 85
Acquisition of Mowlem plc - 466 7
Benefits paid {59 0) (49 3}
Settlements {5 6) -
Actuanial gans and losses (15 Q) 218
Restriction on surplus recognised (20) -
Effect of exchange rate changes 25 {2 1)
Fair value at 31 December 1,567 ¢ 1,476 1
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32 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit schemes 1s as follows

2007 2006

£m im

Present value of defined benefit obligation (1,5913) {1,589 0)
Far value of scheme assets 1,567 0 1,476 1

Net deficit (24 3) (112 9)
Schemes in surplus (within non-current assets) 173 109

Schemes in deficit (within non-current liabilities) (41 6) {123 8)

(24 3) {1129

The actual return on plan assets was £71 1m (2006 £93 Sm)

History of experience gains and losses

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m £rn

Present value of the defined benefit obhgation (1,591 3) (1,5820) 963 7 {862 0) {832 0)

Far value of scheme assets 1,567 0 14761 8958 776 8 7226

Net deficit {24 3) (1129 (67 9) (85 2) (109 4)

Experience gamns and losses on scheme obligation {(Em) 472 128 (198 8) a7 02)

Percentage of defined benefit obligation (%) 300 10 210 - -
Difference between expected and actual returns

on scheme assets (Em) {15 0) 218 2055 280 663

Percentage of scheme assets {%) (10 10 230 30 20

The cumulative amount of actuanal gains and losses recognised since 1 January 2004 in the Group Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense 1s £97 8m (2006 £67 6m} The Group 1s unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficnt recognised on
transiion to IFRS of £85 2m and taken directly to total equity 1s attnbutable to actuarial gains and losses since inception of the schemes
Therefore, the Group 15 unable to determine the amount of actuaral gains and losses that would have been recognised in the Group
Statemeni of Recognised Income and Expense before 1 January 2004
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33 Accounting estimates and judgements
Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estmates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estmation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant nsk of causing a material adjustment to the carryimg amounts of assets and habilities within the next financiat year, are
discussed below

Construction contracts

In determining the revenue and costs to be recognised each year for work done on construction contracts, estimates are made in
relation to final out-turn on each contract On major construction contracts, 1t is assessed, based on past experience, that their outcome
cannot be estimated reliably durning the early stages of the contract, but that costs incurred will be recoverable Once the outcome can
be estimated reliably the estimates of final out-turn on each contract may include cost contingencies to take account of the specific risks
within each contract that have been identified during the early stages of the contract The cost contingencies are reviewed on & regular
basis througheout the contract life and are adjusted where appropriate However, the nature of the risks on contracts are such that they
often cannot be resolved until the end of the project and therefore may not reverse untd the end of the project Management continually
reviews estimated final out-turn on contracts and makes adjustrents where necessary

Intangible assets
In determining the far value of identifiable assets, fiabilities and contingent liabilities of businesses acquired, judgement is required In
relation to final out-turn on construction contracts, discount rates and expected future cash flows and proftability

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit to which the intangible assets are attached Note 12 provides detalls of the carrying value of mntangible assets

Defined benefit pension scheme valuations
In determining the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme assets and habilities, a number of key assumptions have been made
The key assumptions, which are given below, are largely dependent on factors outside the controt of the Group

Expected return on ptan assets
Inftation rate

Mortality

Discount rate

Salary and pensions increases

Detalls of the assumptions used are included in note 32

34 Post-balance sheet events

On 12 February 2008, the Company acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Alfred McAlpine ple for a total consideration

of £554 5m The total consideration was satisfied by the 1ssue of 112 9m Carillion ple shares valued at the quoted mid-market price at
the close of business on the day preceding the effective date of acquisition of 337 75p and £171 7m in cash and £1 3m of loan notes

in addition, atiributable costs are estimated to be £2 2m The acquisition has had no mpact on reported profit during 2007 Due to the
short period of time that Alfred McAlpine plc has been within the Group’s ownership prior to the approval of these financial statements,
it has not been possible to determine the fair value of the business acquired The fair value will be determined prior to the announcement
of the 2008 interim results and full disclosure will be made in the 2008 interim financial statements

35 Principal subsidianes, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlied operations
A hst of signsficant investments in subsidiaries, jontly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations, including the name, country
of incorperation and proportion of ownership interest 1s given on page 107
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35 Pnnapal subsidianes, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations (contnued)

Except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities are incorporated in Great Britain and operate in the UK
All holdings are of ordinary shares and except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings are 100 per cent owned {(with equwalent voting
nghts) and jontly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations are 50 per cent owned Shares of those undertakings marked with

an astensk are directly owned by Carillion plc

Prinapal subsidiary undertakings

Asprea Ltd

Cartfion (Aspire Construction) Holdings No 2 Ltd
Canion Canada Inc (Canada)

Carilion (Caribbean) Ltd (Tnnidad & Tobago)
Carifion CR Limited

Carilhon Construction Ltd*

Carilion Fleet Management Ltd*

Carlion Highway Maintenance Lid*
Carillion IM Ltd*

Cardlion Private Finance Ltd*

Cardlion Services [td*

Cantlion Services 2006 Ltd

Monteray Ltd 51%

Planned Mantenance Engineerng Ltd
Postworth Ltd*

Sovereign Hospital Services Ltd

Principal jointly controlled entities

Public Private Partnerships

Accommodation Services (Holdings) Ltd 40%

Aspire Defence Holdings Ltd

Eastbury Park {Holdings) Ltd

Education 4 Ayrshire (Holdings) Ltd 47 5%

Ellenbrock Holdings Ltd

Endeavour SCH Holdings Ltd 19%

Inspiredspaces StaG (Holdings 1) Ltd 40%

LCED (Sault} Limited Partnership 25%

Modern Schools {Barnsley) Holdings Ltd

Modern Schools {Exeter) Holdings Ltd

Modern Scheols (Redcar & Cleveland Holdings) Ltd
Ravensbourne Health Services (Heldings) Ltd

RSP (Holdings} Ltd 30%

Sheppey Route (Holdings) Ltd

The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (ROH) Inc (Canada)
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WOHC) Inc {Canada}
The Hospital Company (Oxford John Radcliffe) Holdings Ltd
The Hosprtal Company (QAH Portsmouth) Holdings Ltd

UK Highways A55 (Holdings) Ltd

Yorkshire Transformations Holdings Ltd 33 3%

Others

CanlkonEnterprise Ltd 50 1%

Modern Housing Solutions {Pnme) Ltd
Al Futtaim Carllion LLC {UAE) 49%
Arcadis Aqumen Facility Management BV
Carntlhon Alawa LLC (Oman) 49%
Canlion Richardson Partnership
Canlion Richardson Thanet Ltd

Emnll Services LLC (UAE)* 33%

Servus Lid (Trinidad & Tobago)

UK Highways Management Services Ltd

Jontly controlled operations

Name, proportion of interest held and address of principal place of business

Carilion-URS Joint Venture 70%

Canlhon-WSP )V 60%
GTBB

Nature of business

Insurance claim handling

Miltary accommodation at Aldershot and Sahsbury Plain
Construction and infrastructure services
Construction and infrastructure services

Holding company for property development
Construction and nfrastructure management
Supply and maintenance of vehicles

Roads and ground maintenance and repair
Censtruction and mfrastructure management
Holding company for PPP project companies
Facilities management

Facilies management

Property and facilities management services
Bullding services and maintenance

Supply of operatives to the construction industry
Facilities management i healthcare sector

Associated Project

GCHQ, Cheitenham

Military accommadation at Aldershot and Salisbury Plain
Permanent Joint Headquarters, Northwood
South Ayrshire Schools

Unwersity of Hertfordshire Student Accommodation
James Coock Hosprtal, Middlesbrough
South Tyneside and Gateshead Schools
Sault Area Hosprtal, Canada

Barnsley Schools

Exeter Schools

Redcar and Cleveland Schools

University Hospital, Lewisham

Renfrewshire Schools

A249 Kent

Royal Ottawa Hospital, Canada

Williarm Osler Hosprtal, Canada

John Radd!iffe Hospital, Oxford

Queen Alexandra Hospral, Portsmouth
AS55 North Wales

Swarclffe social housing, Leeds

Nature of business

MoD bulldings

MoD housing

Building and civil engineering
Facilies management
Bullding and cvil engineering
Property development
Property development
Facilittes management
Faciliies management

Road management services

Pytchley Maintenance Compound, Pegasus Court,
Kettering South Business Park, Kettering,
Northamptonshire, England

Bradfard, West Yorkshire, England

Rugby, Wanwickshire, England

A complete list of Group subsidiary undertakings will be attached to the Company's annual return to the Registrar of Companies
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2007 2006
Note Em im
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings and Joint Ventures 3 537 8 536 3
Current assets
Debtors 4 3442 2751
Cash at bank and in hand 1779 274
522 1 3025
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 5
Borrowing {(13) 17
QOther creditors (266 1) (153 5)
(267 4) {155 2)
Net current assets
Due within one year 2278 1195
Debtors due after more than one year 4 269 278
254 7 147 3
Total assets less current habilities 7925 683 6
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year 6
Borrowing (313 5) (195 1}
Net assets 479 0 484 5
Financed by
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 7 1406 1406
Share premium 8 1999 1899
Other reserve 8 15 -
Profit and loss account 8 137 0 144 0
Equity shareholders’ funds 479 0 434 5

The financral statements were approved by the Board of Directors on § March 2008 and were signed on its behalf by

V7

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1 Significant accounting policies

The followng accounting policies have been applied consistently
in dealing with items which are considered material in relation
to the Company’s financial statements

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling

They are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for dervative
financial mstruments which are stated at far value, and in
accordance with applicable UK accounting standards and law

Dunng the year the Company adopted Urgent Issues Task Force
(UITF} Abstract 41 *Scope of FRS 20 share-based payments’ The
adoption of this abstract has no effect on reported profit but has
resutted 1 an increase to net assets of £1 5m

Taxation

Deferred tax assets or labilites arise from timing differences
between the recognition of gans and losses in the financial
statements and their recognition in the tax computation that
have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except
as otherwise reguired by Financial Reporting Standard 19
‘Deferred tax’ Liabilities are calcutated on a non-discounted
full provision basis Assets are calculated on the same basis,
but are recognised only to the extent that it 15 probable that
they will be recovered

Fixed asset investments

In the Company's financial statements, investments in subsidiary
undertakings and Jont Vientures are stated at cost, less provision
for any imparment

Leasing

The Company enters into finance lease arrangements on behalf
of subsidiary companies As permitted by Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice 21 "Accounting for leases and hire purchase
contracts’, the assets relating to the finance leases are ncluded
in the financial statements of the subsidianes concerned The
capital element of outstanding finance leases 1s included within
borrowing The finance charge element of rentals 1s charged to
the profit and loss account at a constant penodic rate of charge
on the outstanding obligations

Own shares

Consideration paid for shares in the Company held by the
Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are deducted
from the profit and loss account reserve Where such shares
subsequently vest In the employees under the terms of the
Company’s share option schemes or are sold, any consideration
receved 15 included In the profit and ioss account reserve

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the
employees of its subsidiaries it recognises, i 1ts Indwidual financial
staterments, an increase N the cost of investment in 1ts subsidiaries
equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge
recognised m its consoldated financial statements with the
corresponding credit being recognised directly in other reserves
Amounts recharged to the subsidiary are recognised as a reduction
in the cost of nvestment in subsidiary f the amount recharged
exceeds the increase in the cost of investment the excess 15
recogrised as a dwvidend to the extent that it reflects post
acquisition profits of the subsidiary

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
steriing and recorded using the exchange rate prevailing at the
date of the transaction

Monetary assets and liabilties denominated 1n foreign currencies
are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date and the gains and losses on translation are
included n the profit and loss account

Financial instruments

The Company's principal financial assets and habiliiies are cash

at bank and in hand and borrowing Cash at bank and in

hand s carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost Borrowing
15 recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs
and subsequently at amortised cost In addition, the Company
enters nto forward contracts n order to hedge aganst smalf and
infrequent transactional foreign currency exposures The forward
contracts are measured inttially at amortised cost, with changes in
fair value during the year recognised in the profit and loss account
Fair values are based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date

Share-based payments

Members of the Company’s senior management team are entitled
to partcipate in the Executive Share Option Scheme {(ESOS), the
Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP) and the Leadership Equity Award
Plan (LEAP) In addition, UK employees are able to participate n
the Sharesave scheme

The far value of the ESOS, LEAP and Sharesave schemes at the
date of grant are estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model
The far value of the LTIP scheme 15 estimated using a bespoke
model that factors in the probabilities of achieving Total
Shareholder Return (TSR) performance conditions For all schemes
the far value determined at grant date I1s expensed on a straight-
line basis over the period in which any performance condrtions are
fulflled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully entitled to the award (vesting date)

Finanaiat guarantee contracts

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts
1o guarantee the indebtedness of subsidiary companies, the
Company considers these to be insurance arrangements and
accounts for them as such In this respect, the Company treats
the guarantee contract as a contingent hability untit such tme
as 1t becomes probable that the Company will be required

10 make a payment under the guarantee

Retirement benefit obhigations

Pension costs are recognised in the financial statements In
accordance with the requirements of FRS 17 *Retirement benefits’
Employees of the Company participate in the Carillion 'Staff' and
‘B* schemes which provide pensions on a defined benefrt basis
The assets and labilities of these schemes relating to the Company
cannot be readily ascertained on a reasonable and consistent
basis as the schemes are operated for the benefit of the Carllion
Group as a whole Consequently, the Company accounts for these
schemes as if they were defined contrbution schemes Detarls of
the Group's pension schemes are disclosed in note 32 of the
consolidated financial statements

Cash flow statement
A cash flow statement has not been presented as permitted by
FRS 1 (revised) 'Cash flow statements’
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Notes to the Company financial statements
continued

2 Profit for the year

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account
for the year Carillion plc reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 of £17 6m {2006 £31 8m)

Fees paid to KPMG Audit plc and s associates for services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the indvidual accounts of Carillion
plc because the Company’s consolidated accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consoldated basis

A final dwvidend, declared in the previous year, of 5 9p per share {2006 S 2p) was paid duning the year, amounting to £16 6m (2006
£14 5m} An interim dividend of 3 Sp per share (2006 3 1p) was paid during the year, amounting to £9 8m (2006 £8 7m} A final
dwvidend of 7 5p (2006 5 9p) per share, amounting to £29 6m (2006 £16 6m), was approved by the Board on 5 March 2008 and will
be paid on 20 June 2008 to shareholders on the register on 25 Aprl 2008 The amount expected to be paid in respect of the 2007
fimal dividend of £29 6m, includes the dividend payable on 112 9m new Canllion shares issued foliowing the acquisition of Alfred
McAlpine plc on 12 February 2008

2007 2006
Payroll costs and employee numbers £m £m
Wages and salaries 46 51
Social security costs 10 05
Pension costs 09 08
Equity-settled transactions 13 10

78 74

Pensicn costs represent amounts paid in respect of the Company’s pension schemes as defined in note 11 and includes £0 4m
(2006 £04m) in respect of defined contribution schemes There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at the beginning or
end of the financial year

The average number of employees during the year, including directors, was 66 (2006 62)

Details of director’s remuneration can be found in the remuneration report on page 48

3 Investments

Subsichary Joint
undertakings ventures Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2007 5528 02 5530
Additions 35 - 35
Disposals 81 - (81)
At 31 December 2007 548 2 02 548 4
Impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 167 - 167
Disposals 61) - {6 1}
At 31 December 2007 106 — 106
Net book value
At 31 December 2007 537 6 02 5378
At 31 December 2006 536 1 02 536 3

The principal subsidiary undertakings and Jont Ventures of the Company are shown on page 107
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4 Debtors

2007 2006

£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 3055 2326
Other debtors 68 0t
Other prepaymenits and accrued income - 51
Income tax 50 87
Dervative financial instruments - 08
Amounts falling due within one year 3173 247 3
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 269 278
Total debtors 344.2 2751

The amounts owed by Group undertakings faling due after more than one year includes £7 0m (2006 £8 4m) relating to finance lease

transactions entered into with Carillion Construction Limited and Carillion Fleet Management Limited Further details are disclosed

In note 6

5 Creditors amounts falling due within one year

2007 2006
£m £m
Bank overdrafts - 05
Net ¢bligations due under finance leases 1.3 12
Borrowing 13 17
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 2279 1221
Amounts owed 16 Joint Ventures 368 303
Accruals and deferred income 07 11
Dervative financial instruments 07 -
267 4 155 2

6 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
2007 2006
£m £m
Bank loans 3065 1907
Net obligations due under finance leases 70 84
3135 199 1

Net obligations due under finance leases relate to finanang agreements for fixed assets that are used by Canllion Construction Limited

and Carillon Fleet Management Limited, both wholly owned subsidianies The assets have been recognised in the accounts of the
subsidiaries 1n accordance with *SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts’, together with corresponding liabilities
to the Company The Company recognises these inter-company debts withen amounts owed by Group undertakings in note 4

Interest 1s charged on the above bank loans at floating rates inked to LIBOR

All hank loans and overdrafts are unsecured Net obligations due under finance leases are secured on the assets to which they relate

The maturity profile of all borrowing 1s disclosed in note 13 on page 114
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Notes to the Company financial statements

continued
7 Share capital
2007 2006
£m £m
Authornised
423,000,000 (2006 423,000,000) ordinary shares of 50p each 2115 2115
Issued and fully paid
2007 2006
Number Number
million £m milion fm
At 1 January 2812 1406 2149 107 4
New share capital subscribed - - 663 332
At 31 December 2812 1406 2812 140 6
8 Reserves
Share Profit
premium and loss Other
account account reserve Total
fm fm £m £m
At 1 January 2007 1999 1340 - 343 9
Profit for the year - 176 - 176
Share options exercised by employees - 09 - 09
Equrty-settled transactions (net of deferred tax) - 09 15 24
Dwidend paid to shareholders - (26 4) - (26 4)
At 31 December 2007 1999 137 0 15 3384

The profit and loss account reserve includes the reserve for the Company’s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company's
shares held by the Carillion Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to
employees under the Group's share ncentive schemes The movemenis in the reserve for own shares included within the profit and
loss account reserve are as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Balance at 1 January (16) (47
Share aptions exercised by employees {exercise price} 09 28
LTIP options exercised (transfer to retained earnings) - 03
Balance at 31 December o7 {1 6)

At 31 December 2007, the ESOP held 61,609 (2006 1,137,177) of the Company's shares The ESOP has elected to wawe all dividends
except for a total payment of 1p at the time each dvidend 1s paid

In addition 1o the ESOP, the Company has also established a Qualfying Employee Share Ownership Trust ( QUEST’) During the year,
2,643 ordinary shares in the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to employees of the Group following the exercise of
options under the Sharesave Scheme At 31 December 2007 the total number of shares held under the QUEST amounted to
219,763 (2006 222,406) and had a market value of £0 8m (2006 £0 9m) The QUEST has elected to wave all dmidends In excess
of 0 01 pence per share

The other reserve represents equity setiled transactions for employees within subsidiaries on adoption of UITF 41 as at 1 January 2007

9 Reconahation of movement in shareholders’ funds

2007 2006

£m £m

Profit for the year 176 318
New share capiial subscribed - 2249
Equrty-settled transactions (net of deferred tax) 24 07
Share options exercised by employees 09 28
Dividends paid to shareholders {26 4) (23 2)
Net {reduction in}/addition to shareholders’ funds {(55) 237 0
Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 484 5 247 5

Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 4790 484 5
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10 Other guarantees and contingent liabilrties

2007 2006
£m £m
Guarantees in respect of borrowing of subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and joint arrangements 20 11
Guarantees in respect of deferred equity payments in PPP Joint Ventures 78 38
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in relation to deferred equity payments
in PPP Joint Ventures 88 7 932
Guarantees In respect of letters of credit issued by banks in relation to performance contracts
in PPP Joint Ventures 300 300
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in relation to pension scheme
defict recovery payments 210 44 0

The Company has 1ssued performance guarantees in respect of its subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and joint arrangements n the normal
course of business

11 Pension arrangements

As the Staff and 'B' defined benefit schemes are run for the Canllion Group as a whole, the Company 1s unable to identify rts share

of the schemes’ assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis Hence, as permitted by FRS 17, the schemes are accounted
for by the Company separately as f the schemes were defined contribution schemes Details of the Group’s pension schemes are disclosed
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements

12 Share-based payments

The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares
in the Company Detalls of the Group's share option programme are disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and

in the Remuneration Report on page 48

13 Finanaal instruments

Details of the Company's principal financiat instruments are discussed under accounting policies The numenical financial iInstrument
disclosures are set out below

Dernvative financial instruments

2007 2006

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabtliiies

£m £m fm £m

Forward foreign currency contracts - 07 08 —

Effective interest rates
The Company’s nterest beanng borrowings were subject 1o effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows

2007 2006

Range (%) Range (%)

Bank overdrafts 320-6 50% 550t07 25

Bank loans 546-731% 52410636

Finance lease obligations 400-654% 400t0 654

Foreign currency exposure

The carrying amount of the Company's borrowings denominated In foreign currency 1s as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Unrted States of America Dollars 127 128

Canadian Bollars 199 171

326 299

Foreign currency borrowing of £32 6m (2006 £29 9m) is used for hedging currency net assets of overseas operations of the Group
The foreign exchange loss of £2 7m (2006 £4 1m) on translation of borrowing Into sterling has been recognised in the profit and
loss account
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13 Finanaal instruments (continued)

Fair values
Where there were differences between the carrying and far values of the Company’s principal financial instruments at 31 December 2007,
these are shown below

Carrying
value Fair value
£m £m
Finance lease obhigations 87 71
Matunty of finanaal habilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group's non-current borrowing is as follows
Bank Finance
loans leases Total
31 December 2007 £m £m £m
Between one and two years - 14 14
Between two and three years - 15 15
Between three and four years - 11 11
Between four and five years 3065 09 3074
More than five years — 21 2.1
More than one year 306 S 70 3135
Less than one year - 13 13
306 5 83 3148
Bank Bank Finance
loans overdrafis leases Total
31 December 2006 £m £m £m £m
Between one and two years - - 13 13
Between two and three years - - 14 14
Between three and four years 1907 - 15 192 2
Between four and five years - - 11 11
More than five years - - 31 31
More than one year 1907 - 84 199 1
Less than one year - 05 12 17
190 7 05 36 200 8

Borrowing faclities
The Company has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at the year end in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met

2007 2006
£m £m
Expiring between two and five years 2835 140 1

Drawings under the commited borrowing facility nclude £175m required to satisfy ihe ‘certain funds’ requirement for the cash element
of the acquisition of Alfred McAlpine plc, which will not be required to be paid until March 2008
14 Related party transactions

The Company has received management fees of £0 4m (2006 £0 4m) from Canllion Services 2006 Ltd during the year

15 Post-balance sheet events

On 12 February 2008, the Company acquired 100 per cent of the 1ssued share caprtal of Alfred McAlpine plc for a total consideration
of £554 5m The total consideration was satisfied by the issue of 112 9m Carlhion pic shares valued at the quoted mid-rnarket price at
the close of business on the day preceding the effective date of acquisition of 337 75p and £171 7m n cash and £1 3m of loan notes
In addition, attributable costs are estimated to be £9 2m




Financial statements
Shareholder information
and Advisers

Dividends

Dindends are normally paid twice a year
The proposed final dvidend in respect
of the year to 31 December 2007

will be payable on 20 June 2008 to
those shareholders on the register on
25 April 2008

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) wall
also be offered

For those shareholders who prefer not

to participate in the DRIP arrangements
can be made to pay your dividends
automatically into your bank or bulding
society account This service has a number
of benefits

* there 15 no chance of the dwvidend
cheque going missing in the post

¢ the dwidend payment s received more
quickly as the cash s pad drrectly into
your account on the payment date
without the need to wait for the
cheque o clear

* you will help Carillion to improve its
efficiency by reducing printing and
cheque clearing costs

i you wish to regster for this service,
please call Equiniti on the number below
to request a dvidend mandate form

Results
Half year to 30 June 2008 announced
August 2008

Full year to 31 December 2008
announced March 2009

Shareholder Enquiries

Equiniti maintains the share register of
the Company i you have any queries
concerning your shareholding, or if
any of your details change, please
contact Equiniti

Equmnits
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

Wast Sussex
BNS9 6DA

Telephone 0871 384 2522
Textphone for shareholders with
hearing difficulties 0871 384 2255

115 Canllbon pk
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Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc
2 Cornwall Street
Brmingham

B3 2DL

Banker

National Westminster Bank plc
16 South Parade

Nottingham

NG1 2JX

Joint Brokers
Morgan Stanley
25 (Cabot Square
Canary Wharf
London

E14 SQA

Oriel Securities
125 Wood Street
London

EC2V 7AN

Financial Adwviser
Lazard

50 Stratton Street
London

W1 8LL

Legal Adviser
Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London

EC1Y 8YY

Share Registrar
Equintt

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BN99 6DA

Share Dealing Service

Canlhon offers ts UK shareholders
Shareview Dealing, a telephone and
internet share sale service operated by
Equiniti For telephone sales call 0845 603
7037 between 8 30am and 4 30pm,
Monday to Friday, and for internet sales
log an to www shareview co uk/dealing
You will need your shareholder reference
number as shown on your share certrficate

Multiple Accounts on the
Shareholder Register

If you have receved two or more sets of
the documents concerning the Annual
General Meeting this means that there

i more than one account in your name on
the shareholder register, perhaps because
either your name or your address appear
on each account in a slightly different
way For secunty reasons, Equint will not
amalgamate the accounts without your
written consent, so If you would hke any
multiple accounts combined into one
account, please wnte to Equintt at the
address given on this page

Shareview (Electronic Communications)
www shareview co Uk 1s a service offered
by Equiniti that enables you to check

your holdings n many UK companies and
helps you to organise your investments
electronically You can also notify Equiniti
of a change of address or a change to
dividend mandate instructions You can
register for this portfolio service which 1s
easy to use, secure and free as long as you
have access to the internet by logging on
to www shareview ¢o uk and following a
simple registration process

Electronic Proxy Appointments

For the AGM to be held on 7 May 2008,
you may, If you wish, register the
appomtment of a proxy electronically by
logging on to the website

www sharevote co uk

You will need your voting reference
numbers (the three eight-digit numbers
shown on your form of proxy)
Alternatively, f you have registered for
a Shareview partfolio, log on to your
portfolio at www shareview co uk and
click on ‘Company Meetings’

Please note that any electronic
communication that 1s found to contain
a computer virus will not be accepted

ShareGift

ShareGift 1s a charity share donatton
scheme for shareholders, administered
by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation It s
especally for those who may wish to
dispose of a small parcel of shares whose
value makes 1t uneconomic to sellon a
commission basis Further mformation
can be obtained at www sharegift org

or from Equiniti
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Financial statements
Five year review

Group income statement

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Continuing operations £m £m £m £m £m
Total revenue 39517 3,5124 2,249 19544 1,956 4
Analysed between
Support services 1,793 6 1,458 7 9536 886 5 8919
Public Prvate Partnership projects 1541 1480 654 625 675
Mrddle East construction services 3370 2687 1605 102 4 729
Construction services {excluding the Middle East) 1,667 0 1,6370 1,069 6 8030 924 1
Underlying Group and Joint Ventures operating profit before
intangible amortisation, impairment of goodwill and other
investments, restructuning costs and jointly controlled entities
net financial (expense)/income and taxation 1201 974 55 3 579 556
Analysed between
Support services 7329 588 405 480 526
Public Private Partnershup projects 254 265 83 61 86
Middle East construction services 254 139 42 18 44
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 160 185 127 107 12
Group eliminations and unallocated items (206) (20 3) {(104) (87) (11 2)
Share of jontly controlled entities net financial (expense)income 99 (8 0) 11 (34) {49)
Share of jointly controlled entities taxation (90) 81) (50 (2 2) (3 4
Underlying operating profit before intangible amortisation,
impairment of goodwill and other investments
and restructuring costs 1012 813 514 523 473
Group net financial iIncome 06 13 40 41 14
Underlying profit before taxation 1018 826 554 43 2 487
Intangible amortisation and impawment of goodwill and other investments (215) (172 (28) 0 3) (36 9)
Restructuring costs and other exceptional operating tems (142) (22 6) - 72 -
Non-operating items 283 253 0 8) 118 99
Profit before taxation 944 68 1 518 679 217
Taxation (83) (72) (11 1) (8 6) {10 3)
Profit from continuing operations 861 609 407 593 14
Discontinued operations (76) ©5) 01 (an {15)
Analysed between
Tracing loss from discontinued operations (14) {0 5) 01 (11) (15
Loss on dispasal of discontnued operations (62) - - - -
Profit for the year 785 60 4 408 58 2 99
Group finanaal statistics
Underlying operating profit margin
Support senvices Percentage 41% 4 0% 42% S 4% 59%
Middle East construction services Percentage 75% 52% 2 6% 18% 6 0%
Construction services

(excluding the Middle East) Percentage 10% 11% 12% 12% 01%

Underlying profit from operations margin
Total Group Percentage 26% 2 3% 2 3% 27% 25%

Prior year information for 2004 and 2003 has been restated following adoption of Internatronal Financial Reporting Standards in 2005




Group balance sheet

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

£m £m £m fm fm

Property, plant and equipment 1315 1466 1009 699 660
Intangible assets 5558 596 1 623 203 224
Investments in Joint Ventures 1859 178 8 627 651 788
8732 9215 2259 1553 167 2

Inventories, recevables and payables (286 5) (282 0) {119 5) (79 1) (60 3)
Net retirement benefit lizbility (net of deferred 1ax) {13 8) (75 8) {47 5) {59 7) {76 6)
Other net assetsihabilities) 25 1) 22 0 01 (177 {20 6)
Net operating assets/ltabulities) 5478 5417 590 {1 2) g7
Net (borrowingycash (44 9) (108 0} 90 8 128 8 58 6
Net assets 5029 4337 149 8 127 6 69 3

Group cash flow statement

Underlying group operating profit 64.4 497 350 447 366
Depreciation and other non-cash tems 159 185 144 200 124
Working caprtal 31.7 i52 360 264 383
Dividends receved from Joint Ventures 23.7 157 84 73 147
Underlying cash flow from operations 135.7 991 938 984 1020
Deficit pension contributions (46 3) (318 (100) - -
Restructuring costs (6 5) (18 2) - - ©7
Interest, tax and dividends (304) 257 (35 3) (27 4} (122
Net capital expenditure a4 282 (46 4) {19 1) (14 1)
Acgquisitions and disposals 96 {190 9) (35 4) 158 (5 3)
Other (including discontinued operations) (3 4) (31} (47) 15 (8 0)
Change in net hquidity 63 1 {198 8) (38 0} 69 2 617
Net (borrowingy¥cash at 1 January (108 0) 90 8 1288 59 6 (21)
Net (borrowingycash at 31 December {44 9) {108 0) 908 128 8 59 6

Prior year informatton for 2004 and 2003 has been restated following adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards in 2005

Group finanaal statistics

Earnings per share
Underlying earnings per share

- continuing operations Pence 289 237 204 191 179
Underlying earnings per share

- continuing and discontinued operations Pence 262 235 204 186 172
Basic earnings per share

- continuing and discontinued operations Pence 271 216 187 271 44
Divtdends
Proposed full year dnadend per share Pence 10 90 80 75 675
Underlying proposed dividend cover

- continuing operations Times 26 26 25 25 27
Basic proposed dwidend cover

= continuing and discontinued operations Times 25 24 23 36 07

Prior year information for 2004 and 2003 has been restated following adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards in 2005
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Want to find cut more?
visit www canlhonplc com

Home page Investors

www carilionplc com www carillionplc comvinvestors
Health and Safety Sustamnabihty

www carlllionplc com/safety www carillonplc com/sustainability
Canlhon plc

Birch Street
Wolverhampton Wv1 4HY
Unted Kingdom

T +44 (0}1902 422431
F +44 {0)1902 316165
www carllionplc com




Hadley Jacqueline

Page 1 of 1

from: Egginton Dawn on behalf of McDonough John
Sent 09 Apr 2008 09 20

To Hadley Jacqueline

Subject. RE Draft MPC Minutes

Jacquel,
John has approved these minutes

Regards
Dawn

From: Hadley Jacqueline
Sent: 08 Apr 2008 11 59
To: Egginton Dawn
Subject: Draft MPC Minutes

Dawn
Would you mind printing off the attached MPC minutes for John to signed
Many thanks

Jacquel

Jacqueline Hadley, FCIS
Company Secretanal Manager

Canllion plc

24 Birch Street
Wolverhampton
WV1 4HY

Tel 01902 316424
Mobile 07730 694481

09/04/2008




